AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE

CAMBRIDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE

AND

THE

CAMBRIDGE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

UNITS A AND B

Effective: September 1, 2016 through August 31, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	TITLE	<u>PAGE</u>				
	Preamble	3				
Article 1	Recognition Clause	3				
Article 2	Bargaining Procedure	4				
Article 3	Grievance Procedure	4				
Article 4	Salaries	8				
Article 5	Teaching Hours and Teaching Load	10				
Article 6	Class Size	18				
Article 7	Specialists and Special Programs	19				
Article 8	Non-Teaching Duties	19				
Article 9	Teacher Employment	20				
Article 10	Teacher Assignment	21				
	Mileage	21				
Article 11	Transfers	22				
Article 12	Vacancies and Promotions	24				
Article 13	Positions in Summer School, Evening School,					
	Athletic Coaching and in Federal Programs	25				
Article 14	Teacher Evaluation	25				
Article 15	Teacher Facilities	27				
Article 16	Use of School Facilities	28				
Article 17	Sick Leave	28				
Article 18	Temporary Leave of Absence	30				
Article 19	Extended Leaves of Absence	31				
Article 20	Sabbatical Leave of Absence	33				
Article 21	Substitute Teachers	35				
Article 22	Professional Development and Educational Improvement	36				
Article 23	Protection	37				
Article 24	Personal Injury Benefits	38				
Article 25	Insurance Annuity and Dental Plan	38				
Article 26	Textbooks and Instructional Materials	41				
Article 27	Deductions	42				
Article 28	Recommendations	43				
Article 29	General	44				
Article 30	No Strike	48				
Article 31	School Committee Rights	48				
Article 32	Emergencies	49				
Article 33	Voluntary Career Change Option	49				
Article 34	Job-Sharing	49				
Article 35	Code of Ethics	51				
Article 36	New Teacher Orientation and Training	51				
Article 37	Teachers Providing Services to Students pursuant to the I.D.E.A.	51				
<u>APPENDICES</u>						
Appendices A through C Cambridge Education Association Salary Schedules 54						
* *	Appendix D Teacher Standards, Procedures and Evaluation Instruments					
Appendix E Independent Medical Examination Agreement						
* *	•					
Appendix G Expanded Learning Time Agreement						
Appendix E In Appendix F Pe	eacher Standards, Procedures and Evaluation Instruments dependent Medical Examination Agreement der Observation Agreement	υ.				

PREAMBLE

The parties to this agreement, the Cambridge Public Schools ("CPS") and the Cambridge Education Association ("Association"), firmly believe that a quality education is a fundamental right of every child, that all children can learn and that the CPS and the Association have the joint responsibility to preserve and foster the right of all students to succeed. We enthusiastically share a commitment and a responsibility to provide an excellent academic, social and emotional education of the whole child for all students in the Cambridge Public Schools. We also agree that recruiting and hiring a diverse faculty is a shared goal.

We share a responsibility and a commitment to foster an organizational culture of respect and accountability at all levels of the CPS. We therefore commit ourselves to an ongoing value-driven review of the contractual structures and committees that currently exist to ensure that they are serving the interest of the partners at both the district and school levels to educate all students to their highest capacities.

This agreement is a compact that defines how we work together in the best interests of students. It is part of a process in which the partners work together in a meaningful way and within a time frame that provides real opportunity to shape results for students. The purpose of this collaboration is to resolve problems, address common issues and identify opportunities for improvement.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION CLAUSE

The COMMITTEE recognizes the ASSOCIATION for the purpose of collective bargaining as the exclusive representative of the two units consisting of all regularly appointed professional teaching employees of the Cambridge School System, including:

- Unit A. Teachers and Athletic Trainers; Nurse Educators, Registered Physical Therapists, Occupational Therapists, and Part-Time Learning Disability Teachers.
- Unit B. Ratio Salary Schedule Personnel

Unless otherwise indicated, the employees in the above units will be referred to as teachers and references to male teachers will include female teachers and ratio schedule personnel.

This contract will exclude substitute teachers and all other employees of the Cambridge School Department, except where specifically provided for in other articles of this Contract.

ARTICLE 2 BARGAINING PROCEDURE

- A-1. Not later than October 1 of the contract year in which this Agreement expires, the Committee agrees to enter into negotiations with the Association over a successor Agreement in accordance with the procedure set forth herein in good faith effort to reach agreement concerning teachers' wages, hours and other conditions of their employment. Any agreement so negotiated will apply to all teachers, and will be reduced to writing and signed by the Committee and the Association.
- A-2. During negotiations, the Committee and the Association will present relevant data, exchange points of view, and make proposals and counter proposals. The Committee will make available to the Association for inspection all pertinent public records of the school system. Either party may, if it so desires, utilize the services of an outside consultant and may call upon professional and lay representatives to assist in the negotiations.
- A-3. If the negotiations described in this Section A have reached an impasse, the procedure described in Chapter 150E of the General Laws will be followed.
- B. The Association and the Committee agree that each has a right to bargain for any provision that it wished in the preparation of this contract. Each expressly waives the right to reopen the contract for any changes unless mutually agreed upon by the Association and the Committee.
- C. TERM OF CONTRACT: This agreement shall be effective as of September 1, 2016 and remain in effect until August 31, 2017. It is agreed that upon receipt prior to October 1, 2015, of written notice from the Association of its desire to amend this contract, negotiations for a new contract will begin in October 2016, and that the sections thereof will concern the period September 1, 2017, onward. Otherwise, the Contract will remain in full force and effect from year to year.

ARTICLE 3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

The purpose of the procedures set forth hereinafter is to produce prompt and equitable solutions to those complaints, which, from time to time, may arise involving the wages, hours, or the conditions of employment of the members. The Committee and the Association desire that such procedure shall always be as informal and confidential as may be appropriate for the complaint involved at the procedural level involved. Nothing herein shall prohibit teachers and/or the Association from attempting to resolve grievances informally with appropriate members of the Administration prior to initiating the formal procedures set forth below. The parties are encouraged at any time before or during the grievance process to resolve problems through informal mediation or other settlement techniques as may be appropriate.

- A. DEFINITION: A grievance shall mean a complaint by a member that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or inequitable application of any of the provisions of this contract. As used in this Article the term "member" shall also mean a group of members having the same grievance.
- B. <u>RIGHT OF THE ASSOCIATION</u>: The Committee acknowledges the right of the Association to participate in the processing of any grievance at any level.
- C. <u>ADJUSTMENT OF GRIEVANCES</u>: Grievances shall be presented and adjusted in the following manner:

Level One

All grievances which involve a question within the scope of responsibility of the grievant's appropriate supervisor will be filed and thoroughly discussed at this level. The grievance shall be filed in writing by the grievant and a representative of the Association with the appropriate supervisor. The supervisor shall submit his written answer to the member and the Association within fifteen (15) business days of the filing of the grievance.

Level Two

Administrators shall proceed directly to Level Two.

If the grievance shall not be disposed of hereunder to the member's satisfaction and the member and the Association shall have determined to proceed further, the member and a representative of the Association shall present a written statement of the grievance to the Superintendent within twenty-five (25) business days of receipt of the supervisor's answer. The Superintendent shall meet with the member and a representative of the Association in an effort to settle the grievance, provided that the Superintendent may designate another to act in his place and provided further, that if the Superintendent so designates another and his disposition is not satisfactory to the member, the member and a representative of the Association shall have the right to meet with the Superintendent. In any event, the written answer of the Superintendent to the grievant and the Association is due no later than twenty-five (25) business days after the filing of the grievance at this level. Provided the parties agree, Level One and/or Level Two of the Grievance procedure may be bypassed and the grievance brought directly to Level Three.

Level Three

If the grievance shall not have been disposed of under Level Two to the member's satisfaction and the employee and the Association shall have determined to proceed further, a written statement of the grievance shall be presented within ten (10) business days of receipt of the Superintendent's answer by the Association to the Committee. The written decision of the School Committee shall be due within twenty-five (25) business days of the filing of the grievance at the School Committee Level.

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO GRIEVANCES AT LEVEL ONE, LEVEL TWO AND LEVEL THREE.

The School Committee will comply with law with respect to its obligation to furnish information relevant to grievance processing. Each written statement of a grievance shall include: (1) a concise statement of the facts constituting the grievance; (2) a reference to the applicable provisions of this Contract; (3) the date upon which the act or omission giving rise to the grievance occurred, and, if applicable, the latter date upon which the member should not be held to have learned of the same and a concise statement of the reasons why the member should not be held to have learned of the same earlier; and (4) the dates of all prior written presentations, if any. Each statement under Level Two or Three shall be signed on behalf of the Association by its President, or Vice-President, or the Chairman, or Vice-Chairman of the Grievance Committee.

In those cases in which the event, or omission giving rise to the grievances should have become known to the member upon the occurrence of the event or omission, the statement shall be presented not later than the first to occur: the twentieth (20th) school day; or, fortieth (40th) calendar day next following the date of event or omission. In those cases in which the member affected could not reasonably be expected to have knowledge of the event or omission until some time after its occurrence, the time for presenting the statement shall be measured from the first date upon which the member should have known of the event or omission and the burden of establishing a later date than the date of occurrence shall be upon the member. Any grievance pending at the conclusion of the Contract will remain operative in the subsequent Contract period unless settled in negotiations.

Failure by the person to whom presented to make a determination with respect to a grievance by the time limit indicated shall be deemed a denial of the grievance.

Failure to present a proper written statement within the applicable time limit shall be deemed a waiver of the grievance. Time limits may be extended by mutual agreement in writing.

Times for meetings to discuss grievances shall be scheduled outside of school hours unless in the judgment of the Superintendent, in the case of a Level Two proceeding, or of the Committee, in the case of a Level Three proceeding, a meeting during school hours is desirable to facilitate the production of appropriate information. Attendance by members and by Association representatives at grievance meetings held during school hours shall constitute authorized absence without loss of pay. Members of the Grievance Committee of the Association may also be absent during school hours without loss of pay in those instances in which it is reasonably necessary for the investigation or processing of an alleged grievance and for such periods as investigation or processing during school hours may reasonably require. The Association agrees that absences during school hours shall be avoided whenever they would interfere with the conduct of the education program and that the right to take such absence shall not be abused. The Association shall have the right to use in its presentation at any level of this grievance procedure any representative or representatives of its own choosing.

RECORDS

While both parties may maintain files of grievances and the disposition thereof, the Committee shall not make any entry or file any paper in the personnel file of any employee involved in a grievance except as may be required to implement the disposition thereof.

<u>REPRISALS</u>

No reprisal of any kind shall be taken by any party hereto against any person who participates in any way in grievance proceedings by reason of such participation.

PRECEDENT

A written record shall be made of the disposition of any grievance at Level Two or Level Three. If such disposition becomes final by acceptance by the Association, such disposition shall apply to all future complaints based on the same or similar facts.

ARBITRATION

If a grievance involving the interpretation or application of any provision of this Agreement shall not have been disposed of under Level Three of the grievance procedure to the satisfaction of the member and the Association, the Association may, not later than twenty-five (25) business days next following receipt of response to the grievance under Level Three, initiate arbitration of the grievance under the rules then obtaining of the American Arbitration Association. This initiation may also be made by submission under such rules. The arbitration shall proceed under such rules except that the parties may, if they can, mutually designate the Arbitrator.

The Arbitrator shall be without power to modify, alter, add to, or subtract from the provisions of this Contract. The arbitrator's award, if within his jurisdiction, shall be final and binding on both parties.

The fees of the American Arbitration Association and of the arbitrator and the expenses of the arbitrator and the conduct of the hearing shall be shared equally by the parties but each party shall bear its own expenses for the presentation of its case.

Arbitration pursuant to this Article shall be the exclusive remedy available to members and the Association in the event that a grievance is not disposed of under the Grievance Procedure.

D. <u>ADVISORY ARBITRATION AND ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION</u> PROCEDURES

The purpose of this provision is to provide the Association and the Committee with feedback and advice from an advisory arbitrator regarding a specific grievance(s). While such feedback and advice is strictly advisory in nature, it is the hope of the parties that said advisory arbitrator shall

make suggestions for resolution or disposition, which will assist the parties in improving contract enforcement and labor relations in general. To this end, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. Advisory arbitration may be proposed by either party at any stage of the Grievance Procedure following the presentation of the grievance at Level Two. Advisory arbitration shall only take place by mutual agreement between the Association and the Committee.
- 2. The entire advisory arbitration procedure is non-binding except as specifically agreed to by the parties in writing. The feedback from the advisory arbitrator shall in no circumstance, except by mutual agreement of the parties, be referred to in any subsequent formal arbitration with respect to any grievance.
- 3. No advisory arbitrator shall sit as the formal arbitrator in a case in which (s)he was an advisory arbitrator.
- 4. Cases shall be presented without witnesses, briefs or transcripts. The parties shall provide brief oral presentation of their respective claims and defenses using documentary evidence and/or stipulations as may be appropriate. The particular details of the process will be agreed upon in each instance by the parties and the advisory arbitrator.
- 5. The advisory arbitrator shall provide feedback, advice and suggestions for resolution or disposition to the Association and the Committee immediately following the presentations of the parties unless the parties mutually agree to the contrary.
- 6. All costs of advisory arbitration shall be shared equally by the parties, but each party shall bear its own expenses for the presentation of its cases.
- 7. The parties may agree upon other dispute resolution methods in addition to the foregoing in an effort to resolve grievances.

ARTICLE 4 SALARIES

A. The salaries of all persons covered by this Agreement are set forth in the salary schedules attached hereto in the Appendices.

B. Sick Leave Buy Back

In recognition of dedicated service to the children of Cambridge, any teacher covered by this agreement who is eligible to retire may obtain an increase in compensation in the final year of teaching by following the established procedure.

- B-1. In order to allow for budgeting, eligible teachers must notify the Superintendent in writing by February 15th of the school year at the end of which they intend to retire under the provisions of the Massachusetts Teachers' Retirement Act. Exceptions to the above rule will be made only when an emergency clearly exists. Teachers who wish to retire on a date other than the last day of the school year must notify the Superintendent by February 15th of the school year prior to the expected date of their retirement.
- B-2. If such notice is submitted in writing by February 15, then, upon retirement, the teacher shall be paid the amount specified below for their accumulated unused sick leave as of the date of retirement.

In the event that a teacher retires other than during the period between the last day of the school year and the first day of the following school year, or at the end of the semester for a teacher assigned to a high school program or on December 31st for a teacher assigned to an elementary school or upper school, then there will be a twenty percent (20%) deduction from the amount that the teacher is entitled to as his/her sick leave buyback.

------Rate per Day -----51-99 Days \$58.00 100+ Days \$90.00

- B-3. For all members of Units A&B, the maximum number of accumulated sick days for which sick leave buyback will be permitted is 400 (four hundred) except that all members in Units A&B hired before September 1, 2013who have accumulated a total of 350 sick days or more as of September 1, 2013 shall be exempted from
- B-4. In the event a teacher dies while employed by the School Department, his/her estate will be paid a sum equal to the number of his/her accumulated sick leave days times the daily rate set forth in Section B-2 above.

the application of this cap for sick leave buyback purposes.

C. 403B Plan – Transfer Of Sick Leave Buyback

1-50 Days \$46.00

The Committee agrees to implement the use of a 403B plan in accordance with Internal Revenue Service regulations to allow members of Units A&B to make a one-time transfer of sick leave buyback monies at the time of retirement to a 403B plan to reduce tax liability in accordance with Internal Revenue Service Regulations.

D. Increments

Effective 9/1/02

To be eligible to advance to the next annual salary step, teachers must complete 110 days of paid employment in the previous school year as a regularly appointed teacher in the Cambridge Public School Department. The 110-day rule does not apply to a person on sabbatical leave.

E. <u>Direct Deposit of Paychecks</u>

Effective June 30, 2017, all unit members will be required to have direct deposit. Additionally, effective June 30, 2017, all unit members will receive direct deposit paycheck notifications only via their school district email account. Any unit member who does not have direct deposit as of June 30, 2017 will be exempt from this requirement.

ARTICLE 5 TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD

A. TIME SCHEDULE FOR STUDENTS:

Except for students covered by activities conducted during flex-time (see Section L below), the following shall be the time schedule for students;

Elementary School/Upper School 8:25 a.m. - 2:25 p.m. Cambridge Rindge and Latin School 8:05 a.m. - 2:30 p.m.

The above starting and closing times may be moved forward or backward up to one-half hour, with every reasonable effort to reduce said span of time, for particular schools for the purpose of maximizing the efficiency of school bus utilization. The Association will be consulted prior to making any such time schedule changes.

B. TIME SCHEDULE FOR TEACHERS:

- B-1. The Committee and the Association agree that the teacher as a professional will devote whatever time is required to maintain a high quality of education in the Cambridge Public Schools.
- B-2. All elementary and upper school campus teachers will begin their workday fifteen minutes prior to the starting time established for students and will end ten minutes after the time established for the dismissal of pupils. In order to maximize the efficiency and effectiveness of the delivery of professional development and other district-wide activities, on days when educators are to report to a full day of district-wide professional development or other district-wide activities, the school district may designate a single time between 7:40 a.m. and 8:40 a.m. for all unit members to report to work. The school district shall provide at least one month notice of any such change.
- B-3. There will be a pool of thirty-five (35) hours per year for school curricular/staff development, scheduled tutoring services or parent/guardian conference services. This time will not be required during the following weeks: opening week, Thanksgiving week, the five school days prior to the beginning of the December vacation week, and the five school days prior to the last day of school. This pool

of thirty-five (35) hours will be scheduled by each principal/dean, subject to the following rules:

- 1. Each principal/head of upper school/dean will schedule the use of such time after consulting with the Faculty Advisory Committee in their school building or small school at CRLS.
- 2. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will make reasonable efforts to give one (1) month advance notice of any scheduled meeting/event.
- 3. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will accommodate staff who are already enrolled in outside courses or seminars.
- 4. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will not schedule more than three (3) hours of such time in a week, and no session will be more than two (2) hours in length.
- 5. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will not schedule more than twelve (12) hours of such time in any given month.
- 6. The hours will be contiguous with the school day.
- 7. The scheduling of such time will be exclusive of early release days (i.e. up to two (2) such hours may be scheduled following the end of teacher working hours on early release days)
- B-4. The length of the workweek for part-time learning disability teachers (former L. D. tutors) shall be twenty hours per week.
- B-5. A. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans can require members of the bargaining unit who are affected by mergers, consolidations or major program initiatives to be effective during the life of the contract to participate in up to thirty (30) hours of mandatory staff development and/or training, paid at the workshop participant rate, during the course of the school year during which the contract is in effect.
 - B. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans can require all other members of the bargaining unit to participate in up to 15 hours of mandatory staff development and/or training, paid at the workshop participant rate, during the course of the school year.
 - C. The training described above in sections A and B of Article 5B-5 will be scheduled at any time during the period from the week before the start of the school year to within five business days of the last day of the school year and no later than June 30th, subject to the following rules:

- 1. Each principal/head of upper schools/dean will schedule the use of such time after consulting with the Faculty Advisory Committee in their school building or small school at CRLS.
- 2. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will make reasonable efforts to give one (1) month advance notice to all staff of any scheduled sessions.
- 3. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will accommodate staff who are already enrolled in outside courses or seminars.
- 4. Such sessions will not be held on weekends.
- 5. When such sessions are scheduled on school days, principals/heads of heads of upper schools/deans will not schedule more than three (3) hours of such time in a week, and no session will exceed two (2) hours in length.
- 6. When such sessions are scheduled on school days, principals/heads of upper schools/deans will not schedule more than twelve (12) hours of such sessions in any given month.
- 7. When such sessions are scheduled on school days, the hours of such sessions will be contiguous with the school day.
- 8. The total number of hours that may be scheduled pursuant to Article 5B-3 and Article 5B-5 in any week when school is in session is five (5) hours.
- 9. The maximum number of hours that can be required of a member of the bargaining unit pursuant to Article 5 B-5A and Article 5 B-5B during the course of any school year is thirty (30) hours.
- D. Members of the bargaining unit participating in mandatory staff development and/or training will be given the opportunity to evaluate the effectiveness of such sessions.
- E. Any staff development and/or training that is scheduled in addition to the time set forth above in Article 5B-3 and Article 5B-5(A) and (B) will be voluntary.
- F. Principals/heads of upper schools/deans will make reasonable efforts to provide a tentative schedule of staff development and/or training contemplated for the upcoming school year by the end of the first week that school is in session. The parties acknowledge, recognize and agree that such schedule is subject to change and the provision of such tentative schedule does not alter the notice requirements set forth in Article 5, Section B, B-3(2) and Article 5, Section B, B-5(C)(2).

C. WORK YEAR FOR TEACHERS:

C-1. The work year for personnel in Unit A shall be 183 days. The first school day for students shall be the Tuesday following Labor Day in September. All Unit A members shall report to work on the Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday of the week preceding Labor Day. One of these days shall be for classroom preparation and the other two (2) days shall be for Unit A members to participate in professional development and other activities as determined by the school and/or school district. The Friday of the week preceding Labor Day shall not be a workday for teachers. In addition thereto, the school calendar shall include not more than five (5) days for inclement weather. In order to maximize the efficiency and effectiveness of the delivery of professional development and other district-wide activities, on days when educators are to report to a full day of district-wide professional development or other district-wide activities, the school district may designate a single time between 7:40 a.m. and 8:40 a.m. for all unit members to report to work. The school district shall provide at least one month notice of any such change.

C-2. THE WORK YEAR FOR PERSONNEL IN UNIT B WILL BE AS FOLLOWS:

- a. The work year for administrators on ten-month contract will be the teacher work year plus whatever extra time is necessary to discharge the duties of their positions. In any event elementary assistant principals working on a ten month contract shall return to work the week before teachers return to school, and shall be available for consultation on the telephone, and subject to call in if specific need arises, one week after school closes in June.
- b. All personnel on an eleven-month contract (206 days) will continue on an eleven-month contract and Directors, Assistant Principals (secondary 9-12), Deans of Curriculum and Program (secondary 9-12), administrative assistants, Deans of Students (secondary 9-12), Assistant Directors and Coordinators appointed to these positions after September 1, 1973, shall serve on an eleven month contract.
- c. Personnel presently on ten-month contract will continue on ten-month contract. Personnel in Unit B will be required to meet the minimum time schedule adopted for teachers in Unit A, and, in addition thereto, will remain a sufficient length of time to discharge the duties of their positions.
- d. The work year for elementary and upper school assistant principals will consist of the minimum time scheduled for teachers in Unit A work year plus five (5) additional days the week before teachers return to work for the start of the school year.
- C-3. All teachers will be required to attend two Parent/Guardian-Teacher-Pupil conferences of two hours duration without additional compensation. In addition,

Principals/Heads of Upper Schools, after consulting with their Faculty Advisory Committee, may schedule no more than two (2) additional parent/guardian conferences, open houses or curriculum nights of two hours each in duration that teachers are required to attend. Further all teachers will be required to schedule five additional hours of Parent/Guardian-Teacher-Pupil conference time. Such conferences may be scheduled at times and locations suggested by teachers after conferring with the Parent/Guardian, with the prior approval of the Principal/Head of Upper School. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. After providing ample opportunity for staff input, the Principal/Head of Upper School may schedule one of said five hours by allocating additional time to no more than two of the scheduled Parent/Guardian-Teacher-Pupil conferences. At no time will the allocation of additional time exceed one hour total.

The intent of this section is to maximize the opportunities for teachers to have conferences with all parents/guardians during the school year.

C-4. Early Release Days

- a. Elementary students will be released at or around lunchtime six (6) times during the school year. One such day shall be used for elementary graduation exercises. No more than two (2) such days shall be used for system-wide professional activities, at the discretion of the Superintendent, and such days shall not be scheduled during the winter months. The remaining days shall be used for school-based professional activities. Teachers will spend such school-based days on staff development, parent/guardian conferences, tutoring of students, or other educationally related tasks, as designated by the Principal/Head of Upper School. Teachers will be dismissed at the time appropriate for the school pursuant to Section B-2.
- b. Preparation periods will not be granted during release time.
- D-1. Subject to the requirements of the Civil Service Regulations and the availability of personnel, teachers will have a duty-free lunch period of the following lengths:
 - a. Elementary school Grades K through 5 thirty (30) minutes.
 - b. Upper school Grades 6 through 8 thirty (30) minutes.
 - c. Senior high school thirty (30) minutes.
 - d. Teachers will be allowed to leave the building during their duty-free lunch period.

D-2. PREPARATION TIME:

Personnel in Unit A will, in addition to their lunch periods, have a preparation period during which they will not be assigned to other duties as follows:

- a. Elementary/Upper School Campus
 Elementary and upper school campus teachers shall have no less than forty (40)
 continuous minutes of daily, duty free preparation time.
- b. The School Committee will indemnify a teacher in an elementary school, a teacher in an upper school campus or a high school teacher who loses preparation periods on the following basis: While a teacher shall not be required to use the prep time to prepare the person providing coverage, the teacher should consult with that person as his or her normal planning may require. The School Committee will indemnify a teacher in an elementary/upper school or a high school teacher not more than:

Effective Date

Per Hour, Pro Rata

September 1, 2016-August 31, 2017

\$31.65

Payment will be made in December and June/July provided, however, that the teacher and the principal/head of upper school certify the number of lost preparation periods by the end of December and June for payment at the appropriate times and provided that a current record of same is available at all times in the office of the principal.

E-1. Secondary school teachers shall be required to be present for six (6) hours and twenty five (25) minutes per day. Student instructional time shall be no less than 330 minutes per day. Teachers will have one prep period per day the equivalent of one teaching period, but no less than forty (40) minutes. All other time the teachers are required to be in the building is assigned professional time. Assigned professional time is defined as teachers working with teachers and/or administrators, on issues of curriculum, professional development and other professional activities related to instruction subject to the approval of appropriate administrators. It does not include student supervisory activities.

Secondary school teachers shall teach 75% of the instructional day for students. It is intended under the block schedule that secondary school teachers shall not have more than two (2) preparations per semester or four (4) preparations per year although it is recognized that there may be unusual instances in which scheduling demands require that some teachers have three (3) preparations in a semester. In such event, teachers assigned three (3) preparations shall have three (3) full instructional blocks of duty free preparation a week and two (2) forty minute continuous duty free preparation periods a week. All other secondary school teachers shall have two (2) full instructional blocks of duty free preparation and three (3) forty (40) minute continuous duty free preparation periods. In no event shall a secondary school teacher be assigned more than five (5)

preparations in a year. Secondary school teachers will, when necessary, communicate or meet with parents/guardians of students during any duty free preparation period. All other time the secondary school teachers are required to be in the building is assigned professional time as defined above.

- E-2. Secondary school teachers will not be required to teach more than two (2) subjects nor more than three (3) teaching preparations within said subjects at any one time. Only in unusual circumstances, because of the diversity of the programs offered, will exceptions to the above be allowed. In such a case, the average class load shall not exceed fourteen (14) students.
- F. Exceptions to the provisions of Section D and E up to five days may be made if the Superintendent or his designee determines that such exception is necessary for the best interest of the student. However, exceptions which exceed five (5) days will be by mutual agreement between the Association and the Superintendent. The Association will be notified of such exceptions.
- G. Teacher participation in extra-curricular activities will be strictly voluntary.
- H. The Committee agrees to provide adequate personnel for the maintenance, upkeep, and other duties in each building.
- I. Any change of duty, hours or responsibility of any administrator would not be made without good reason.
- J. Subject to the approval of the Superintendent or his designee, a teacher may volunteer for non-teaching supervisory or school operations duties or projects beyond the scope of those normally performed. Said duties or projects shall be compensated at the following rate per hour, pro rata.

Effective Date	Rate per Hour	
September 1, 2016 - August 31, 2017	\$22.06	

K. FLEX TIME FOR GUIDANCE COUNSELORS

- 1. Guidance counselors can elect to work two (2) evenings a month in order to meet with families or for other educational purposes. Guidance counselors who provide this service will be able to reconfigure time commensurate with the volunteered flex time. Such arrangements for flextime scheduling must receive a proper approval from the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- 2. Guidance counselors may be required to work up to three (3) days after the end of the school year and three (3) days before the beginning of the school year to assist in scheduling and other guidance activities. The principal shall first meet with the guidance counselors as a department before May 15th to discuss the scheduling of such dates. In exchange for performing this work either before or after the end of

the school year, guidance counselors shall be given a corresponding number of compensatory days off during the school year arranged through the principal of the school and/or his/her designee. Requests shall be made at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance and approval of such days shall not be unreasonably withheld. There shall be no restriction on when guidance counselors may use these days (i.e., they can be used before or after a long weekend/vacation week).

L. FLEXIBLE HOURS WORK SCHEDULE

It is recognized by the parties that it may be advantageous both to individual teachers and to the educational program of the Cambridge Public Schools to allow for flexible work scheduling. In consideration thereof, the Association and the Committee agree as follows:

- 1. No members of the bargaining unit will lose a job or be reduced in time as a result of this flex time provision during the implementation or continuation pursuant to paragraph nine of this provision.
- 2. An Advisory Flex Time Program Oversight Committee ("Oversight Committee") shall be created. The Oversight Committee shall consist of two (2) representatives of the Association and two (2) representatives of the Committee. The Superintendent and the CEA President will jointly agree on the composition of the Committee. The Oversight Committee shall act in an advisory capacity to the Superintendent.
- 3. A Flex Program Proposal ("Proposal") must fall within a "Flex Time" window of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. during the contractual work year. A flexible work hours schedule proposal (including providing for compliance with Article 5, B-3) may be submitted to the Superintendent by teachers and/or school or program administrators. Individual teachers and/or administrators shall be required to demonstrate the educational benefit to students.
- 4. Proposals shall be submitted and the Superintendent, in his discretion, may approve such proposals for a flexible work schedule at anytime during the school year. Once approved, a flexible work schedule shall not be modified prior to the expiration of the approved proposal. Flexible work schedules shall be reviewed yearly by the Oversight Committee.
- 5. A flexible hours schedule shall be the equivalent of the total work time requirement which the individual teacher is required to work under the collective bargaining agreement. No teacher shall be required to work non-contiguous hours, nor shall a teacher be required to work in excess of the total hours set forth in this contract.
- 6. Individual teachers who elect to participate in a flextime opportunity shall do so on a strictly voluntary basis. Flextime opportunities shall be made available to teachers on a voluntary basis through an in-house posting. In filling flextime postings, consideration shall be given to a teacher's certification, area of

competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, attendance record and length of service in the Cambridge School System. All qualifications being equal, as determined solely at the discretion of the Superintendent, the teacher with the longest service in the Cambridge School System shall be given first choice for flextime opportunities.

- 7. Non-professional status teachers shall be eligible to participate in the flextime program, if they receive prior approval of the Superintendent and the President of the CEA.
- 8. If volunteers are not available or selected, then flextime opportunities shall be posted for new teacher hiring. Any new hire positions created under this provision shall be allowed to continue after the expiration of this provision, even if the parties choose not to renew the terms of this flextime program.
- 9. It is understood that a flexible hours work schedule is an arrangement between the individual teacher and the Superintendent. As such, in the event said teacher severs his/her employment during the period of the flex schedule, no member of the bargaining unit shall be assigned to said flex schedule involuntarily.
- 10. The Oversight Committee shall report on the flextime program to the joint bargaining teams of the parties during the term of the contract.
- 11. The fact of an individual's participation or non-participation in the flex program shall not adversely affect his/her evaluation or result in discipline, reassignment or transfer.

ARTICLE 6 CLASS SIZE

A. It is agreed that as soon as practical, considering availability of qualified personnel and suitable classroom space, the maximum number of pupils per teacher will be as follows:

I.	Elementary/Upper Schools	
	Kindergarten	20
	Grades 1 through5	25
	Grades 6 through 8	25
2.	Senior High School	
	Science Laboratory	20
	Shop/Career and Technical Education Lab	20
	Academic subjects	30

3. Self-contained and/or substantially separate classes at no time shall exceed the number set by state law.

- 4. To the extent possible, remedial reading classes will not exceed the maximum recommended by the Department of Education.
- 5. Where educationally feasible, larger classes will be assigned larger classrooms.
- 6. Case load for adjustment counselors shall at no time exceed the number set by law.
- 7. Within the first two weeks of each semester, guidance counselors and deans may ask teachers to authorize overrides to permit up to five (5) additional students per class. Such authorization will be completely voluntary.

ARTICLE 7 SPECIALISTS AND SPECIAL PROGRAMS

- A. The Committee and the Association recognize the fact that an adequate number of competent specialists is essential to the operation of an effective educational program.
- B. Special programs are deemed an important aspect of the educational program of students and special program classes (i.e., art, music, science, etc.) will not be canceled for the day so that specialists should act as substitute teachers in regular classes except in cases of emergency.
- C. The Committee recognizes that it must provide sufficient personnel to deliver services to meet the goals and objectives mandated by a student's individualized education program (IEP) in accordance with the timelines established by federal and state law. Therefore, it is the responsibility of the Office of Student Services (OSS) to insure that caseloads for OSS specialists fulfilling a student's IEP are equitable throughout the district. Caseloads are not grievable. In accordance with Article 10, Section A, administrators are responsible for notifying an individual specialist about his or her caseload. Further, the administrator will provide the specialist the opportunity to discuss the caseload. After the above-mentioned discussion, if disagreement continues, the specialist may request that the Association President meet with the Assistant Superintendent of the Office of Student Services or his/her designee to discuss the caseload. The Association may refer any policy matter relating to specialist caseloads to the School Committee Subcommittee on Special Education. The School Committee's Subcommittee on Special Education will review policy matters relating to specialist caseloads with the Association.

ARTICLE 8 NON-TEACHING DUTIES

The Committee and the Association acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and that his energies should, to the extent possible, be utilized to this end. Therefore, they agree as follows:

A. Teachers will not be required to perform the following duties:

- 1. Non-professional assignments, including, but not limited to vacuuming carpets, milk distribution, cafeteria supervision, sidewalks, and buses from home to school, and school to home, except in cases of emergency as determined by the administrator of the building.
- 2. Health services such as weighing and measuring pupils.
- 3. Collecting money from students for non-educational purposes. Although teachers may be required to collect and transmit money to be used for educational purposes, they will not be required to tabulate or account for such money.
- 4. Duplicating instructional and other materials, and other similar clerical functions.
- B. Teachers will not be required to drive pupils to activities which take place away from the school.
- C. Teachers will perform corridor duty as stipulated by the Principal/Head of Upper School of the building.

ARTICLE 9 TEACHER EMPLOYMENT

- A. Full credit on the salary schedule, not to exceed six (6) years will be given for previous outside teaching experience upon initial employment. In the case of exceptional needs, this requirement may be waived.
- B. Teachers with previous teaching experience in the Cambridge School System will, upon returning to the system, receive full credit on the salary schedule for all outside teaching experience. Teachers who have not been engaged in teaching on a full time basis will, upon returning to the system, be restored to that step on the salary schedule on which they would have been placed in September if they had remained in the Cambridge School System.
- C. Previously accumulated unused sick days will be restored to all returning regularly appointed teachers.
- D. Teachers who have obtained National Board Teacher Certification, any physical therapist who holds Board Certification as a Clinical Specialist in Pediatrics (PCS) issued by the American Board of Physical Therapy Specialties (ABPTS) and American Physical Therapy Association (APTA), any occupational therapist who holds Board Certification in Pediatrics (OT) or Specialty Certification in School System (OT) issued by the American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) and any speech language therapist who holds a certificate of clinical competence (CCC-SLP) issued by the American Speech Language Hearing

Association (ASHA) will be granted a one-time fifteen (15) credits on the teacher's salary schedule as follows:

Bachelors will be placed as Master Master degree will be placed at Master plus 15 Master plus 15 will be placed at Master plus 30 Master plus 30 will be placed at Master plus 45 Master plus 45 will be placed at Master plus 60

Teachers who have either a Master plus 60 credits or a Doctorate who have obtained National Board Teacher Certification, any physical therapist who holds Board Certification as a Clinical Specialist in Pediatrics (PCS) issued by the American Board of Physical Therapy Specialties (ABPTS) and American Physical Therapy Association (APTA), any occupational therapist who holds Board Certification in Pediatrics (OT) or Specialty Certification in School System (OT) issued by the American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) and any speech language therapist who holds a certificate of clinical competence (CCC-SLP) issued by the American Speech Language Hearing Association (ASHA) will be granted an annual stipend of \$1,000 (one thousand dollars).

ARTICLE 10 TEACHER ASSIGNMENT

- A. Teachers will be notified in writing of their programs for the coming year, including the schools to which they will be assigned, the grades and/or subjects that they will teach, and any special or unusual classes that they will have. Said notification where possible will be made before the close of school in June.
- B. In order to assure that pupils are taught by teachers working within their areas of competence, teachers will not be assigned, except temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching certificates and/or the major or minor fields of study.
- C. To the extent possible, changes in grade assignment in the elementary/upper schools and in subject assignment in the secondary schools will be voluntary.
- D. In arranging schedules for teachers who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made to limit the amount of inter-school travel. Such teachers will be notified of any changes in their schedules as soon as practicable. Teachers who are assigned to more than one school in any one school day will receive the following rate per mile for all inter-school driving done by them or reimbursement for the cost of public transportation.

Effective Date Rate Per Mile

September 1, 2016 - August 31, 2017 .40

E. Teacher assignments will conform to applicable equal employment opportunity law with respect to race, creed, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender, gender identity, genetic information or age.

ARTICLE 11 TRANSFERS

DEFINITIONS:

<u>TRANSFER:</u> A transfer shall be defined as a voluntary or involuntary movement of a teacher from one school to another (except for reassignments as defined below).

<u>REASSIGNMENT:</u> Reassignment is defined as placement of school-based teachers in different grades within an elementary school, within an upper school campus, different subjects or houses at the high school, and placement of teachers in specialist positions (i.e. Office of Student Services, Bilingual, Art, Music, Physical Education, Science and Modern Language).

Although the Committee and the Association recognize that some transfer of teachers from one school to another is unavoidable, they also recognize that frequent transfer of teachers is disruptive of the educational process and interferes with optimum teacher performance. Therefore, they agree as follows:

- A. When a reduction in the number of teachers in a school is necessary, volunteers will be transferred first.
- B-1. When involuntary transfers are necessary, a teacher's certification, area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, and length of service in the Cambridge School System will be considered in determining which teacher is to be transferred.
- B-2. An involuntary transfer will be made only after a meeting between the teacher involved and the Superintendent (or his designee) at which time the teacher involved will be notified of the reasons for the transfer. In the event that a teacher objects to the transfer at this meeting, upon the request of the teacher, the Association will be notified and the Superintendent (or his designee) will meet with the Association's representative to discuss the transfer.
- B-3 In all cases of involuntary transfer, when the teacher has been notified of such transfer, he will be given an opportunity at that time to examine a list of all vacancies and to select a position for which he believes himself qualified. Said selection will not be denied by the Superintendent without, in his judgment, good reason. Positions being filled by substitute teachers will be included on the list of vacancies to be shown to the transferring teacher as being available the following September.

Once a teacher is notified of his or her involuntary transfer, he or she will be permitted through August 15 of that year to be interviewed for any vacancy posted by that date in

accordance with Article 12, Section III. Teachers shall be entitled to be interviewed during the ten day period from the date the notice is posted, although a teacher may also participate in any subsequent interviews if he or she applies for the position and is not initially selected as a result of the "ten day posting interview." Only involuntary transferees may be interviewed during this ten day period.

Involuntarily transferred teachers, who elect to be interviewed during the ten day posting period noted above, shall be interviewed by a team which shall consist, at a maximum, of a principal/head of upper school, an assistant principal, a director or coordinator, a teacher, a parent liaison, or a parent member of the school improvement council. The Superintendent has discretion on the composition of a specific interview team, consistent with the above.

If recommended by the principal/head of upper school and approved by the Superintendent, teachers shall be transferred to that position, provided, however, that the teacher also may exercise his or her right to such "ten day posting interviews" for any other position posted as of August 15 of that year.

- C. Teachers desiring a transfer will submit a written request to the Superintendent and will be given a list of all available vacancies within two weeks of said request. Upon selection of the available vacancy desired, the teacher will submit a letter stating the reason thereof. Such request must be submitted prior to February 15 of each school year to be considered for the next school year. Requests must be renewed each year. All requests will be acknowledged in writing. The Association will be notified of all newly created positions.
- D. In the case of all voluntary or involuntary transfers, the Superintendent shall determine whether an interview of a potential transferee by the building administrator, directors and/or department heads, or in accordance with Section B(3) hereof, is necessary. The interview process used to assess the suitability of a teacher for a transfer to any school shall be regarded as advisory to the Superintendent only.
- E. Supervisors are responsible for notifying an individual who is to be reassigned and providing to an individual the opportunity to discuss the reassignment. After said discussion the teacher may request that the Association meet with the Superintendent or his/her designee to discuss the reassignment.
- F. Involuntarily transferred teachers who interview and are not recommended for another position may, at the discretion of the Superintendent, and after consultation with the President of the Cambridge Education Association, be offered an exit incentive. Teachers who apply for and are granted this option will be granted either a half-year of leave at full pay or a full-year of leave at half pay. A decision to accept this option shall be irrevocable and must be accompanied by a letter of resignation or retirement to take effect immediately upon termination of the leave. This exit incentive will not apply to teachers who have already given notice of intent to retire or to resign.

ARTICLE 12 VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS

Section I.

- A. Whenever any vacancy in a professional position above the rank of a classroom teacher occurs, it will be adequately publicized by the Superintendent as far in advance of the appointment as possible, by means of: emailing a copy of the job notice to the CEA President, emailing a copy of the job notice to each school building for posting and by placing the notice on the Cambridge School Department's job posting website. No vacancy will be filled, except on a temporary basis, within ten (10) days from the date the notice is posted in the schools or the giving of notification to the Association. Positions will be acting for no more than twelve (12) calendar months before the School Committee acts to fill the positions on a regular basis from the applicants for the advertised position. Any time spent by a person filling such a position on a temporary or acting basis shall not be regarded as evidence of best qualifications by that person for the posted opening.
- B. All qualified teachers will be given adequate opportunity to make application for such positions, and the Committee agrees to give due weight to the professional background and attainments of all applicants, the length of time each has been in the school system, and other relevant factors. In filling such vacancies, all other qualifications being equal (such qualifications to include training, experience, teaching ability and the Superintendent's evaluation and judgment, after taking into account the advice of the appropriate Principal/Head of Upper School, Director, Department Head and any advisory groups being utilized), preference will be given to qualified teachers already employed by the Committee.
- C. Appointments will conform to applicable equal opportunity employment law with respect to race, creed, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender, gender identity, genetic information or age.
- D. Any Committee appointed to draft the qualifications for a position above that of a classroom teacher, including Principal's Assistant, will include a teacher designated by the Cambridge Education Association. All teachers will be eligible for said designation.

Section II.

Each school shall have a Principal's Assistant, except those schools having an Assistant Principal.

Section III.

Whenever any vacancy in a Unit A bargaining unit position, which the School Committee determines to fill on a permanent basis, occurs, it will be adequately publicized by the Superintendent as far in advance of the appointment as possible, by means of: emailing a copy of

the job notice to the CEA President, emailing a copy of the job notice to each school building for posting and by placing the notice on the Cambridge School Department's job posting website. In both situations, the qualifications for the position, its duties and the rate of compensation, will be clearly set forth. No vacancy will be filled, except on a temporary basis, within ten (10) days from the date the notice is posted in the schools or the giving of notification to the Association, with the further exception of (a) positions determined by the Superintendent to be educator shortage areas (e.g., science, math, world languages, special education, bilingual education, etc.), (b) the availability of an opportunity to further the Cambridge Public Schools staff diversity goals; and (c) positions which are vacated during the period of July 1 – September 30, which may be posted for a minimum of five (5) days.

ARTICLE 13 POSITIONS IN SUMMER SCHOOL, EVENING SCHOOL, ATHLETIC COACHING AND IN FEDERAL PROGRAMS

- A. The Association will be provided as soon as possible with a list of all openings in summer school, in evening school, in athletic coaching and in federal programs.

 Qualified teachers will submit applications in writing. Each applicant will be notified in writing of the action taken.
- B. Positions in the Cambridge summer and evening schools, coaching positions and positions under the Federal program will, to the extent possible, all other qualifications being equal, be filled first by regularly appointed teachers in the Cambridge School System.
- C. In filling positions in summer school, evening school, coaching positions and positions under Federal programs, consideration will be given to a teacher's certification, area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, attendance record, length of service in the Cambridge School System, and previous experience in the aforementioned Cambridge programs/positions.

ARTICLE 14 TEACHER EVALUATION

- A. Teacher evaluation will be based upon the performance standards and procedures agreed upon by the Committee and the Association and approved by the Massachusetts Department of Education. Current standards, procedures and evaluation instruments are set forth in Appendix D of this contract.
- B. All monitoring and observation of the work performance of a teacher will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher. Teachers will be given a copy of any evaluation report prepared by their evaluators. In the event of a disagreement concerning any evaluation, the teacher involved shall have the right to apply to the Superintendent for another evaluation to be conducted by a person designated by the Superintendent, provided said designee was not one of the original evaluators. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Said evaluation is to be filed in the teacher's personnel file.

- C. All evaluation reports shall include the number of classroom observations by supervisor and will be verified by the teacher observed.
- D. Any teacher with professional teacher status may be subject to annual evaluation during any year, with the approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee. The supervisor will provide the teacher with the reasons in writing for the annual evaluation but such annual evaluation shall not be prompted solely by a transfer or reassignment.
- E. The parties acknowledge the responsibilities of the Superintendent for ensuring that all evaluators have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation, and have, or have available to them, expertise in the subject matter and/or areas to be evaluated pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, §38 and 603 C.M.R. 35.00 *et seq*. The Committee agrees to provide the Association with a summary of the evaluator's training in said areas upon request.
- F. Any proposed changes in the evaluation process will be implemented only after negotiations between the Association and the Committee pursuant to applicable law.
- G. Teachers-In-Charge, Teacher-Leaders and Lead Teachers may evaluate members of the bargaining unit at the discretion of the Superintendent or her designee. In the event of a vacancy in any of the above positions that the Superintendent decides to fill, the Teacher-in-Charge, Teacher-Leader or Lead Teacher shall be recommended to the Superintendent by Unit A members of the appropriate school, house or program by means of a secret ballot election conducted by the Association within 20 days of the closing date of the posting for such vacancy. If the Association makes no recommendation within such 20 days, the Superintendent may proceed to fill the position. Individuals appointed to such positions may serve for a period of up to three years at the Superintendent's discretion, and may be re-elected by the appropriate body and reappointed by the Superintendent thereafter. It is understood that the election is advisory only, and that the final decision on such appointments rests with the Superintendent.
- H-1. The Evaluation Process Working Committee shall be co-chaired by the CPS Executive Director of Human Resources and the President of the CEA. In addition, the working committee shall be comprised of three (3) other Units A&B members who shall be elected by the members of Units A&B or appointed by the CEA President and three principals or administrators appointed by the Superintendent. The working committee shall be in place for the duration of this contract through August 31, 2017. The Evaluation Process Working Committee shall meet on a schedule agreed upon by the co-chairs. All educators and evaluators will be afforded the opportunity to provide input to the Evaluation Process Working Committee on various issues including both the identification of any issues connected with the existing evaluation system and suggestions for possible improvements to the evaluation system.
- H-2. The Evaluation Process Working Committee shall advise the Superintendent and the CEA on evaluation procedures with an eye towards making improvements, as necessary, that lead towards quality teaching and learning. The working committee will work on the development of new evaluation forms for positions without existing, appropriate

evaluation tools. The Evaluation Process Working Committee shall make recommendations to the Superintendent on procedures and standards as set forth in Appendix D and new evaluation forms, but adoption of the same is subject to the action of the School Committee. The School Committee shall seek a public hearing for comment on teacher performance standards in accordance with the provisions of M.G.L.c. 71, §38.

ARTICLE 15 TEACHER FACILITIES

- A. Where practical and possible in school buildings presently in use and in all new school buildings, each school will have the following facilities:
 - 1. Within the constraints of the school building, teachers will be provided with adequate space as determined by the building principal/head of upper school, relevant department administrator in the case of an administrative department and with the concurrence of the Facilities Director to perform their duties including but not limited to space to store instructional materials and supplies.
 - 2. A teacher work area containing adequate equipment and supplies to aid in the preparation of instructional materials.
 - 3. An appropriately furnished room, to be used as a faculty lounge. Said room will be in addition to the aforementioned teacher work area.
 - 4. A serviceable desk and chair for the teacher in each classroom.
 - 5. A communication system so that teachers can communicate with the main building office from their classroom.
 - 6. A well-lighted, clean, operable and well-supplied male teacher rest room and a well-lighted, clean, operable and well-supplied female teacher rest room. There will be at least one male and one female rest room on each floor of planned buildings.
 - 7. A permanently enclosed dining room will be provided for the teachers in the high school.
 - 8. a. An adequate parking area at each school will be reserved for teachers' cars. Decals will be provided. The School Committee will ask the Traffic Commissioner and City Manager in coordination with the Environmental Protection Agency to issue visitor parking permits to teachers.
 - b. During school hours, parking permits will be provided to non-resident teachers and administrators whose duties require services in more than one school in one day.

- 9. Every reasonable attempt will be made to remove snow from every parking lot immediately following each storm.
- B. The School Committee agrees to provide a workplace with adequate heating, ventilation and lighting.
- C. Rooms with kilns will be wet mopped after clay has been used in the area.

ARTICLE 16 USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

- A. The Association will have the right to use school buildings without cost at reasonable times for meetings. The Administrator of the building in question will be notified in advance of the time and place of all such meetings. Provision will be made for the availability of the interschool phone during afternoon meetings because of possible emergencies. The Secretary of the School Committee shall be notified at least one school day in advance of scheduled meetings. The Association will be responsible for all necessary custodial fees.
- B. Bulletin board as required will be placed in each school building in the common faculty lounge or cafeteria or place designated by the administrator and faculty representative.
- C. An adequately secured room will be provided for the Association for its records, files and routine operation.
- D. Provision will be made for a seat for the Association President or his/her designee at each School Committee meeting. The Association will be furnished with a copy of the minutes of each Committee meeting.

ARTICLE 17 SICK LEAVE

- A. Each member of the bargaining unit shall be granted sick leave of fifteen (15) days in any one school year without the loss of salary. Said member shall accumulate from year to year any unused portion of the above-specified sick leave.
- B. Teachers joining the service after September will be granted sick leave promulgated on the basis of one and one-half (1½) days for each month they have been contracted to teach up to a maximum of fifteen (15) days per year. The record of a teacher's available sick leave will be furnished to teachers on or before November 15th of the school year.
- C. Personnel on eleven-month contracts will receive an additional one and one-half (1½) days for the eleventh month.
- D. Sick Leave Bank

The purpose of the Sick Leave Bank is to provide additional sick leave to those staff members who are ill and whose sick leave has been exhausted.

- 1. On September 1st of each school year, the School Committee will deposit 400 days in the Sick Leave Bank. It is agreed that on June 30th the bank will cease. Any remaining days will not be added to the following September's allotment.
- 2. The Sick Leave Bank Committee will be composed of:
 - a. Three members of the Bargaining Unit
 - b. Two members appointed from Central Administration, one of whom will be the Superintendent or his designee.
- 3. The Sick Leave Bank Committee will decide, on a majority vote, on an allotment of days from the Sick Leave Bank, using guidelines set forth below:
 - a. All members of the Bargaining Unit are eligible to apply for days from the bank.
 - b. An official application form (form to be approved by both parties) must be completed. This application form is to include space for certification by a medical doctor.
 - c. The doctor may be the personal physician of the applicant. Additional medical information may be required by the Sick Leave Bank Committee. The Superintendent has the right to require an examination by the City's chief medical officer or his/her representative whose opinion as to the nature or extent of the illness or injury will prevail.
 - d. Applicant must have exhausted personal sick leave before the effective date of additional sick days (as per deductible clause).
 - e. The following is the number of deductible days required per years of service.

<u>Years</u>	<u>Deductible</u>	<u>Years</u>	<u>Deductible</u>
1	10 days	7	4 days
2	9 days	8	3 days
3	8 days	9	2 days
4	7 days	10	1 day
5	6 days	11 or more	0 days
6	5 days		

Deductible days are those days an applicant must be on unpaid leave because of sickness or injury before Sick Leave Bank days can be effective.

- f. Applicants can be denied by the Sick Leave Committee if, in its opinion, any of the following apply:
 - i. Previous abuse of personal sick leave.
 - ii. Insufficient medical evidence of need.
 - iii. Disability does not warrant absences from employment.
 - iv. Lack of days in the bank.
 - v. Previous use of Sick Leave Bank (applicable only when applicant shows repeated use of Sick Leave Bank).
- g. A maximum of twenty-five (25) days per applicant may be distributed at one time. If additional days are needed, a re-application is required, including medical evidence of continued need.
- h. A maximum of forty-five (45) days may be allotted to any one person in any one school year.
- i. If the condition exists wherein a limited number of days remain in the bank and applications exceed this number, the following factors will be considered by the Sick Leave Bank Committee in making a decision as to the allocation of the days:
 - i. Seriousness of illness.
 - ii. Seniority.
 - iii. Past use of Sick Bank.
 - iv. Financial circumstances of the individual.
- j. Decisions of the Sick Leave Bank Committee are final provided all of the above provisions are met.
- 4. When a member of the Bargaining Unit who has borrowed days from the Sick Leave Bank retires, he or she will be required to return to the Cambridge School Committee one-half (½) of the days granted from the Sick Leave Bank. These days will be deducted from accumulated personal sick leave.

ARTICLE 18 TEMPORARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- A. Teachers will be entitled to the following temporary leaves of absence with pay each school year.
 - A-1. Three (3) days personal leave may be granted subject to the approval of the Superintendent, whose approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Application

for personal leave will be made at least twenty-four (24) hours before taking such leave (except in cases of emergencies). The last two days of said leave shall be deducted from sick leave allowed under Article 17. Subject to exceptions by the Superintendent, no personal leave shall be requested or granted for the day immediately preceding or immediately following a holiday or a vacation period. Personal leave shall be granted for the purpose of transacting or attending to personal affairs and situations over which the applicant has no control.

- A-2. Time necessary for Association representatives to attend Massachusetts Teachers Association and/or National Education Association conferences and conventions.
- A-3. Time necessary for appearance for any legal proceedings to which the teacher is required to attend.
- A-4. Each member of the Bargaining Unit shall be granted leave of absence without loss of salary for five (5) consecutive days when such absence is occasioned by the death of a relative who resided in the home of the staff member, and when such absence is occasioned by the death of a parent, child, parent-in-law, sister or brother whose place of residence was other than in the home of the staff member. Leave of absence without loss of salary for not more than one (1) day shall be granted when such absence is occasioned by the death of a grandparent, grandchild, nephew, niece, aunt, uncle, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, or brother-in-law whose place of residence was other than in the home of the staff member.
- A-5. Necessary calendar days per school year for persons called in to temporary active duty of any unit of the United States Reserve or the National Guard, provided such obligation cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session.
- A-6. Additional time may be granted for valid reasons at the discretion of the Superintendent and the School Committee.
- A-7. A teacher shall be granted a paid leave of absence for up to four (4) weeks for caring for a newly adopted child, provided that necessary documentation is submitted to the Superintendent in advance of the request. Said leave shall be deducted from the teacher's accumulated sick leave.

An additional two (2) weeks may be granted at the Superintendent's discretion, with that time deducted from the teacher's sick leave accumulation.

ARTICLE 19 EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. The C.E.A President shall be granted a paid leave of absence. Notwithstanding anything in this contract to the contrary, the President of the C.E.A. shall have the right to return to his or her building/grade/department, provided they exist when said leave is completed.

- B. A leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years may be granted to any teacher with professional status who joins the Peace Corps or serves as an exchange teacher, and who is a full time participant in either program during such leave. Upon return from such leave a teacher will receive credit on the salary schedule for all full time experience gained during such leave of absence.
- C. Military leave, in time of National Emergency, will be granted to any teacher who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the armed forces of the United States. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he would have achieved had he remained actively employed in the system during the period of absence up to a maximum of three (3) years.
- D. A teacher may be granted a leave of absence of up to one year for health reasons, which may be extended as appropriate. Requests for such leaves or extensions will be submitted in writing and supported by appropriate medical documentation. Accumulated sick leave, if any, may be applied during an approved medical leave of absence.
- E. Any teacher whose personal illness extends beyond the period compensated may be granted a leave of absence without pay for such time as is necessary for complete recovery from such illness.
- F. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time his leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to him upon his return, and he will be assigned to the same position which he held at the time said leave commenced, if available, or if not, to a substantially equivalent position.
- G. All requests for extended leaves of absence or non-renewals of leave under this Article will be applied for in writing. Any teacher on approved extended leave must notify the Superintendent by February 15th, in writing, if he/she intends to return to active employment the following school year. Failure to provide such notice will be treated by the Cambridge Public Schools as a voluntary resignation by the teacher from his/her position. This notification provision shall not be applicable to Article 19, Section A.
- H. The School Committee agrees to abide by State Law and Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination ("MCAD") guidelines with reference to maternity leave.
- I. A teacher of either sex is entitled to a leave of absence without pay for the purpose of caring for a newly-born or adopted child, subject to the following conditions and limitations:
 - 1. Request for such leave shall be made at least thirty (30) days prior to the date on which said leave is to begin.
 - 2. Such leave, and any pregnancy disability leave that involves the same child, shall not in total impact upon any more than two (2) consecutive years.

- 3. Return from such leave shall be in September unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the teacher and the Superintendent.
- 4. Unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the teacher and the Superintendent, a teacher who has taken a leave pursuant to this section must actually work one full year before being eligible for another such leave.
- 5. A teacher may not engage in remunerative employment inconsistent with the purpose of this leave during the leave. "Inconsistent" shall be defined as more than half time employment or employment during the day, outside the home.
- J. Upon approval of the Superintendent, a professional status teacher may be granted an extended leave of absence for up to one full school year for personal or professional reasons, to take effect at a specified school year in the future. The request must be made in writing by February 15 of the school year preceding the school year the leave is to be effective. If made earlier, the teacher may revoke the request for changed circumstances up to said February 15, but it shall be irrevocable thereafter. A teacher may only have one such leave every seven (7) years.

ARTICLE 20 SABBATICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

A. Purpose:

Sabbatical leave is to provide an opportunity for the staff member to prepare for a higher quality of service to the School Department. Such leave will be granted for the following activities:

- 1. To engage in professional study;
- 2. To engage in research:
- 3. For travel and observation;
- 4. Acceptance of fellowships granted by accredited colleges and/or universities for not more than one year providing that any monies received from such fellowships shall be set off against sabbatical pay due.

B. Requirements:

1. For Study: The applicant for two semesters of leave shall outline a planned program to consist of not less than three-fourths of a full program as defined by the appropriate administrative authority of the college or university to be attended. The applicant for one semester of leave shall outline a planned program equal to a full program as defined by the appropriate administrative authority of the college or university to be attended.

- 2. For Research: The applicant for one or two semesters shall outline a planned program explaining the nature of the research, the goal and the value to the school department.
- 3. For Travel and Observation: The applicant shall submit a plan stating professional objectives to be sought.
- C. Eligibility: Any permanent member of the professional staff who has served for seven (7) or more consecutive years in the School Department may request said leave. Subsequent leaves may be authorized after eligibility has been reestablished by service of an additional consecutive seven years. Not more than two percent (2%) of the total professional staff shall be granted sabbatical leave during any one semester.
- D. Duration of Leave: A sabbatical leave may be granted only for one full semester or for two full consecutive semesters.
- E. Application and Selection: Application shall be made to the Superintendent on the form provided, on or before December 15, of the school year preceding that in which the leave is to become effective. The applicant shall be given an interview by the Office of Human Resources which shall evaluate each application on the basis of professional growth for the staff member and potential benefit to the School System, and shall make advisory recommendations to the Superintendent.
 - 1. For Study: The applicant must submit his proposed plan of study, a statement of his professional purpose, and the expected value to the School System; and evidence of his admissions to a college or university.
 - 2. For Research: The applicant must submit a proposal explaining the purpose of the research and how it will be conducted, and the expected value to the School Department.
 - 3. For Travel and Observation: The applicant must submit a detailed itinerary of the countries, areas, or institutions to be visited, the approximate time to be spent in each, and a statement of his purpose for such travel and the expected value to the School System. (In case the number of applicants exceeds that which is allowable in any one semester, the Executive Director of the Office of Human Resources shall recommend to the Superintendent priority on a comparative basis of value to any needs of the School System).
- F. Compensation: Payment of salary shall be made in accordance with the Committee for payment of salary to all members of the professional staff, based upon the salary he would receive were he on active status for the year in which leave is effective as follows:
 - 1. For Study: One (1) semester full salary. Two (2) semesters one-half salary.
 - 2. For Research: One (1) or two (2) semesters one-half salary

- 3. For Travel: One (1) or two (2) semesters one-half salary.
- G. Remunerative work while on Leave: A staff member may not engage in remunerative employment during a sabbatical leave without the approval of the Superintendent. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Exceptions to this provision are scholarships and fellowships in the approved college or university which do not interfere with the staff member's program of study.
- H. Report to the Superintendent and the Staff Council: A staff member, upon the expiration of a sabbatical leave shall submit to the Superintendent and to the Staff Council a written report relative to the manner in which the leave was utilized. If the leave was spent in study, a transcript from the college or university attended certifying to the successful completion of the courses taken shall accompany the report; if in conducting research, a written report of the research, including a description of its purpose, methodology, procedures, analysis, and results, and recommendation to the Superintendent. If in travel, substantial evidence of the place and institutions visited.
- I. Service Required After Expiration of Leave: A staff member who has been granted a sabbatical leave shall file with the Secretary of the School Committee a written agreement stipulating:
 - (1) that he will remain in the service of the School Committee for a period equal to twice the length of his leave;
 - (2) that in default of this agreement he will refund to the City of Cambridge the amount of salary received while on said leave unless it is ordered otherwise by the School Committee.
- J. Interruption of Leave: Interruption of the program of study or travel while on sabbatical leave, caused by serious illness, accident, or other emergency, must be reported to the Superintendent by registered letter mailed within ten (10) days of the interruption. The Superintendent and the Committee shall then review the case to determine the status of the individual concerned.
- K. Staff member shall return to his/her position if it exists, or substantially equivalent position.

ARTICLE 21 SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS

A. Every reasonable attempt will be made to secure a substitute teacher from the first day of the regularly assigned teacher's absence. It is agreed that the Cambridge School Department actively recruit substitutes in areas of critical shortage by making use of all available facilities such as: news media, trade unions, Veterans Administration vocational programs, and Massachusetts Rehabilitation Programs.

- B. In each building the administrator shall prepare a written explanation for every substitute describing the operation of the school facilities.
- C. Teachers will report absences at least one (1) hour before the starting time for their school, when possible.

ARTICLE 22 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATIONAL IMPROVEMENT

- A. The Committee will pay the reasonable expenses (including fees, meals, lodging and/or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend workshops, seminars, conferences, or other professional improvement sessions at the request of and with the advance approval of the Superintendent of Schools.
- B. When vouchers are received by the Superintendent's office, written notification will be sent to the cooperating teacher who must accept the voucher within ten (10) days if he wants to claim it. At the end of each semester a list of unclaimed vouchers will be sent to the Association and Principals/Heads of Upper Schools for posting. Teachers may request unclaimed vouchers from the Office of the Superintendent.

C. Tuition Reimbursement

- C-1. Teachers will be eligible for tuition reimbursement for job-related educational courses. The maximum amount of reimbursement is \$1,500 per individual per contract year. To be eligible for reimbursement, prior approval by the Principal/Head of Upper School for the course to be taken shall be required, and a final course grade of at least "B-" shall be required unless the course is only offered Pass/Fail, in which case a "passing" grade will suffice. Specialists may be reimbursed for pre-approved professional seminars, workshops and non-credit courses that are related to their required licenses after providing a syllabus and other appropriate documentation of the seminar, workshop or course.
- C-2. The total tuition reimbursement amount shall not exceed \$150,000 per year.
- C-3. Requests for initial approval of tuition reimbursement shall be made to the Executive Director of the Office of Human Resources who shall establish rules, including a review process, for determining which requests shall be approved. Unit members who are submitting requests for tuition reimbursement for RETELL do not need to adhere to the semester deadlines set forth above, but such requests will be reviewed at the start of the semester following the submission and if any monies remain unused in the tuition reimbursement pool after all timely and fully documented tuition reimbursement requests are processed, such RETELL tuition reimbursement requests will be processed, on a first come, first served basis. The deadline for submission of requests for tuition reimbursement is as follows: (a) Fall Semester September 30th; (b) Spring Semester January 30th; and (c) Summer Semester June 10th. In addition, all documentation

(including course grade reports and paid tuition request) submitted in support of reimbursement payment must be received no later than sixty (60) calendar days following completion of the course. Exceptions to the sixty (60) day rule, for up to an additional sixty (60) days, will only be made if failure to comply is due to the documented delay by the university in issuance of final paperwork. Requests that are submitted after the deadlines detailed above will be reviewed at the start of June of each year. If any monies remain unused in the tuition reimbursement pool after all timely and fully documented tuition reimbursement requests are processed, such untimely, fully documented tuition reimbursement requests will be processed, on a first come, first served basis.

C-4. Reimbursement upon completion of an approved course shall be requested on an appropriate form determined by the School Department, with documentation of the completed course with the minimum grade requirement.

ARTICLE 23 PROTECTION

- A. Teachers will immediately report in writing all cases of assault suffered by them in connection with their employment to their immediate supervisor and to the Superintendent. A brief written report to the teacher of specific action taken will be made by the Superintendent and/or immediate supervisor within as reasonable time as possible.
- B-1. Specifically, included, relative to this section, shall be assault by a public school student or any other individual which can reasonably be shown to have arisen in connection with the performance of the teacher's duties, wherever such assault may have occurred; provided, however, full cooperation is given to the Office of the City Solicitor in the prosecution of the case.
- B-2. Any damage to a teacher's property wherever located including his or her residence which can be reasonably shown to have been caused by Cambridge Public School student(s) and/or other persons as a revengeful act arising out of the teacher's performance of his or her duties shall be fully compensated by the School Department (less insurance compensation) provided the incident is fully and promptly reported on forms provided by the Office of the City Solicitor and provided there is full cooperation on the part of the teacher with that Department in any prosecution.
- B-3. A teacher who as a result of performance of his or her duties is sued shall be defended by the Office of the City Solicitor provided the teacher agrees to be represented by the Office and fully cooperates.
- B-4. Whenever a teacher or any other employee covered by this Contract is assaulted by a student or any other individual, a full and complete written report of the incident will be forwarded to the Superintendent to be forwarded to the City Solicitor's office as soon as possible. The incident report will be a detailed account of the assault which will include statements from the victim and/or witnesses. Notification that a claim has been filed will immediately be sent to the C.E.A. President. The victim will agree to fully cooperate

with the City Solicitor's Office and/or any other governmental entity should it be necessary to prosecute in the criminal court or take action in a civil court. Given these conditions, the City Solicitor will vigorously pursue legal action against the student, parent and/or legal guardian or any other individual.

B-5. The City Solicitor will decide all issues of interpretation and application of this provision.

ARTICLE 24 PERSONAL INJURY BENEFITS

- A. Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of personal injury because of an accident, including an assault, not specifically caused by his own negligence and occurring in the scope of his employment and the performance of his duties, he shall be paid his full salary during the period of his absence from school and such absence shall not be charged against sick leave, subject, however, to the following conditions:
 - 1. If any time the teacher receives on account of the personal injury workers' compensation benefits, the amounts received on account of Workers' Compensation shall be deducted from the teacher's salary, irrespective of whether the teacher is absent from school or has resumed his duties wholly or in part.
 - 2. In no event shall a teacher who is so absent from school continue to receive his full salary for a period in excess of two (2) years unless the teacher's employment is sooner terminated by retirement, resignation or discharge and in that event, the salary shall terminate in retirement, resignation or discharge.
 - 3. The teacher must fill the appropriate form or forms as required by the Workers' Compensation Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- B. In the proper performance of their employment the Committee will reimburse teachers for:
 - 1. Any clothing or other personal property damaged or destroyed.
 - 2. The cost of medical, surgical or hospital services (less the amount of any insurance reimbursement) incurred as the result of any injury sustained provided that the claim for such reimbursement is approved by the Workers' Compensation agent of the City of Cambridge.

ARTICLE 25 INSURANCE ANNUITY AND DENTAL PLAN

A. <u>Life Insurance</u>: The Committee will pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost for \$2,000 term life insurance plan presently available to teachers.

B. <u>Health Insurance</u>:

- 1. The following medical insurance plans are offered:
 - a. <u>HMO Insurance Offerings</u>: Employees may participate in Blue Choice (a BC/BS HMO plan product), with benefits outlined as attached, Harvard Community Health Plan, or other plans available to City employees. The City will pay eighty-five percent (85%) of the premium of all HMO plans offered by the City, and the employee will pay fifteen percent (15%).

Employees hired to start effective September 1, 2014 or thereafter and employees returning to employment after a separation from employment to start effective September 1, 2014 or thereafter will pay a 25% health insurance contribution rate in exchange for \$400.00 being added to the base salary after the 2% wage adjustment is applied effective on September 1, 2014 for all employees. Such amount to be pro-rated for part-time employees. Effective September 1, 2015, all employees currently paying 15% for health insurance will pay a 20% health insurance contribution rate in exchange for the additional 1.6% increase in base wages for all employees described above. Such amount to be pro-rated for part-time employees.

A one-time \$200.00 bonus, payable to all employees on the active payroll as of June 1, 2015, will be paid out no later than August 28, 2015. Such amount to be pro-rated for part-time employees.

It is understood and agreed, that if any portion of the health insurance contribution rate changes set forth in the paragraphs immediately above, which are an essential component of the parties settlement is determined to be invalid by a tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance or enforcement of any such provision is in any way restrained, then the City shall have no obligation to pay or continue in effect the additional \$400.00 being added to the base salary on September 1, 2014; the one-time \$200.00 bonus, payable to all employees on the active payroll as of June 1, 2015, payable no later than August 28, 2015; or the additional 1.6% being added to the base salary on September 1, 2015 (all such amounts to be pro-rated for part-time employees) set forth in Article 25 (1)(a) which is specifically linked to the increases in employee health contributions until such time as a final judgment is rendered and not appealed which declares such provisions valid or removes any restraint on their enforcement.

- b. <u>Indemnity Medical Insurance Offering</u>: The City shall offer a BC/BS Major Medical with Benefit Management Plan. The City will pay ninetynine (99%) percent of the premium of that plan.
- c. If the minimum amount of the employee contribution for health insurance changes as a result of enactment of new laws by the legislature of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, then the parties will agree to reopen the collective bargaining agreement for the period of September 1, 2006 through August 31, 2009 solely for the purpose of discussing the impact of the new law on the employee contribution to health insurance.
- 2. The City will provide a rider for coverage of unmarried, dependent children who are full-time students up to age 25.
- 3. Where the plan requires a second opinion, the time taken to obtain such an opinion shall not be deducted from sick leave. It is understood that the member shall endeavor to schedule such appointments in non-school time. A separate account in the sick leave bank shall be established for the specific purpose of providing whole or partial day coverage for required second opinions. An initial contribution of twenty-five (25) days shall be allocated to fund the aforementioned separate account and shall be repeated effective September 1 of each school year. If this allotment is exhausted, negotiations for the purpose of continuing the funding of said account shall commence immediately.
- 4. Eligible employees who decline City Health Insurance, but have health insurance coverage through another source, not contributed to by the city, are eligible to receive an annual sum of \$750 payable on a monthly basis at the rate of \$62.50 per month, for as long as the individual remains eligible for such payments in accordance with the rules and procedures established by the City of Cambridge. This payment shall not be included in pay for any other purpose. Employees who lose the alternative health insurance through no fault of their own (e.g., spouse loss of job and hence insurance) will be entitled to enroll in the City plan outside of open enrollment periods with no waiting periods or preexisting condition limitations. Employees can elect coverage at open enrollment without limitation as to other coverage. Starting July 1, 2007, eligible employees who decline City health insurance, but have health insurance coverage through another source, not contributed to by the City, are eligible to receive an annual sum of \$900.00 (nine hundred dollars) payable on a monthly basis at the rate of \$75.00 (seventy-five dollars) per month, for as long as the individual remains eligible for such payments in accordance with the rules and procedures established by the City of Cambridge. Starting July 1, 2008, eligible employees who decline City health insurance, but have health insurance coverage through another source, not contributed to by the City, are eligible to receive an annual sum of \$1,000.00 (one thousand dollars) payable on a monthly basis at the rate of

\$83.33 (eighty-three dollars and thirty-three cents) per month, for as long as the individual remains eligible for such payments in accordance with the rules and procedures established by the City of Cambridge. Effective September 1, 2014, increase annual sum of health insurance waiver from \$1,000.00 (one thousand dollars) to \$1,600.00 (one thousand six hundred dollars) payable on a monthly basis at the rate of \$133.34 (one hundred thirty-three dollars and thirty-four cents) per month.

- 5. Employee health insurance premium contributions will be made on a pre-tax basis, in accordance with applicable law.
- 6. The City shall offer members of the bargaining unit the opportunity to participate in a "Section 125 Flexible Spending Plan" with a cap of \$5,000 for dependent care and a cap of \$5,000 for medical care, such plan to be in accordance with applicable Internal Revenue Service regulations.
- C. <u>Annuity Plan</u>: Teachers will be eligible to participate in a "tax-sheltered" annuity plan established pursuant to United States Public Law No. 87-370 except that the City Treasurer and the Chief Operating Officer will set up guidelines to establish enrollment and renewal dates and that deduction be in the same amount from each check in round amounts; i.e., no part of a dollar.
- D. <u>Dental Plan</u>: A Dental Plan will be offered effective July 1, 1983. The following contribution, per staff member, per week, shall be made by the School Committee.

Effective Date Amount
September 1, 2016 - August 31, 2017 \$13.00

Said Dental Plan shall be administered exclusively by the Cambridge Public Employees Dental and Vision Fund.

Should the trustees of said fund inform the City and the Association that the fund requires additional payments, the cost of these payments above \$13.00 (thirteen dollars) per week per member shall be shared on a fifty percent (50%) basis between the employer and the employee.

ARTICLE 26 TEXTBOOKS AND INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS

- A. The School Committee will continue its policy of providing sufficient funds to insure that each pupil in classrooms has proper instructional materials, including textbooks, for his own use.
- B. The Committee shall annually establish, at the beginning of the school year, an "Instructional Materials Reimbursement Account" for each member of the bargaining

unit. The purpose of this account shall be to reimburse Unit A & B members for out-of-pocket expenses for classroom and other instructional materials used in the course of their employment with the Cambridge Public Schools. For the period of September 1, 2013 through August 31, 2015, the annual reimbursement amount per individual shall not be more than \$450.00 (four hundred fifty dollars). Effective September 1, 2015 the annual reimbursement amount per individual shall not be more than \$400.00 (four hundred dollars). Effective July 1, 2016, the annual reimbursement amount per individual shall not be more than \$450.00 (four hundred fifty dollars). In consideration for reduction of instructional materials reimbursement, effective September 1, 2015, add \$50.00 (fifty dollars) to the base salary effective as of September 1, 2015.

Unit members shall be reimbursed for purchases made between July 1 and March 1 of any year upon submission of receipts documenting such expenses on an appropriate form as determined by the School Committee in consultation with the Association. Purchases may be made between the months of March 1 and July 1; however, unit members cannot make application for reimbursement for such expenditures until after September 1st of the new school year.

ARTICLE 27 DEDUCTIONS

- A. The Committee agrees to deduct from the salary of its employees dues for the Cambridge Education Association, Massachusetts Teachers Association or the National Education Association or any combination of said Associations as said teachers individually and voluntarily authorize the Committee to deduct, and to transmit the monies promptly to such Associations. Teacher authorizations will be in writing on the legally permissible form provided by the Association.
- B. Each of the Associations named in Section A will certify to the Committee in writing the current rate of its membership dues. Any association which will change the rate of its membership dues will give the Committee thirty (30) days written notice prior to the effective date of such change.
- C. Deductions referred to in Section A above will be made in equal monthly installments during the school year. The Committee will not be required to honor for any month's deduction any authorizations that are delivered to it later than one (1) week prior to the preparation of the payroll from which the deductions are to be made.
- D. If it is mechanically feasible, the Committee agrees to deduct from teachers' salaries for National Education Association and/or Massachusetts Teachers Association services and programs as said teachers individually and voluntarily authorize the Committee to deduct and to transmit the monies promptly to such Association or Associations. The procedures governing notification to the Committee, the frequency and manner of deduction, revocation of authorization, and the like, will be similar to those set forth above regarding dues deductions, to the extent that those procedures are appropriate. It is expressly

- understood that any deductions which a teacher may authorize the Committee to make from his earnings will be deducted in equal installments from each paycheck received by said teacher during the year.
- E. Agency Service Fee: The Committee agrees to require (during the term of this Agreement) that all employees covered by this Agreement except those employees certified to the Committee by the Association as being members of the Association, as of the thirtieth (30th) day of such employment or the effective date of this Agreement, whichever is later, pay to the Association an agency service fee. This provision is contingent upon compliance by the Association with all of the requirements, including ratification requirements, set forth in Section 178L(6) of the General Laws, or elsewhere in the General Laws. The Association further agrees as a condition of this provision to admit to membership any members of the bargaining unit who may apply for membership and to indemnify and save the School Committee harmless for any action it may take pursuant to this provision, including any claims made against it by any employee, or group of employees.
- F. Should the Cambridge Education Association contract for a teachers' dental plan, independent of the City of Cambridge, the School Committee will authorize the use of its facilities in support of a payroll deduction system.

ARTICLE 28 RECOMMENDATIONS

- A-1. The Committee and the Association agree that a faculty committee in a school is an excellent procedure for open and effective communication between a Principal/Head of Upper School and his/her staff.
- A-2. The faculty committee shall be elected on a representative basis. Such committee will also include CEA faculty representatives and Cambridge Education Association officers on the staff. Such committee shall meet to review and discuss mutual concerns and make recommendations for their solution. Meetings of the faculty committee with the Principal/Head of Upper School shall be held at least once a month during the school year.
- A-3. The faculty advisory committee will also serve as an advisor to the Principal/Head of Upper School concerning the content for in-building early release days, including, but not limited to, professional development activities.
- A-4. For the faculty committee to function effectively, recommendations must be given due consideration in decisions that are made. It is recognized, however, that the Principal/Head of Upper School, by virtue of his/her position, has the ultimate responsibility for administration of the school.

- A-5. Said faculty committee shall be optional and need for such shall be determined by the consent of the staff. A positive vote of the staff indicates that the faculty committee shall be established.
- B. For the life of this Contract there shall be elected by the school staff an Advisory Board that shall meet directly with the Superintendent of Schools to discuss and advise upon matters of curriculum, including major district-wide program initiatives, personnel and other professional issues relating to the schools. The composition of the Advisory Board and its meeting frequency will be agreed upon between the Superintendent and the President of the Cambridge Education Association.

The Board has the power to pass resolutions and make recommendations, but adoption of the same is at the discretion of the Superintendent and subject to the action of the School Committee. This Board is to deal with general policy issues only and is not to be confused with any type of negotiating council, bargaining group, or forum for individual complaints.

ARTICLE 29 GENERAL

- A. There will be no reprisals of any kind taken against any teacher by reason of his membership in the Association or participation in its activities.
- B. The Committee will see that no promotional procedures are scheduled so as to be in conflict with professional meetings of the Association.
- C. Teachers will be entitled to full rights of citizenship and no religious or political activities of any teacher, or the lack thereof, will be grounds for any discipline or discrimination with respect to the professional employment of such teacher.
- D. The Committee will, upon request, provide the Association with any public documents which will assist the Association in developing intelligent, accurate, informed and constructive programs on behalf of the teachers and their students.
- E. A copy of the official Agenda of each School Committee meeting will be given to the Association at the same time it is made available to the School Committee. A copy of the official report of each meeting, containing public documents will be given to the Association after the minutes are approved by the Committee.
- F. The Association and the Committee will share equally the cost of printing an initial one thousand two hundred and fifty (1,250) copies of this Agreement. A copy will be supplied for each teacher. Either party may print additional copies at their own expense.
- G. If any provisions of the Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee, or group of employees, shall be found to be contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by

- law, but all other provisions or applications will continue in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.
- H. This Agreement constitutes Committee policy and Administrative policy and administrative regulations for the term of said Agreement with respect to commitments contained therein, and the Committee and the Administration will carry out those commitments and give them full force and effect as Committee policy and Administrative regulations.
- I. Subject to the approval of the Superintendent and scheduling problems, whenever a member of the professional staff dies during the school year, the school involved will be closed for a sufficient length of time to allow the staff or department members sufficient time to attend the funeral services. Each building or department will send two (2) representatives to attend the funeral, such representatives to be designated by the appropriate supervisor.
- J. In-service academic administrative courses and workshops should be provided making use of the personnel from colleges and universities and giving consideration to qualified personnel from within the Cambridge School system.
- K. Every effort will be made to equally distribute school facilities and equipment throughout the school system.
- L. The Association shall be notified of all special Committee meetings.
- M. It is recognized that members of the community have the right to visit classrooms provided they comply with published established administrative procedures in doing so, including prior notification of the teacher involved.
- N-1. No teacher with professional status shall be laid off as a result of a reduction in force if that teacher with professional status is qualified for a position occupied by a teacher with less seniority in the Cambridge School system, subject to the provisions of paragraph (a).
 - a. No minority teacher will be laid off as a result of a reduction in force.

 "Minorities" means those racial/ethnic groups defined by the City of Cambridge School Department definitions in its racial balance plans of September 1, 1980.
 - b. The term "qualified" as used herein shall mean having on file with the Committee, prior to any layoff notice, evidence of certification required pursuant to G.L.c. 71, Section 38G and meeting the program requirements and other qualifications for the position in question.
 - c. In the event of a proposed layoff, the Committee shall determine the programs and curriculum to be retained, modified or added. The School Committee will consult with the Cambridge Education Association concerning the qualifications and program requirements for the retention of teachers in positions in the school

- system prior to promulgating such qualifications and program requirements for the ensuing school year.
- d. In the event that it is determined by the School Committee that, in the application of this Article, a teacher's qualifications render him/her ineligible for any position held by a less senior teacher, then said teacher shall have the right to be retrained so as to qualify for an existing position within the school system.
- e. Retraining: The following process shall be implemented for the retraining of staff:
 - i. The School Committee reserves the right to establish reasonable and suitable methods of retraining as is required under this Article.
 - ii. The expense of the reasonable and suitable methods of retraining shall be borne by the School Committee.
 - iii. A teacher must have by May 15 a certification and/or a letter from the State Department of Education stating that the teacher has completed all requirements for certification and that the certificate of certification is in process of being issued and/or present clear evidence that he/she shall complete all the requirements for certification by June 30.
 - iv. A teacher must have successfully completed any prescribed training program prior to the start of the school year, providing that the standards established for the course(s) are reasonable.
 - v. Teachers entitled to retraining must identify, by seniority, from a list of possible positions provided by the Superintendent, only one position for which he or she seeks to become qualified. There shall be only one such round of identification.
 - vi. Teachers given notice of layoff shall be entitled to execute "waivers" in the form attached hereto. (See appendix.)
 - vii. Teachers on layoff status may participate in the retraining identification process set forth above.
- N-2. A teacher with professional status laid off pursuant to Section N-1 above shall have rights as follows to vacancies occurring within the first twenty-four (24) months following the first day of his/her layoff:
 - a. Laid off teachers will be recalled to vacancies in programs in which they last taught as listed below by seniority (last out, first back), except as prescribed in Article 29, N-1 (c).

- b. Any vacancies in the programs listed below which remain unfilled after recall within programs will be offered to laid off teachers certified for such vacancies according to seniority, provided that the Superintendent so recommends, which recommendation will not be unreasonably withheld.
- c. For the purpose of this section, programs will be those programs and qualifications determined by the School Committee in consultation with the Cambridge Education Association pursuant to Article 29, N-1 (c).
- d. Vacancy means any open full-time position that exists in the bargaining unit. It is understood that the term vacancy does not apply to openings of short duration, or of a temporary nature.
- e. Notification of recall shall be by certified or registered mail return receipt requested sent to the last home address listed in the teacher's personnel folder. Any teacher who does not file an acceptance in writing of the offer of recall with the Executive Director of Human Resources within fifteen (15) calendar days of the delivery to said last home address shall lose all recall rights.
- f. Teachers recalled after layoff shall be placed on the salary step appropriate under School Committee leave of absence policy and practice for teachers who have been absent from work.
- g. Unless there are extraordinary circumstances, sixty calendar days (60) notice exclusive of customary vacation periods shall be given to any teacher before his or her layoff.
- h. Laid-off members may continue their group health, life and other similar city benefits coverage in accordance with applicable law.
- i. Any teacher on lay-off who wishes to substitute shall so inform the Office of the Superintendent upon layoff. Such teachers shall have first preference for substitute calls.
- O. No teacher with professional status shall be discharged or otherwise disciplined without just cause.
- P. Procedures and forms for evaluation of administrators will be developed and implemented.
- Q. The Committee will publish annually an updated seniority list prior to April 15th.
- R. 1. The school department shall reimburse each member of the bargaining unit who purchases one, up to 65% of the cost of a "T" pass, up to a maximum of \$60 per month.

- 2. Hubway Membership: Effective three months after ratification, the City shall offer Hubway membership to unit members on the same terms as non-union employees.
- S. In order to foster a stronger, more collaborative relationship with the Association, the Cambridge School Department agrees to seek Association input before any merger or closure of schools is recommended to the Cambridge School Committee. The purpose of this clause is so that the Association and the administration can assist one another in making any such merger or closure a more positive and supportive experience for our members. This clause is not intended to diminish the administration's managerial rights. Nor is it intended to waive the Association's contractual and legal rights.
- T. A teacher in a high school will report to the Principal or Assistant Principal, Dean and, in the elementary school, to the school Principal or Assistant Principal, and in the upper school campus to the building Principal, Assistant Principal or Upper School Administrator, the name of any pupil who violates rules of the school. The supervisor may request a written report. Within ten (10) days, the supervisor will notify the teacher, in writing, of his disposition of the case and his reasons for his decision.
- U. During the first three (3) consecutive school years of service, the employees in the position of occupational therapist and physical therapist will be subject to annual renewal or non-renewal of their contracts. Once an occupational therapist or physical therapist has started his/her fourth year of service in the Cambridge Public Schools, he/she will be regarded as an employee whose employment is subject to just cause and is not subject to annual renewal/non-renewal provided that he/she has a current valid license in effect.

ARTICLE 30 NO STRIKE

During the term of this Agreement, the Association agrees that they will not cause, condone, sanction or participate in any strike, walkout, slowdown, or work stoppage. If, during the term of this Agreement, new state or federal legislation becomes effective which allows any practice precluded by the preceding, the School Committee or the Cambridge Education Association may re-open negotiations on this article.

The Association and its members individually and collectively agree that if there is a violation of this clause, any or all teachers violating this clause will, at the discretion of the Committee, be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge, suspension, or complete loss of seniority, and the matter will not be arbitratable.

ARTICLE 31 SCHOOL COMMITTEE RIGHTS

Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to derogate from or impair any power, right or duty heretofore possessed by the School Committee, or to change any rule or policy adopted

prior to the date of the acceptance of this Agreement, except where such right, power, duty, rule or policy is specifically limited or changed by this Contract.

ARTICLE 32 EMERGENCIES

In the event of an emergency, the Committee shall have the right to make necessary changes in the provisions of this Contract for the best interests of all pupils and teachers for the duration thereof. The School Committee will consult with the Cambridge Education Association before taking any action if possible.

New construction of school buildings which involves the demolition of buildings and the displacement of pupils will constitute an emergency under this Article.

ARTICLE 33 VOLUNTARY CAREER CHANGE OPTION

The Committee and the Association agree to a career change option which shall include the following features:

The purpose of this plan is to facilitate a voluntary change in career for those teachers desiring to afford themselves of this opportunity.

This option to facilitate retraining in another career will be available, on a voluntary basis, to not more than fifteen (15) teachers in any year. This plan is open to specific types of teaching personnel identified by the School Committee by January 1st of each year after consultation with the C.E.A. To be eligible, teachers must have at least fifteen (15) full years of active full-time service in the Cambridge Public Schools. Teachers electing this option will be granted either a half-year leave at full pay or a full-year at half pay. A decision to elect this option shall be irrevocable and must be accompanied by a letter of resignation or retirement to take effect immediately upon termination of the leave. This letter must be received no later than February 15. The leave will take place effective the following September or February depending on the option approved.

However, this option will be offered at the discretion of the School Committee.

ARTICLE 34 JOB SHARING

1-A. For the purpose of this Agreement, job sharing will mean the occupation of a single staff position by two (2) individuals with each assignment being half-time. In order for a shared position to be approved, the two (2) individuals must complete an application for such on a form mutually agreed upon by the Committee and the Association.

- 1-B. Applications for job sharing shall be filed by the teacher(s) with the Committee and the Association prior to February 15 of the school year preceding the effective date of job sharing. Teachers shall be informed of their job sharing assignment prior to the close of school in June, if possible.
- 1-C. The teacher partners shall be teachers with professional status in the Cambridge School Department.
- 1-D. The Committee shall consult with the Association concerning the evaluation of the program.
- 1-E. No teacher in the System shall be involuntarily transferred in order to create job-sharing positions.
- 1-F. Job sharing assignments shall be for a period of one year and shall terminate at the end of each school year.
- 1-G. When a job sharing position is terminated, the teacher(s) will be assigned to the same position which he/she left prior to job sharing, if available. If that position is not available, he/she will be assigned to a substantially equivalent position.
- 1-H. When a teacher is being selected for job sharing by the Superintendent, the teacher's certification, area of competence, major and/or minor fields of study, quality of teaching performance, and the number of potential job sharing requests in the program or building shall be the criteria used. All factors being approximately equal, seniority shall prevail.

2. COMPENSATION:

- A. Teaching salary will be pro-rated at 50%. The experience and educational step for the teacher will be the same as he/she would be entitled to if employed on a full-time basis. This step will determine the base salary from which the salary fraction (50%) will be computed.
- B. Seniority will accrue to a person in a job sharing position on a pro-rata basis.
- C. Sick and personal leave will be pro-rated at 50%.
- D. Fringe benefits will be pro-rated at 50%. The cost of the fringe benefit package shall not exceed full family benefits for a full-time employee.

ARTICLE 35 CODE OF ETHICS

It is agreed that the NEA Code of Ethics and the Massachusetts Association of School Committee Code of Ethics shall indicate the principles both parties adhere to.

ARTICLE 36 NEW TEACHER ORIENTATION AND TRAINING

All newly hired teachers shall be required to participate in a new teacher orientation program for not more than twelve (12) hours duration during the week prior to the opening of school, at no additional compensation. This orientation program will be developed by the School Department and the Association.

In addition, all newly hired teachers shall be required to participate in a new teacher training program developed by the School Department and the Association. This program will have a maximum time commitment of not more than twenty-five (25) hours duration over the school year. This program will be without additional compensation, but the School Department will provide PDP's and increment or Master's Plus for incremental credit to the participants. Individuals who are selected to serve as mentors for a new teacher under the New Teacher Induction Program will receive a stipend of \$2,000 (two thousand dollars) for serving as a mentor to a new teacher during the new teacher's first year in the Cambridge Public Schools. Individuals who are selected to serve as a mentor for two or more new teachers under the New Teacher Induction Program, during the teachers' first year in the Cambridge Public Schools, will receive a stipend of \$2,500 (two thousand five hundred dollars). Individuals who are selected to serve as mentors for a new teacher under the New Teacher Induction Program will receive a stipend of \$1,000 (one thousand dollars) for serving as a mentor to a new teacher during a new teacher's second year in the Cambridge Public Schools. Individuals who are selected to serve as mentors for two or more new teachers under the New Teacher Induction Program during the teachers' second year will receive a stipend of \$1,500 (one thousand five hundred dollars).

<u>ARTICLE 37</u> TEACHERS PROVIDING SERVICES TO STUDENTS PURSUANT TO THE I.D.E.A.

A. The Cambridge Public Schools and the Cambridge Education Association concur that a full continuum of services and full range of delivery models shall be available to all students receiving services pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), as determined by their Individualized Education Programs (IEP). The Cambridge Public Schools and the Cambridge Education Association concur that all students are entitled to education in regular classrooms, in accordance with the IDEA, in the Least Restrictive Environment, and they are mutually committed to fulfilling this objective in all schools and programs throughout the system.

- B-1. The assignment of students receiving services pursuant to the IDEA to regular classrooms in all schools and programs throughout the Cambridge School System shall be made consistent with applicable state and federal law, the determination of the student's TEAM and the Cambridge school assignment policies. Nothing in this article is intended to affect the legal rights of any student in the Cambridge Public Schools.
- B-2. All members of the bargaining units shall be eligible to participate in training programs for educating students receiving services pursuant to the IDEA. Teachers shall be consulted in the design, scheduling and implementation of this training. Priority shall be given to training teachers who are assigned students receiving services pursuant to the IDEA.
- B-3. Teachers shall not be requested nor required to perform any medical procedures (such as clean intermittent catheterization, injections, suction, gavage feeding and drainage) or custodial care procedures (such as diapering, toileting and tube feeding) for students. Teachers may be required to attend training on such procedures in order to be prepared to respond in an emergency situation. Such training shall be during the teacher's duty day, or the teacher shall receive compensation at the workshop rate for training taken during non-duty time.
- B-4. The assigned regular classroom teacher during the school year or the next receiving teacher at the end of the school year (if identified) and/or general educator representative who has knowledge of the grade level and /or curriculum shall assist in the development of the IEP at the TEAM meeting. Said teacher will be released from other assignments/duties as needed for this purpose. In compliance with Article 10, Section A, every effort will be made to identify the receiving teacher prior to the end of the school year.
- B-5 A regular classroom teacher has the right to request through the TEAM chairperson a reconvening of the TEAM to review, amend, or terminate the IEP, in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations. This meeting will be scheduled in accordance with applicable law.
- B-6 A regular classroom teacher shall be consulted prior to the selection of his/her support staff providing services to students receiving services pursuant to the IDEA. Teachers will be involved in interviews of such support staff. Training will be provided for such support staff.
- C. In an effort to enhance the advancement of the District's effort to fulfill its goals, the Association and the Committee will establish the following procedure to consider any concerns of regular classroom teachers regarding students assigned to their classes who are receiving services pursuant to the IDEA:
 - 1. The regular classroom teacher discusses his/her concerns with the Principal/Head of Upper School. If not resolved,

- 2. The regular classroom teacher discusses his/her concerns with the Director or Assistant Director of the Office of Student Services. If not resolved,
- 3. The regular classroom teacher discusses his/her concerns with the Superintendent or designee.
- D. The parties agree that the Association and the Committee shall utilize the following procedure to address policy issues regarding the assignment of students subject to services pursuant to the IDEA;
 - 1. The Superintendent and appropriate administrative staff agree to meet with the Association to discuss any specific policy concerns.
 - 2. The policy concerns will be reviewed by the Superintendent and other appropriate administrative staff.
 - 3. The Superintendent and/or other appropriate administrative staff will then hold a follow-up meeting with the Association.

The District agrees to eliminate the first step from all the lanes, effective September 1, 2014, replacing it with a ten step system where the old step two, (subject to agreed wage changes) becomes the new step one, old step three becomes the new step two, etc. This change is in explicit recognition of the increased health insurance premium costs that new members will face effective September 1, 2014. Current employees not at the top step will be placed on the appropriate step to receive the regular dollar amount increase (plus COLA adjustments) provided in the current step system (including those who change lanes).

TEACHER SALARY SCHEDULE

NOTE: The following salary schedule is effective September 1, 2016 and reflects a 2.00% Increase

Step	BAC	MAS	M15	M30	M45	M60	DOC
1	51,326.50	54,991.43	57,726.51	60,461.58	61,615.30	62,523.38	64,129.39
2	52,920.76	56,578.52	59,321.18	62,067.32	63,221.05	64,129.64	65,720.78
3	55,721.85	59,385.98	62,136.20	64,878.45	66,032.17	66,939.95	68,541.95
4	58,395.20	62,067.32	64,807.34	67,563.29	68,715.58	69,624.40	71,222.49
5	61,064.27	64,730.65	67,480.07	70,228.05	71,382.56	72,289.39	73,888.05
6	63,881.14	67,558.38	70,312.72	73,066.45	74,217.72	75,126.95	76,740.00
7	67,368.54	71,248.41	74,154.05	77,058.56	78,273.79	79,232.11	80,933.89
8	71,047.20	75,140.79	78,205.58	81,270.38	82,552.68	83,564.43	85,359.42
9	74,928.21	79,246.89	82,481.07	85,714.10	87,066.88	88,133.20	90,028.23
10	83,700.84	88,404.89	91,298.03	95,038.08	96,245.35	97,159.34	98,900.90

In addition to the annual step schedule specified above, teachers are eligible for additional salary steps which are based upon completion of years of total service to the Cambridge School system. These service steps, payable on or before December 1 of each year, are as follows;

Service Steps	<u>9/1/16 - 8/31/17</u>
Completion of 12 years service until the completion of 15 years.	\$596
After the 15th year until the completion of 20 years.	1,039
After the 20th year until the completion of 25 years.	2,505
After the 25th year of service until severance from the system.	3,648

Calculation of years of service for service steps shall be made on September 30th of each year.

Through August 31, 1985, all Committee approved leaves (paid and unpaid) will be used in the computation toward total years of service. From September 1, 1985, only contractually specified leaves will be used in the computation toward total years of service up to a maximum of two years. Effective September 1, 1988, unpaid leaves, except for contractually specified unpaid medical leaves up to one year (Article 19, Section C), shall not be included in the calculation of service.

The Service Step shall not be applicable to any member of the bargaining unit newly hired or transferred into the unit with an employment starting date after January 1, 1995.

Master's Equivalency for Teachers of Trade Subjects

The awarding of Master's equivalency applies only to teachers of trade subjects (which are currently defined as automotive, carpentry, graphic communication – print, and culinary arts) who are appointed directly from a trade training background as opposed to an academic training background and who have at least eight years of practical experience in their respective trade immediately prior to being appointed a trade teacher in the Cambridge Public Schools. Master's equivalency would be awarded after such a trade teacher completes three full consecutive years of service as a trade teacher within the Cambridge Public Schools.

The determination as to whether an individual is eligible for the awarding of Master's equivalency will be examined on a case-by-case basis and will be a determination that is made at the discretion of the Superintendent.

Career/Technical Education

Career/Technical Education shop teachers who are required to work more than the twenty-five (25) period per week specified in Article 5, Section E-1 of this contract will be paid the following stipends upon the condition that they obtain and maintain personal and program certification:

\$2,539 effective September 1, 2002

Career/Technical Education teachers who voluntarily teach more than three blocks per day or fifteen blocks per week as specified in Article 5, Section E-1 of this contract will be paid a stipend of \$4,000 (four thousand dollars) per block (pro rata for less than five (5) days per week) per semester upon the condition that they obtain and maintain personal and program certification.

<u>Teacher Stipends</u> <u>Effective September 1, 2002</u>

Adjustment Counselor/Mediation Specialist	\$1,289
Guidance Counselor	1,289
Psychologist	1,289
Registered Physical Therapist	1,289
Occupational Therapist	1,289
Special Class Teacher (Teaching mainly prototype	
502.4 educable-trainable, multiple handicapped	
or emotionally disturbed students.)	1,605
Pre-School Special Needs Class Teacher	2,269
Teacher-in-Charge	3,215
District-wide Instructional Support Coach	3,215
CRLS Instructional Coach	2,500
Lead Teacher/Teacher Leader	3,215
Program Facilitator	3,215
Teacher Advisory Program	2,342

Effective September 1, 2013, Teachers-in-Charge, Teacher Leaders and Lead Teachers who evaluate members of the bargaining unit shall receive a stipend of \$3,119.00 (three thousand one hundred nineteen dollars) annually per ten summative evaluations. Such stipend will be payable upon completion of the evaluation cycle. The stipend will be pro-rated for fewer summative evaluations, and the number of evaluations shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee.

Effective September 1, 2010 there will be the following additional teacher stipend:

School-Based k-8 Literacy and Mathematics Instructional Coach 2,500

District-wide Instructional Support Coach, CLRS Instructional Coach and School-Based K-8 Literacy and Mathematics Instructional Coach stipends will not be pro-rated unless the employee is appointed as less than 1.0 FTE. In that event, the stipend will be pro-rated based on the individual's total appointed FTE.

Part-Time Learning Disabilities Teachers

The part-time L.D. teachers currently working twenty hours per week shall be paid a two thirds (66.67%) pro rata teachers salary beginning September 1, 1982. Effective this date the part-time L.D. teacher (former L.D. tutor) shall be expected to fulfill all requirements of a regular teacher except that the length of the teaching assignment shall continue to be twenty (20) hours per week.

ADMINISTRATORS SALARY SCHEDULE (RATIO BASED ON MAXIMUM MASTERS DEGREE)

NOTE: The following salary schedule is effective September 1, 2016

	Ratio	1st Year	Ratio	2nd Year	Ratio	3rd Year	Ratio	4th Year
Assistant Principal (9-12)	1.35	119,346.61	1.40	123,766.85	1.45	128,187.09	1.50	132,607.34
Assistant Principal (K-8)	1.15	101,665.62	1.20	106,085.88	1.25	110,506.12	1.33	117,578.51
Coord (K-12) /Asst Director	1.20	106,085.88	1.25	110,506.12	1.30	114,926.36	1.37	121,114.71
Dean of Students	1.18	104,317.78	1.23	108,738.02	1.28	113,158.26	1.35	119,346.61
Director/Admin/DeanCurrProg	1.25	110,506.12	1.30	114,926.36	1.35	119,346.61	1.40	123,766.85

Appendix C: Salary Schedules September 1, 2016 - August 31, 2017

Extra Curricular Activities Applicable only to the High School

It is understood that payment is authorized only for meetings which are conducted after the regularly scheduled school days established under the terms of this Contract.

Payment for the months of September through December will be made at the end of December. Payment for months of January through June will be made at the end of June.

If the school department chooses to fill any of the positions set forth below, the following rates will apply:

ADVISORS

School Newspaper	\$3,782.00
Yearbook	3,782.00
Wilderness Club	3,782.00
Senior Class Advisor	3,782.00
Alpine Ski Club	3,782.00
Student Council	1,769.00
National Honor Society	3,000.00
CRLS Debate Team	2,000.00
Academic Decathlon	2,000.00
Science Team	2,000.00
Chess Team	2,000.00
Student Government Advisor	2,500.00
CRLS Advance Placement Coordinator	3,500.00
Asian Club	600.00
Black Student Union	600.00
French Club	600.00
Haitian Club	600.00
Italian Club	600.00
Junior Class Advisor	600.00
Mock Trial	600.00
Physical Fitness	600.00

Portuguese Club	600.00
Project 10 East	600.00
Spanish	600.00
United/National History	600.00
U.S. First/Robotics	600.00
Video Club	600.00
Step Team	600.00
Others	600.00

Stipends are prorated for less than full completion of club advisor duties.

Other service agreements issued by the school department during the life of this agreement will be paid at the rates set forth in the service agreements.

Other Salary Schedule September 1, 2016 to August 31, 2017

A.	Driver Education	19.29
В.	Night School and Adult Education Teachers a. Without experience b. With experience	21.72 24.12
C.	Summer School Teachers Effective as of July 1, 2017	30.90 34.00
D.	Evening School Principal	35.37
E.	Summer School Principal Effective as of July 1, 2017	37.08 40.00

- F. The hourly rate for after school learning centers/extended day/homework center/after school MCAS tutorial prep teachers will be will be \$30.00 per hour.
- G. The hourly rate for site coordinators will be \$32.00 per hour. Effective as of July 1, 2017 the hourly rate for site coordinators will be \$35.00 per hour.

Annual ten (10) month salary will be paid in twenty-four (24) equal installments, payable on the fifteenth (15th) and last day of each month, except that when the fifteenth or last day falls on Saturday or Sunday, the due installment will be paid on the Friday preceding.

Effective September 1, 2002, Unit A music teachers will be paid \$20.31 per hour up to the maximum of \$2,342 per person per school year for night and weekend performances and rehearsals, other than P.T.A. (Parent Teacher Association) meetings, required and approved by Central Administration.

WORKSHOP LEADER RATE

The rates for workshop leaders shall be \$50.00 per contract hour.

WORKSHOP PARTICIPANT RATE

Effective for the period of September 1, 2016 through August 31, 2017, the hourly workshop participant rate will be \$40.00 per hour.

The workshop participant rate only applies to mandatory staff development and/or training under the provisions of Article 5 B-5(A) and Article 5 B-5(B) of the contract.

CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT

All unit members who perform curriculum development work outside of the school day which has been preapproved by the Superintendent or designee that results in written district curriculum that can be disseminated and used within the school district will be paid at a rate of \$30.00 per hour.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Reasonably substantial service agreement opportunities in excess of \$1,000 shall be posted in schools. During vacations (July and August) service agreement postings will be forwarded to the CEA President, to each school building for posting and by placing the notice on the Cambridge School Department's job posting website.

COACHES SALARIES

(GIRLS AND BOYS)

Athletic Coaching Stipends	09/01/16
Baseball Head Coach	6,242
Baseball Freshman Coach	2,081
Baseball JV Coach	3,849
Baseball Varsity Coach	2,081
Basketball Head Coach	6,242
Basketball Freshman Coach	2,081
Basketball JV Coach	3,849
Basketball Varsity Coach	2,081
Cheerleading (Basketball) Advisor	3,121
Cheerleading Coach	3,121
Crew Head Coach	6,242
Crew JV Coach	3,849
Crew Novice Coach	2,081
Cross Country Head Coach	6,242
Football Freshman Coach	2,081
Football Assistant Coach	4,786
Football Head Coach	9,156
Football JV Coach	4,786
Golf Freshman Coach	2,081
Golf Head Coach	6,242
Gymnastics Head Coach	6,242
Gymnastics Freshman Coach	2,081
Gymnastics Assistant Coach	3,849
Hockey Head Coach	6,242
Hockey JV Coach	3,849
Indoor Track Assistant Coach	3,849
Indoor Track Head Coach	6,242
Indoor Track Freshman Coach	2,081
Lacrosse Head Coach	6,242
Lacrosse Freshman Coach	2,081
Lacrosse JV Coach	3,849
Lacrosse Varsity Coach	2,081
Outdoor Track Assistant Coach	3,849
Outdoor Track Head Coach	6,242
Outdoor Track Freshman Coach	2,081
Rugby Head Coach	6,242

Rugby JV Coach	3,849
Learn to Sail Advisor	3,954
Sailing Novice Aide	1,040
Sailing Novice Instructor	1,040
Soccer Head Coach	6,242
Soccer Freshman Coach	2,081
Soccer JV Coach	3,849
Soccer Varsity Coach	2,081
Softball Head Coach	6,242
Softball Freshman Coach	2,081
Softball JV Coach	3,849
Softball Varsity Coach	2,081
Swimming Assistant Coach	3,849
Swimming Head Coach	6,242
Swimming Freshman Coach	2,081
Tennis Head Coach	6,242
Tennis JV Coach	3,849
Volleyball Head Coach	6,242
Volleyball JV Coach	3,849
Volleyball Freshman Coach	2,081
Volleyball Varsity Assistant Coach	2,081
Wrestling Head Coach	6,242
Wrestling JV Coach	3,849
Wrestling Freshman Coach	2,081

Appendix C: Salary Schedules September 1, 2016 – August 31, 2017

VISUAL AND PERFORMING ARTS

A Capella	3,060
All City Band Assistant Director	1,530
All City Band Director	1,530
All City Chorus Assistant Directors (2)	1,530
All City Chorus Director Gr 4-5	1,530
All City Chorus Director Gr 6-8	1,530
All City Orchestra Director	1,530
Band	2,040
Choreographer for Musical	2,040
CRLS Spring Play	3,060
CRLS Winter Play	3,060
Dance Company	6,120
Dance Concept	1,530
Director of CRLS Musical	5,100
Drama Festival Play	5,100
Jazz Ensembles (2)	2,040
Musical Director of CRLS Musical	4,080
Orchestra	2,040
Upper School Band Assistant Director	1,530
Upper School Band Director (Jazz, Rock or Concert Band)	1,530
Upper School Director of Musical	2,040
Upper School Movement Ensemble	1,530
Upper School Music Director of Musical	2,040
Upper School Play	2,040
Upper School Small Ensemble (Percussion, Brass, Choral, String)	1,530

APPENDIX D

Teacher, Caseload Educator and Unit B Administrators Contract Language

Table of Contents

- (1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation
- (2) Definitions
- (3) Evidence Used in Evaluation
- (4) Rubric
- (5) Evaluation Cycle: Training
- (6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation
- (7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment
- (8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Educator Plan Development
- (9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators without PTS and New Administrators
- (10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators with PTS and Experienced Administrators
- (11) Observations
- (12) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment
- (13) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation
- (14) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation
- (15) Educator Plans: General
- (16) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan
- (17) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan
- (18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan
- (19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan
- (20) Timelines
- (21) Career Advancement
- (22) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth
- (23) Using Student feedback in Educator and Administrator Evaluation
- (24) Using Staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation
- (25) General Provisions

- 1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation
 - A) This contract language is locally negotiated and based on M.G.L., c.71, § 38; M.G.L. c.150E; the Educator Evaluation regulations, 603 CMR 35.00 et seq.; and the Model System for Educator Evaluation developed and which may be updated from time to time by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. In the event of a conflict between this collective bargaining agreement and the governing laws and regulations, the laws and regulations will prevail.
 - B) The regulatory purposes of evaluation are:
 - To promote student learning, growth, and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement, enhanced opportunities for professional growth, and clear structures for accountability;
 - To provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions;
 - (ii) To ensure that every school committee has a system to enhance the professionalism and accountability of teachers and administrators that will enable them to assist all students to perform at high levels; and
 - iv) To assure effective teaching and administrative leadership.
- Definitions (* indicates definition is generally based on 603 CMR 35.02)
 - Administrator: Inclusive term that applies to all Administrators covered by this article who are members of CEA Unit B, unless otherwise noted. Administrators may include individuals who serve in positions involving teaching and other direct services to students.
 - *Artifacts of Professional Practice: Educator developed work products and student work samples that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards, and products of an Administrator's work and staff and student work samples that demonstrate the Administrator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards.
 - C) Caseload Educator: Educators who teach or counsel Individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
 - D) Classroom teacher: Educators who teach preK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects as such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
 - E) Categories of Evidence: For Educators, multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice, and for Administrators multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice and

- additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice.
- F) *District-determined Measures: Measures of student learning, growth and achievement related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks, or other relevant frameworks, that are comparable across grade or subject level district-wide. These measures may include, but shall not be limited to: portfolios approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects.
- *Educator(s): Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers and caseload educators, unless otherwise noted.
- *Educator Plan: The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's or Administrator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's or the Administrator's career stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of Educator Plans:
 - i) Developing Educator Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator for one school year or less for an Educator without Professional Teacher Status (PTS), and shall also mean a plan developed by the New Administrator and the Evaluator for one school year or less.
 - ii) Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one or two school years for Educators with PTS who are rated proficient or exemplary, and shall also mean a plan developed by the Administrator for Experienced Administrators who are rated proficient or exemplary.
 - Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement, and shall also mean a plan developed by the Administrator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Experienced Administrators who are rated needs improvement. There shall be a summative evaluation at the end of the period determined by the plan and if the Educator, Educator with PTS, Administrator or Experienced Administrator does not receive a proficient rating and the Educator, Educator with PTS, Administrator or Experienced Administrator may continue on a Directed Growth Plan at the discretion of the Evaluator or shall be placed on an Improvement Plan.
 - Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator and Educator of at least 45 school days and no more than one school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to Improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance, and shall also mean a plan developed by the Evaluator of at least 45 school days and no more than one school year for Experienced Administrators who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Administrator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Administrator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of the school year, the plan many include activities during the summer preceding the next school year.
- 1) *DESE: The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

- J) *Evaluation: The ongoing process of defining goals and identifying, gathering, and using information as part of a process to improve professional performance (the "formative evaluation" and "formative assessment") and to assess total job effectiveness and make personnel decisions (the "summative evaluation").
- *Evaluator: Any person designated by a superintendent who has primary or supervisory responsibility for observation and evaluation. The superintendent is responsible for ensuring that all Evaluators have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation. Each Educator and each Administrator will have one primary Evaluator at any one time responsible for determining performance ratings.
 - Primary Evaluator shall be the person who determines the Educator's or the Administrator's performance ratings and evaluation.
 - ii) Supervising Evaluator shall be the person responsible for developing the Educator Plan, supervising the Educator's or the Administrator's progress. through formative assessments, evaluating the Educator's or the Administrator's progress toward attaining the Educator Plan goals, and making recommendations about the evaluation ratings to the primary Evaluator at the end of the Educator Plan. The Supervising Evaluator may be the primary Evaluator or his/her designee.
 - III) Teaching Staff or Administrators Assigned to More Than One Building:
 Each Educator who is assigned to more than one building will be evaluated by
 the appropriate administrator where the individual is assigned most of the time.
 The principal of each building in which the Educator serves must review and sign
 the evaluation, and may add written comments. In cases where there is no
 predominate assignment, the superintendent will determine who the primary
 evaluator will be. The Superintendent or designee will determine who the
 primary evaluator is for each Administrator who is assigned to more than one
 building.
 - iv) Notification: The Educator or the Administrator shall be notified in writing of his/her primary Evaluator and supervising Evaluator, if any, at the outset of each new evaluation cycle. The Evaluator(s) may be changed upon notification in writing to the Educator or the Administrator.
- Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators and all Administrators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development;
 3) Implementation of the Plan; 4) Formative Assessment/Evaluation; and 5) Summative Evaluation.
- M) *Experienced Educator: An educator with Professional Teacher Status (PTS).
- Experienced Administrator: An administrator who has completed three school years in the same position in the district.
- *Family: Includes students' parents, legal guardians, foster parents, or primary caregivers.

- P) *Formative Assessment: The process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in Educator plans, performance on standards, or both. This process may take place at any time(s) during the cycle of evaluation, but typically takes place at mid-cycle.
- *Formative Evaluation; An evaluation conducted approximately mid-cycle which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan and performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice, and an evaluation which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice.
- *Goal: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator or Administrator practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator or Administrator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement. Goals may be developed by individual Educators or by individual Administrators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators or groups of Administrators who have the same role.
- *Measurable: That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- T) Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Measures must include a combination of classroom, school and district assessments, student growth percentiles on state assessments, it state assessments are available, and student MEPA gain scores.
- U) New Administrator: An administrator who has not completed three years in the position in the district.
- *Observation: A data gathering process that includes notes and judgments made during one or more classroom, school or worksite visits(s) of any duration by the Evaluator and may include examination of artifacts of practice including student work. Classroom or worksite observations conducted pursuant to this article must result in feedback to the Educator or the Administrator. Classroom observations will be at least a minimum of ten (10) minutes in length.
- W) Parties: The parties to this agreement are the Committee and the Association.
- X) *Performance Rating: Describes the Educator's or the Administrator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four performance ratings:
 - Exemplary: the Educator's or the Administrator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall. The rating of exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds proficient and could serve as a model of practice on that standard district-wide.
 - Proficient: the Educator's or the Administrator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
 - Needs Improvement: the Educator's or the Administrator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not

- considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
- Unsatisfactory: the Educator's or the Administrator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's or the Administrator's performance is consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.
- *Performance Standards: Locally developed standards and indicators pursuant to M.G.L. c, 71, § 38 and consistent with, and supplemental to 603 CMR 35.00.
- Z) *Professional Teacher Status: PTS is the status granted to an Educator pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 41.
- AA) Rating of Educator or Administrator impact on Student Learning: A rating of high, moderate or low based on trends and patterns on state assessments and district determined measures. The parties will negotiate the process for using state and district determined measures to arrive at an Educator's or an Administrator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, using guidance and model contract language from DESE and will start the process as soon as possible after DESE issues guidance with a goal to complete this Phase as soon as possible after issuance of said guidance.
- BB) Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
 - l) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - il) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv) Standard 4; Professional Culture
 - Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)
- CC) Rating of Overall Administrative Performance: The Administrator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Administrator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Administrator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
 - i) Standard 1: Instructional Leadership
 - Standard 2: Management and Operations
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - IV) Standard 4: Professional Culture
 - v) Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)

When the four Standards of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice are referenced, it is understood that they may be supplemented or substituted in part in the Educator Plan by appropriate Standards of Effective Teaching Practice for those administrators who also serve as teachers or caseload educators, at the discretion of the evaluator.

- DD) *Rubric: A scoring tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to rate Educators on Performance Standards, and the rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice are used to rate Administrators on Performance Standards, as are Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice in cases where the Administrator teachers. These rubrics consists of:
 - Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice
 - ii) Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard
 - iii) Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
 - iv) Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- EE) *Summative Evaluation: A document used to communicate a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's or the Administrator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's or the Administrator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator's Plan.
- *Superintendent: The person employed by the school committee pursuant to M.C.L. c. 71 §59 and §59A. The superintendent is responsible for the implementation of 603 CMR 35,00.
- *Teacher: An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidence counselors, or school nurses.
- *Trends in student learning: At least two years of data from the district-determined measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's or the Administrator's rating on Impact on student learning as high, moderate or low will be used for required reporting to the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education during the 2015-2016 school year in a manner consistent with state law and regulations and Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education reporting requirements. Thereafter, at least three years of data from the district-determined measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's or Administrator's rating on impact on student learning as high, moderate or low, will be used for required annual reporting to the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education in a manner consistent with state law and regulations and Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education reporting requirements.

3) Evidence Used in Evaluation

The following categories of evidence shall be used in evaluating each Educator and each Administrator:

- Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, which shall include:
 - i) Measures of student progress on classroom assessments that are aligned with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or other relevant frameworks and are comparable within grades or subjects in a school.;
 - ii) At least two district-determined measures of student learning related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or the Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks or other relevant frameworks that are comparable across grades and/or subjects district-wide. These measures may include: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects. One such measure shall be the MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SOP) or Massachusetts English Proficiency Assessment gain scores, if applicable, in which case at least two years of data is required.
 - iii) Measures of student progress and/or achievement toward student learning goals set between the Educator and Evaluator or the Administrator and the Evaluator for the school year or some other period of time established in the Educator Plan.
 - iv) For Educators whose primary role is not as a classroom teacher and for Administrators, the appropriate measures of the Educator's or Administrator's contribution to student learning, growth, and achievement set by the district. The measures set by the district should be based on the Educator's or the Administrator's role and responsibility.
- B) Observations and artifacts of practice including:
 - i) Unannounced observations of practice.
 - ii) Announced observation(s) for non-PTS Educators in their first year of practice in a school, Educators on Improvement Plans, and as determined by the Evaluator.
 - iii) Examination of Educator or Administrator work products.
 - For Educators, examination of student work samples, and for Administrators, examination of student and educator work samples.
- Evidence relevant to one or more Performance Standards, including but not limited to:
 - Evidence compiled and presented by the Educator or the Administrator, including:
 - (a) Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional development linked to goals in the Educator plans, contributions to the school community and professional culture;
 - (b) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families;

- ii) Evidence of progress towards professional practice goal(s);
- iii) Evidence of progress toward student learning outcomes goal(s);
- iv) Student and Staff Feedback; and
- V) Any other relevant evidence from any source that the Evaluator shares with the Educator or the Administrator. Other rejevant evidence could include information provided by other administrators such as the superintendent and/or principals.

4) Rubric

The rubrics are a scoring tool used for the Educator's or the Administrator's self-assessment, the formative evaluation and the summative evaluation and are attached to this Agreement at Rubrics Appendix.

5) Evaluation Cycle: Training

- A) Prior to the implementation of the new evaluation process contained in this article, districts shall arrange training for all Educators, principals, and other Administrators and evaluators that outlines the components of the new evaluation process and provides an explanation of the evaluation cycle. The district through the superintendent, with input from the Association, shall determine the type and quality of training based on guidance provided by ESE.
- By November 1st of the first year of this agreement, all Educators and Administrators shall complete a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting satisfactory to the superintendent or principal. Any Educator or Administrator hired after the November 1st date, and who has not previously completed such an activity, shall complete such a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting within three months of the date of hire. The district through the superintendent, with input from the Association, shall determine the type and quality of the learning activity based on guidance provided by ESE.

6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation

- At the start of each school year, the superintendent, principal or designee shall conduct a meeting or otherwise communicate with Educators, Administrators and Evaluators regarding the educator evaluation process. The superintendent, principal or designee shall:
 - Provide an overview of the evaluation process, including goal setting and the educator plans.
 - Provide all Educators and Administrators with directions for obtaining a copy of the forms used by the district. These may be electronically provided and coples of these forms are attached at Forms Appendix. Additionally, forms substantially based on model forms issued by the DESE may be added to the electronic evaluation forms library as necessary.
 - iii) The meeting may be digitally recorded to facilitate orientation of Educators and Administrators hired after the beginning of the school year.

7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment

- A) Completing the Self-Assessment
 - i) The evaluation cycle begins with the Educator or the Administrator completing and submitting to the Primary or Supervising Evaluator a self-assessment by October 15th or within four weeks of the start of their employment at the school.
 - ii) The self-assessment includes:
 - (a) An analysis of evidence of student learning, growth and achievement for students under the Educator's or the Administrator's responsibility.
 - (b) An assessment of practice against each of the four Performance Standards of effective practice using the district's rubric.
 - (c) Proposed goals to pursue:
 - (1st) At least one goal directly related to improving the Educator's or the Administrator's own professional practice.
 - (2nd) At least one goal directed related to improving student learning.

B) Proposing the goals

- i) Educators must consider goals for grade-level, subject-area, department teams, or other groups of Educators who share responsibility for student learning and results, except as provided in (ii) below. Educators may meet with teams to consider establishing team goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings. Administrators must consider goals for grade-level, subject-area, department teams, school-level teams, district-level teams or other groups of Administrators who share responsibility for student learning and results, except as provided in (ii) below. Administrators may meet with teams to consider establishing team goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings.
- For Educators in their first year of practice and for New Administrators in their first year in a position, the Evaluator or his/her designee will meet with each Educator by October 15th (or within four weeks of the Educator's or Administrator's first day of employment if the Educator or the Administrator begins employment after September 15th) to assist the Educator or the Administrator in completing the self-assessment and drafting the professional practice and student learning goals which must include induction and mentoring activities.
- iii) Unless the Evaluator indicates that an Educator or a New Administrator in his/her second or third years of practice should continue to address induction and mentoring goals pursuant to 603 CMR 7.12, the Educator may address shared grade level or subject area team goals and the New Administrator may address appropriate shared team goals.
- iv) For Educators with PTS and ratings of proficient or exemplary and for Experienced Administrators with ratings of proficient or exemplary, the goals may be team goals. In addition, these Educators and Administrators may include

- individual professional practice goals that address enhancing skills that enable the Educator or the Administrator to share proficient practices with colleagues or develop leadership skills.
- v) For Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory and for Experienced Administrators with ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory, the professional practice goal(s) must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.

8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Development of the Educator Plan

- A) Every Educator and every Administrator has an Educator Plan that includes, but is not limited to, one goal related to the improvement of practice; one goal for the improvement of student learning. The Plan also outlines actions the Educator or the Administrator must take to attain the goals established in the Plan and benchmarks to assess progress. Goals may be developed by individual Educators or by individual Administrators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators or Administrators who have the similar roles and/or responsibilities. See Sections 15-19 for more on Educator Plans.
- B) To determine the goals to be included in the Educator Plan, the Evaluator reviews the goals the Educator or the Administrator has proposed in the Self-Assessment, using evidence of Educator or Administrator performance and impact on student learning, growth and achievement based on the Educator's or the Administrator's self-assessment and other sources that Evaluator shares with the Educator or the Administrator.
- C) Educator Plan Development Meetings shall be conducted as follows:
 - i) Educators in the same school may meet with the Evaluator in teams and/or individually at the end of the previous evaluation cycle or by October 15th of the next academic year to develop their Educator Plan. Educators shall not be expected to meet during the summer hlatus. Administrators meet with the Evaluator at the end of the previous evaluation cycle or by October 15th to develop their Educator Plan. Administrators working on an extended year schedule may meet during the summer hiatus.
 - ii) For those Educators new to the school and for those Administrators new to the school or district, the meeting with the Evaluator to establish the Educator Plan must occur by October 15th or within six weeks of the start of their essignment in that school.
 - iii) The Evaluator shall meet individually with Educators with PTS and Experienced Administrators with ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory to develop professional practice goal(s) that must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject matter goals.
- D) The Evaluator completes the Educator Plan by November 1st. The Educator or the Administrator shall sign the Educator Plan within 5 school days of its receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's or the Administrator's signature indicates that the Educator or the Administrator received the plan in a timely fashion. The signature

does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents. The Evaluator retains final authority over the content of the Educator's Plan.

- Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators without PTS and New Administrators
 - In the first year of practice or first year assigned to a school;
 - The Educator shall have at least one announced observation during the school year using the protocol described in section 11B, below.
 - The Educator shall have at least four unannounced observations during the school year.
 - B) In their second and third years of practice or second and third years as a non-PTS Educator in the school:
 - The Educator shall have at least three unannounced observations during the school year.
 - C) New Administrators in the first year in a position shall have at least four unannounced observations during the work year.
 - In their second and third years in the position, Administrators shall have at least three unannounced observations during the work year.
- 10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts -- Educators with PTS and Experienced Administrators
 - A) The Educator and the Administrator whose overall rating is proficient or exemplary must have at least one unannounced observation during the evaluation cycle.
 - B) The Educator and the Administrator whose overall rating is needs improvement must be observed according to the Directed Growth Plan during the period of Plan which must include at least two unannounced observetions.
 - The Educator and the Administrator whose overall rating is unsatisfactory must be observed according to the improvement Plan which must include both unannounced and announced observations. The number and frequency of the observations shall be determined by the Evaluator, but in no case, for improvement plans of one year, shall there be fewer than one announced and four unannounced observations. For improvement Plans of six months or fewer, there must be no fewer than one announced and two unannounced observations.

11) Observations

The Evaluator's first observation of the Educator or the Administrator should take place by November 16. Observations required by the Educator Plan should be completed by April 1st. The Evaluator may conduct additional observations after this date.

The Evaluator is not required nor expected to review all the Indicators in a rubric during an observation.

A) Unannounced Observations

- I) For Educators, unannounced observations may be in the form of partial or full-period classroom visitations, instructional Rounds, Walkihroughs, Learning Walks, or any other means deemed useful by the Evaluator, principal, superintendent or other administrator. For Administrators, unannounced observations may be in the form of a school site or work site visitation or any other means deemed useful by the Evaluator. Visitations may include, but are not limited to, staff meetings, team meetings, classroom visits with supervising evaluator, walkthroughs, learning walks or individual conferences with students or parents/guardians. The Educator or the Administrator will be provided with at least brief written feedback from the Evaluator within 3-5 school days of the observation. The written feedback shall be delivered to the Educator or the Administrator in person, by email or other means of electronic/digital delivery, placed in the Educator's or the Administrator's mailbox or mailed to the Educator's or the Administrator's home.
- ii) Any observation or series of observations resulting in one or more standards judged to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement for the first time must be followed by at least one observation of at least 30 minutes in duration within 30 school days.

B) Announced Observations

- All non-PTS Educators in their first year in the school, PTS Educators on Improvement Plans, all Experienced Administrators on Improvement Plans and other Educators and Administrators at the discretion of the evaluator shall have at least one Announced Observation.
 - (a) The Evaluator shall select the date and time of the lesson or activity to be observed and discuss with the Educator or the Administrator any specific goal(s) for the observation.
 - (b) Within 5 school days of the scheduled observation, upon request of either the Evaluator, Educator or Administrator, the Evaluator and Educator or the Evaluator and Administrator shall meet for a preobservation conference, in lieu of a meeting, the Educator or the Administrator may inform the Evaluator in writing of the nature of the lesson or activity, the student population or purpose served, the desired outcome and any other information that will assist the Evaluator to assess performance
 - (1st) The Educator shall provide the Evaluator a draft of the lesson, student conference, IEP plan or activity. The Administrator shall provide the Evaluator with a draft of the activity plan or agenda. If the actual plan or agenda is different, the Educator or the Administrator will provide the Evaluator with a copy prior to the observation.
 - (2nd) The Educator or the Administrator will be notified as soon as possible if the Evaluator will not be able to attend the scheduled

observation. The observation will be rescheduled with the Educator or the Administrator as soon as reasonably practical.

- (a) Within 5 school days of the observation, the Evaluator and Educator or the Evaluator and Administrator shall meet for a post-observation conference. This timeframe may be extended due to unavailability on the part of either the Evaluator, the Educator or the Administrator, but shall be rescheduled within 24 hours if possible.
- (d) The Evaluator shall provide the Educator or the Administrator with written feedback within 5 school days of the post-observation conference. For any standard where the Educator's or the Administrator's practice was found to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement, the feedback must;
 - (1st) Describe the basis for the Evaluator's judgment.
 - (2nd) Describe actions the Educator or the Administrator should take to improve his/her performance.
 - (3rd) Identify support and/or resources the Educator or the Administrator may use in his/her improvement.
 - (4th) State that the Educator or the Administrator is responsible for addressing the need for improvement.

12) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment

- A) A specific purpose for evaluation is to promote student learning, growth and achievement by providing Educators and Administrators with feedback for improvement. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms. Evaluators are expected to give targeted constructive feedback to Educators and Administrators based on their observations of practice, examination of artifacts, and analysis of multiple measures of student learning, growth and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice or Standards and Indicators of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice, as applicable.
- B) Formative Assessment may be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle but typically takes place mid-cycle when a Formative Assessment report is completed.
- C) The Formative Assessment report provides written feedback to the Educator or the Administrator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Performance Standards and overall, or both.
- D) No less than two weeks before the due date for the Formative Assessment report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice to the Educator or the Administrator, the Educator or the Administrator shall provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student fearning goals. The Educator or the Administrator may provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's or the Administrator's performances against the four Performance Standards.

- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator, the Educator or the Administrator, the Evaluator and the Educator or the Evaluator and the Administrator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Assessment Report.
- F) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Assessment report and provide a copy to the Educator or the Administrator. All Formative Assessment reports must be signed by the Evaluator, with digital signature acceptable, and delivered face-to-face, by email or other means of electronic /digital delivery to the Educator's or the Administrator's school mailbox or home.
- G) The Educator or the Administrator may reply in writing to the Formalive Assessment report within 5 school days of receiving the report.
- The Educator or the Administrator shall sign the Formative Assessment report by within 5 school days of receiving the report, The signature indicates that the Educator or the Administrator received the Formative Assessment report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- As a result of the Formative Assessment Report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.

13) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation

- At approximately mid cycle, the evaluator will determine whether the Educator or Administrator's performance may warrant a change in type of Educator Plan.
- B) The Formative Evaluation report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator or the Administrator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan and performance on each performance standard and overall.
- C) No less than two weeks before the due date for the Formative Evaluation report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice provided to the Educator, the Educator or the Administrator shall provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The Educator or the Administrator may also provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's or the Administrator's performance against the four Performance Standards.
- D) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Evaluation report and provide a copy to the Educator or the Administrator. All Formative Evaluation reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face, by email or to the Educator's or the Administrator's school mailbox or home.
- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator, the Educator or the Administrator, the Evaluator and the Educator or the Evaluator and the Administrator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Evaluation Report.
- F) The Educator or the Administrator may reply in writing to the Formative Evaluation report within 5 school days of receiving the report.
- The Educator or the Administrator shall sign the Formative Evaluation report by within 5 school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator or the

- Administrator received the Formative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- H) As a result of the Formative Evaluation report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- I) If the rating in the Formative Evaluation report differs from the last summative rating the Educator or the Administrator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator or the Administrator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.

14) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation

- A) The evaluation cycle concludes with a summative evaluation report. For Educators on a one or two year Educator Plan and for Administrators, the summative report must be written and provided to the educator by April 1st.
- B) The Evaluator determines a rating on each standard and an overall rating based on the Evaluator's professional judgment, an examination of evidence against the Performance Standards and evidence of the attainment of the Educator Plan goals.
- C) The professional judgment of the primary evaluator shall determine the overall summative rating that the Educator or the Administrator receives.
- D) For an Educator or an Administrator whose overall performance rating is exemplary or proficient and whose impact on student learning is low, the Evaluator's supervisor shall discuss and review the rating with the Evaluator and the supervisor shall confirm or revise the Educator's or the Administrator's rating. In cases where the superintendent serves as the primary evaluator, the superintendent's decision on the rating shall not be subject to review.
- E) The summative evaluation rating must be based on evidence from multiple categories of evidence. To be rated proficient overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on the Curriculum, Planning and Assessment and the Teaching All Students Standards of Effective Teaching Practice; and the Administrators shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on the Instructional Leadership Standard of Effective Administrative Leadership Practice.
- F) No less than four weeks before the due date for the Summative Evaluation report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice provided to the Educator or the Administrator, the Educator or the Administrator will provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The Educator or the Administrator may also provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's or the Administrator's performance against the four Performance Standards.
- G) The Summative Evaluation report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth.

- H) The Evaluator shall deliver a signed copy of the Summative Evaluation report to the Educator or the Administrator face-to-face, by email or other means of electronic/digital delivery or to the Educator's or the Administrator's school mailbox or home no later than April 1st or the next following school day if April 1st occurs on a weekend, holiday or school is otherwise not in seasion on that day.
- The Evaluator shall meet with the Educator or the Administrator rated needs improvement or unsatisfactory to discuss the summative evaluation. The meeting shall occur by April 16th.
- J) The Evaluator may meet with the Educator or the Administrator rated proficient or exemplary to discuss the summative evaluation, if either the Educator, the Administrator or the Evaluator requests such a meeting. The meeting shall occur prior to the end of the school year at a time mutually convenient to the Educator and the Evaluator or the Administrator and the Evaluator.
- (V) Upon mutual agreement, the Educator and the Evaluator or the Administrator and the Evaluator may develop the Self-Directed Growth Plan for the following two years during the meeting on the Summative Evaluation report.
- The Educator or the Administrator shall sign the final Summative Evaluation report within five school days of receipt. The signature indicates that the Educator or the Administrator received the Summative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not Indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- M) The Educator or the Administrator shall have the right to respond in writing to the summative evaluation which shall become part of the final Summative Evaluation report.
- A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report shall be filed in the Educator's or the Administrator's personnel file, either digitally or hard copy.

15) Educator Plans - General

- A) Educator Plans shall be designed to provide Educators and Administrators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership; and to ensure Educator and Administrator effectiveness and overall system accountability. The Plan must be aligned to the standards and indicators and be consistent with district and school goals.
- B) The Educator Plan shall include, but is not limited to:
 - At least one goal related to improvement of practice field to one or more Performance Standards;
 - At least one goal for the improvement the learning, growth and achievement of the students under the Educator's or the Administrator's responsibility;
 - iii) An outline of actions the Educator or the Administrator must take to attain the goals and benchmarks to assess progress. Actions must include specified professional development and learning activities that the Educator or the Administrator will participate in as a means of obtaining the goals, as well as other support that may be suggested by the Evaluator or provided by the school or district. Examples may include but are not limited to coursework, self-study,

action research, curriculum development, study groups with peers, and implementing new programs.

C) It is the Educator's or the Administrator's responsibility to attain the goals in the Plan and to participate in any trainings and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Educator Plan.

16) Educator Plane: Developing Educator Plan

- The Developing Educator Plan is for all Educators without PTS, and, at the discretion of the Evaluator, Educators with PTS in new assignments, and for all New Administrators.
- B) The Educator and the Administrator shall be evaluated at least annually.

17) Educator Plane: Self-Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary and for those Experienced Administrators who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and starting in 2015-2016 and after whose impact on student learning is moderate or high. A formative evaluation report or assessment is completed at the end of year 1 and a summative evaluation report at the end of year 2.
- B) A One-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary and for those Experienced Administrators who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and starting in 2015-2016 and after whose impact on student learning is low. In this case, the Evaluator and Educator or the Evaluator and the Administrator shall analyze the discrepancy between the summative evaluation rating and the rating for impact on student learning to seek to determine the cause(s) of the discrepancy.

18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan

- A) Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS and for those Experienced Administrators whose overall rating is needs improvement.
- B) The goals in the Plan must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Evaluator.
- C) The Evaluator shall complete a summative evaluation for the Educator or the Administrator at the end of the period determined by the Plan, but at least annually, and in no case later than June 10th.
- D) For an Educator or an Administrator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is at least proficient, the Evaluator will place the Educator or the Administrator on a Self-Directed Growth Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.
- E) For an Educator or an Administrator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is not at least proficient, the Evaluator will rate the Educator or the Administrator and shall place the Educator or the Administrator on an Improvement Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle, or may, at the discretion of the Evaluator, continue the Educator or the Administrator on a Directed Growth Plan.

- 19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan
 - An improvement Plan is for those Educators with PTS and those Experienced Administrators whose overall rating is unsatisfactory.
 - The parties agree that in order to provide students with the best instruction, it may be necessary from time to time to place an Educator whose practice has been rated as unsatisfactory on an improvement Plan of no fewer than 45 school days and no more than one school year, and that in order to provide effective leadership for students, staff and the community and provide students with the best instruction, it may be necessary from time to time to place an Administrator whose practice has been rated as unsatisfactory on an improvement Plan of no fewer than 46 school days and no more than one school year. In the case of an Educator or an Administrator receiving a rating of unsatisfactory near the close of one school year, the improvement Plan may include activities that occur during the summer before the next school year begins.
 - C) The Evaluator must complete a summative evaluation for the Educator or the Administrator at the end of the period determined by the Evaluator for the Plan.
 - D) An Educator or an Administrator on an Improvement Plan shall be assigned a Supervising Evaluator (see definitions). The Supervising Evaluator is responsible for providing the Educator or the Administrator with guidance and assistance in accessing the resources and professional development outlined in the Improvement Plan. The primary evaluator may be the Supervising Evaluator.
 - E) The Improvement Plan shall define the problem(s) of practice identified through the observations and evaluation and detail the improvement goals to be met, the activities the Educator or the Administrator must take to improve and the assistance to be provided to the Educator or the Administrator by the dietrict.
 - F) The Improvement Plan process shall include:
 - i) Within ten school days of notification to the Educator or to the Administrator that the Educator or the Administrator is being placed on an Improvement Plan, the Evaluator shall schedule a meeting with the Educator or the Administrator to discuss the Improvement Plan. The Evaluator will develop the Improvement Plan, which will include the provision of specific assistance to the Educator or the Administrator.
 - ii) The Educator or the Administrator may request that a representative of the Association attend the meeting(s).
 - G) The Improvement Plan shall:
 - i) Define the improvement goals directly related to the performance standard(s) and/or student learning outcomes that must be improved;
 - Describe the activities and work products the Educator or the Administrator must complete as a means of improving performance;
 - Describe the assistance that the district will make available to the Educator or the Administrator;

- Articulate the measurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of improvement;
- Detail the timeline for completion of each component of the Plan, including at a minimum a mid-cycle formative assessment report of the relevant standard(s) and indicator(s);
- Identify the individuals assigned to assist the Educator or the Administrator which must include minimally the Supervising Evaluator; and,
- vil) Include the signatures of the Educator or the Administrator and Supervising Evaluator.
- H) A copy of the signed Plan shall be provided to the Educator or the Administrator. The Educator's or the Administrator's signature indicates that the Educator or the Administrator received the Improvement Plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- Decision on the Educator's or the Administrator's status at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan.
 - All determinations below must be made no later than June 1. One of three decisions must be made at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:
 - (a) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator or the Administrator has improved his/her practice to the level of proficiency, the Educator or the Administrator will be placed on a Self-Directed Growth Plan.
 - (b) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator is making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator or the Administrator shall place the Educator on a Directed Growth Plan.
 - (o) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator or the Administrator is not making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator or the Administrator be dismissed.
 - (d) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator's or the Administrator's practice remains at the level of unsatisfactory, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator or the Administrator be dismissed.

20. Timelines (Dates in Italics are provided as guidance)

Activity:	Completed By:
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators, educators to explain evaluation process	September 15
Evaluator meets with first-year educators to assist in self-assessment and goal setting process	October 15
Educator submits self-assessment and proposed goals	•
Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting in prior school year)	October 15
Evaluator completes Educator Plans	November 1
Evaluator should complete first observation of each Educator	November 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	January 5*
* or four weeks before Formative Assessment Report date established by Evaluator	
Evaluator should complete mid-cycle Formative Assessment Reports for Educators on one-year Educator Plans	January 15
Evaluator holds Formative Assessment Meetings if requested by either Evaluator or Educator	February 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	March 15*
*or 4 weeks prior to Summative Evaluation Report date established by evaluator	,
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report and Formative Evaluation Report for those on 2-year plans	April 1
Evaluator meets with Educators whose overall Summative Evaluation ratings are Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory	April 15
	Prior to end of school year
ducator signs Summative Evaluation Report and adds response, if any	April 20 or within 5 school days of receipt

A) Educators with PTS on Two Year Plans

Activity:	Completed By:
Evaluator completes unannounced observation(s)	Any time during the 2- year evaluation cycle
Evaluator completes Formative Evaluation Report	April 1 of Year 1
Evaluator conducts Formative Evaluation Meeting, if any	April 1 of Year 1
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	April 1 of Year 2
Evaluator conducts Summative Evaluation Meeting, if any	April 15 of Year 2
Evaluator and Educator sign Summative Evaluation Report	April 20 of Year 2 or within five days of receipt

A) Educators on Plans of Less than One Year

i) The timeline for educators on Plans of less than one year will be established in the Educator Plan.

B) Unit B Administrators

Unit B Administrators will be evaluated in accordance with the Standards of Effective Administrative Leadership

Activity:	Completed By:
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators and administrators to explain evaluation process	September 15
Evaluator meets with first-year New Administrators to assist in self- assessment and goal setting process	October 15
Administrator submits self-assessment and prepared goals	October 15
Evaluator meets with Administrator	October 15
Administrator submits evidence of effective administrative practice	March 15
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	April 1
Evaluator meets with Administrator whose overall Summative Evaluation ratings are Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory	April 15
Evaluator meets with Administrator whose ratings are proficient or exemplary at request of Evaluator or Administrator	Prior to end of school year

Evaluator and Administrator sign Summative Evaluation Report	
Exerted of cited a restricted of the additional and an annual contract and and	

April 20 or within five days of receipt

21. Career Advancement

- A) In order to attain Professional Teacher Status, the Educator should achieve ratings of proficient or exemplary on each Performance Standard and overall. A principal or other Evaluator considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any Educator who has not been rated proficient or exemplary on each performance standard and overall on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the superintendent by May 1. The principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the superintendent.
- B) In order to qualify to apply for a teacher leader position, the Educator must have had a Summative Evaluation performance rating of proficient or exemplary for at least the previous two years.

22. Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth

The parties will negotiate the process for using state and district-determined measures to arrive at an Educator's or an Administrator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, using guidance and model contract language from DESE and will start the process as soon as possible after DESE issues guidance with a goal to complete this Phase as soon as possible after issuance of said guidance.

23. Using Student feedback in Educator and Administrator Evaluation

The Association and the Committee agree to bargain with respect to the matter of using student feedback in Educator and Administrator evaluations promptly after DESE issues guidance on this issue. The goal is to complete this phase as soon as possible after DESE has provided this guidance.

24. Using Staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation

The Association and the Committee agree to bargain with respect to the matter of using staff feedback in Administrator evaluations promptly after DESE issues guidance on this issue. The goal is to complete this phase as soon as possible after DESE has provided this guidance.

25. General Provisions

- A) Only Educators who are licensed may serve as primary evaluators of Educators.
- Evaluators will treat Educator evaluations with appropriate confidentiality in accordance with relevant state and federal laws.
- C) The superintendent shall insure that Evaluators have training in supervision and evaluation, including the regulations and standards and indicators of effective teaching practice promulgated by ESE (35.03), and the evaluation Standards and Procedures established in this Agreement.
- Should there be a serious disagreement between the Educator and the Evaluator regarding an overall summative performance rating of unsatisfactory, the Educator may

- meet with the Evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the Educator request such a meeting, the Evaluator's supervisor must meet with the Educator. The Evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the superintendent.
- E) The parties agree to establish a joint labor-management evaluation team which shall review the evaluation processes and procedures annually through the first three years of implementation and recommend adjustments to the parties.
- F) Violations of this article are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures.

RUBRICS APPENDIX



Massachusetts Model System for Educator Evaluation

Part III: Guide to Rubrics and Model Rubrics for Superintendent, Administrator, and Teacher

Tegoner Rubric

Jahuary 2012

Massadiusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 75 Figusant Street, Malden, MA 02143-4908 Phone 781-388-3020 TTY: N.E.T. Relay 800-489-2370 www.doc.mass.edu



OMR 35.02) — are a critical component of the Massachusetts educator evaluation fremework and are required for every educator. Rubitos are develop a common terminology and structure to organize evidence, and (3) make informed professional judgments about formative and dasigned to help aducators and evaluators (1) develop a consistent, shared understanding of what proficient performance tooks like in practics, (2) Rubrics — defined in, the regulations as "sconing toolls) that describe characienstics of prantice or artifacts at different levels of performance" (603 summedive performance radings on each Standard and overall. This appendix contains the ESE Model Teacher Rubric

Structure of the Teacher Rubric

- There are four Standards for teachers. Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment, Teaching All Students, Family and Community Standards: Standards are the broad categories of knowledge, skills, and performance of effective practice detailed in the regulations Engagement; and Professional Culture.
- Indicators: Indicators, also detailed in the regulations, describe specific knowledge, skills, and performance for each Standard. For example, there are three Indicators in Standard I of the teacher rubdo. Cuniculum and Planning. Assessment, and Analysis.
- Elements: The elements are more specific descriptions of actions and behaviors related to each indicator. The elements further break down the indicators into more specific aspects of educator practice and provide an opportunity for evaluators to offer detailed feedback that serves as a roadmap for improvement
- Descriptore: Parformance descriptors are observable and measurable statements of educator actions and behaviors aligned to each element and sarve as the basis for identifying the lavel of teaching or administrative performance in one of four categories. Unsatisfaciony, Needs Improvement, Proficient, or Exemplary,

Use of the Teacher Rubric

leachers from pre-K through Advanced Placement, as well as teachers with spacialized classes or knowledge, Including teachers of English This rubic describes teaching practice. It is intended to be used throughout the 5 siep evaluation cycle for all teachers, including teachers of whole classrooms, small groups, Individual students, or any combination of the above. The Hiptic is designed to be applicable to general education anguage Leamers, and special education teachers; districts may also choose to use this rubric for educators in other roies such as specialists.

strategically by discussing and agreeing upon certain indicators and Elements that should be high priorities according to that educator's role and esponsibilities as well as his/her professional practice and student learning needs. There are a variety of ways to emphastze these components hroughout the evaluation cycle. For example, high priority indicators and/or elements can be analyzed in greater depth during self-assessment, argeted duting goal setting, a focus for more comprehensive evidence collection, or all of the above. However, the expectation is that by the end of the evaluation cycle, educators and evaluators have gathered and shared a reasonable amount of evidence on every indicator to support he responsibilities of teachers to whom this rubito will be applied may vary. ESE encourages educators and evaluators to use rating for each Standard

ESE Model Rubric for Teacher

Teacher Ruhric At-A-Glance

oistoara i Guriculum, Planing, sud Assessment	Standard II! Teaching All Students	Standard III. Family and Community Engagement	Standard IV; Professional Culture	
furfultun and Flanning indicator f. Subject Matter Khowledge 2. Ohld and Adolscoent Development 5. Rigorous Standards-Eased Uhit Design 4. Viell-Studdinsd Lessons	A. Instruction Indicator 1. Quality of Effort and Work 2. Student Engagement 8. Meeting Diverse Needs	A. Engagement Indicator 1, Parent/Femily Engagement	A. Reflection Indicator 1. Reflection Practice 2. Ocei Setting	
Assessment indicator 1. Variety of Assessment Methods 2. Adjustments to Practice	E. Learning Environment indicator 1. Safe Learning Environment 2. Colleborative Learning Environment 5. Südent Motivation	E. Collaborefion indicator 1. Learning Expectations 2. Curriculum Support	A. Professional Growth Indicator 1. Professional Learning and Growth	
Analysis Indioctor 1. Analysis and Conclusions 2. Sharing Conclusions With Colleagues 3. Sharing Conclusions With Students	 Cultural Proficiency Indicator Respects Differences Meinfelha Respectful Environment 	. C. Communication indicator f. Two-Wey Communication 2. Culturally Proticient Communication	C, Collaboration indicator f. Professional Collaboration	
· ,·	D. Expectations Indicator 1. Gless Expectations 2. High Expectations 3. Across to Knowledge		D: Depision-Making indicator 1. Depision-making	
			E. Shared Responsibility indiperpr 1. Shared Responsibility	
			F. Professional Responsibilities Indicator 1. Judgment 2. Reliability and Responsibility	

fow to reference parts of the rubrio:

Indicator ferminologyr under the "Teaching All Studerits" Standard (!!), the" instruction indicator" (4) can be referred to as thalicator II-A Element terminology: under the instruction indicator (A), the Student Engagement Element (2) can be referred to as Element 11-4-2

. ESE Model Rubha for Teachere

January 2012

ון ממצר

Standards and indicators of Errective Leaching Fractice;

·Teacher Rubric

Standard it Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment. The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students by providing high-quality and coherent instruction, designing and administering authentic and meaningful student assessments, analyzing student. performance and growth data, using this data to improve instruction, providing students with constructive feedback on an ongoing basis,

Curtouium and Planning: Knows the subject matter well, has a good grasp of child development and how students learn, and designs effective and ngorous standards-based units of instruction consisting of well-structured lessons with Indicator L.A.

Tra X i was to make the control of t		Exemplary	Demonstrates experies in subject metter and the bedagody it requires by sngaging all students in learning experiences that enable them to synthestic complex knowledge and skills in the subject, is able to model this element.	Demonstrates expert knowledge of the developmental levels of the seacher's own students and attribute in tals grade or subject more generally and uses this knowledge to differentiate and expend learning expeliences that emble all students to make significant progress toward meeting stated outcomes. Is able to meeting with the seasons that emble all students to meeting stated outcomes. Is able to meeting with the seasons that expenditures the seasons when the seasons we have a season to meeting stated outcomes. In a seasons the seasons we have the seasons we have a season to meeting stated outcomes.	
:-	L Change	roller i	Demoharates sound importedge and understanding of the subject marker and the pedagogy it requires by consistently engaging students in learning experiences that enable them to acquire complax finantic acquire complax finantic students finantic students finantic students and skills in the subject.	Demonstrates knowledge of the developmental lavels of students in the ofessroom and the different ways these students learn by providing differentiated (caming experiences that enable all students to progress toward meeting intended outcomes.	~
	Needs Improvement		Dentonstrates factual knowledge of subject matter and the pedagogy (the fedillest by sometimes engaging students in learning experiences around complex knowledge and skills in the subject.	Demonstrates knowledge of developmental layers of students this age but does not identify developmental layers and ways of lagraning among the students in the class and/or develops learning experiences their enable some, but not all, students to move toward meeting filsprided outcomes.	The statement of the st
されている はいままない くせいこうにん	Unsatteractory	Demonstrates the that the same	The subject meter showladge of the subject meter shofts to be subject meters and or the period of the period of the period of the sactual content farsy engages, students in learning experiences focused on complex knowledge or skills in the subject.	Demonstrates little or ho knowledge of the velopmental levels of students this age or differences in how students this learn. Typically develops one learning experience for all students that does not estable most students to meet the intended outcomes,	
	I.A. Elements	144	Subject Natiar Knowledge	1-A-2. Ohild end Adolescent: Davelopment	

Nate: At the Exemplay, level, an educator's level of expertise is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, leaching, assibiling, and/or demonstrating. In this rubite, this level of expertise is denoted by "is able to model

ESE Model Rubito for Teachers

page Oz e oze

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice:

	, ,	<u></u>	
	Exemplary	Designs integrated units of instruction with measurable, accessible outcomes and challenging tasks requiring higher-order furtheng sivilis are enable students to learn and apply the knowledge and skills defined in state standardshoot cuntoxia, is able to model this element.	Develops well-eftuntured and righly engaging leasons with challenging, massurable objectives and appropriets student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping to attend to every students needs. Is able to modal this element.
្ស	Proficient	Designs units of instruction with measurable outcomes and challenging tasks requiring ingueroral with thinking ekulis flust enable students to learn the knowledge and skills defined in state exandanded our toule.	Davalops well-structured teasons with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student angagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, fachnologies, and grouping.
Teacher Rubric	Needs improvement	Designs units of instruction that address some knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula, but some student outcomes are poorly defined and/or tasks rarely require higher-order flinking skills.	Develops isseons with only some elements of appropriate student erusegement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and grouping.
· ·	Unsaffisfactory	Plans individual lessons rather than units of instruction, or designs units of historion flat are not aligned with state standards/local curriculta, lack measurable outcomes, and/or indiude tasks that mostly rely on lower level thinking sidils.	Develops lessons with inappropriate student engagement strategies, pachter, escrivities, materials, resources, andfor grouping for the intended outcome or for the students in the class.
Numerical Population of International Party CALLION	ज्ञानभाक्ष्यां .	-3. yorots andstde- sed Unit	t-4. sil- ruotured resons

inte; At the Exemplary level, an educator's lavel of expertise is such that he or site to model this element through training, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this morto, is level of expertise is denoted by "is able to model,"

page 0-8 of 0-15

ESE Model Rubric for Teachers

Standards and indicators of emecave reaching practice:

Teacher Rubric

student learning, growth, and Progress toward achieving state/local standards. Is able to model this Organizas and analyzas results from an Integrated, comprehensive interim assessments, to measure Assessment: Uses a variety of Informal and formal methods of assessments to measure student learning, growth, and assessments, including common system of Informal and formal a comprehensive system of Exemplary understanding to develop differentiated and enhanced learning experiences and improve future instruction. a ement from a variety of assessments to determine progress toward Interided cuttoones and uses these Designs and administers a variety of informal and formal methods common interin assessments, to insasure sach student's learning. growth, and progress toward apideving state/local standards, Organizes and analyzes results and assessmente, including Proficient Way administer some informal and/or formal assessments to measure student learned but rarely measures student progress toward achieving occasionally adjusts practice of thodifies future instruction based on the findings. May olganize and analyze some assessment results but only Needs improvement state/focal standerds, Administers only the assessments required by the school anglor measures only point-in-time, student Makes few adjustments to practice based on formal and Informal. Unsaffetactory aseseiments, achievement idleator I-B, djusiment to spesement ariaty of

en en en ta

letino de

Tacaton

У Д

implement appropriate differentiated

appropriate differentiated Interventions and enhancements

for students.

findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement

adjust practice and Identity and/or

frequently uses these findings to

ntervantions and enhancements for

individuals and groups of students

and appropriate modifications of

lessons and units, is able to model

this element

assessiments to defermine progress

loward intended outcomes and

Note: At the Exemplety level, an educator's level of experitse is such that have she is able to model this clement frough training, teaching, assisting, endfor demonstrating. In this rubdo,

Dage O-4 pt O-15

.

January 2012

ESE Model Rubrio for Teachers

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

Teacher Rubric

Unsatisfactory Needs improvement Proficient				
is and sions sions to a sions to	satory	. Needs inprovement	Proficient	Examplary
28	,	Draws conclusions from a limited analysis of student data to inform student grading and promotion decisions.	individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate conclusions from a thorough analysis of a wide range of assessment data to improve attident fearning.	Individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate, actionable condustons from a frontagh arraivsis of a wide range of assessment data that improve short, and long-term tratuctional decisions, is able to model this element,
	rolleagues tudent progress fædback.	Ohly occasionally shares with colleagues occasions about student progress endor only occasionally sasks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning,	Regularly shares with appropriate colleagues (e.g., ganeral aducation, and English learner staff correlusions about studien progress and seeks feedback from them atout instructional or assessment practices that will support improved student learning.	Establishes and implements a sofiedule and plan for regularly straing with all appropriate colleagues conclusions and insights 'about student progress. Seeks and applies feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning, is able to model fileseleanent.
-C-3. Provides little or no feedback on Staring student performance except finough Condustring grades or report of task completion, or provides inappropriate feedback first does not support attidents to improve their performance.	feedback on se except finough task completion, prists feedback nristudents to mentoe.	Provides some feedback about parformance beyond grades but rarely sitates strategies for students to improve their performance toward objectives.	Based on assessment results, provides descriptive featback and engages students and families in constructive ponversation that focuses on how students can improve their performance.	Establishes early, constructive feedback loops with students and families that create a dialogue about parformance, progress, and improvement, is able to model this element.

Vote: Al ine Exemplay level, an educator's level of experies is such that he probe to model this element futuagh relating, bearing, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this rubits, his level of expertise is demais to model," ESE Wodel Rubio for Teachers

Standards and Indicators of Errective Leaching Practice;

Teacher Rubric

Standard II: Teaching All Students, The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through instructional practices that sstablish high expectations, create a safe and effective dassroom environment, and demonstrate cultural proficiency.

Instruction: Uses instructional practices that reflect high expectations regarding content and quality of effort and works engage all students; and are personalized to accommodate diverse leaming styles, needs, interests, and levels of irdicator II-A.

			• •	•
Hements .	Utraefistactory	Néeds Improvement	Proficient	Market Ma
J-A-1.	Establishes no or low experience	N. K. de and the state of the s		Exemplemy
Anality of Effort and Work	around availity of work and effort and offers few supports for students to produce quality work or effort.	Way at the state of the state o	Consistently defines high expectations for the quality of student work and the perseverance and effort required to produce it offer provides exemplars, rubites, and guided practice.	Consistently defines high expeciations for quality work and expeciations for quality work and expert adjectively supports students to set high expectations for each other to persevere and produce high-runfff-rund from the control of the control o
B-ታ-2	Uses instructional practices that learn	ייי יייין ייין יייין ייין יייין ייין יייין יייין יייין ייין יייין יייין יייין יייין יייין יייין יייין יייין ייייי		this signature
Student Engagement	mostetudenta uninvolvad andfor passiva partiojpanta.	Joses instructional practices that modivate and singage some students but lastre others uninvolved and/or passive participants.	Consistently uses instructional practices that are likely to mothers and engage most students during the lesson.	Consistently uses instructional in practices that typically motivate and engage most students both duting the lesson and during independent work
11-A-3.	Transaction of the state of the		-	and nome work. Is able to model fals
Meeting Diverse Neering	vas unuan andor happroplate practices to accommodate differences.	May use some appropriate practices to accommodate differences, but falls to address an adequate range of differences.	Uses appropriate practices, including thered instruction and scarfolds, to accommodate differences in learning styles, reacts, interests, and levels of readiness, including those of students with disabilities and English learners.	Uses a varied repartions of practices to creeke structured opportunities for each student to meet or exceed afaite standartis/local outfoulum and behar/lotel expectations, is able to model this element.
-	4			

Nate: At the Exemplay level, an educator's level of expertise is arou that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this mixtic,

page 0-8 of 0-45

ESE Model Rubric for Teachers

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice:

Market State Delicement of State of Sta

Teacher Rubifc

				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
that motivates students to	Examplary	Uses rituals, routhes, and proactive responses the create and mantein a sets physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and play an student role—andividually and collectively—in preventing behaviors that interfere with learning, is able to racdel this element.	Teaches and reinforces interpersonal, group, and communication skills so that students bask out their peers as respurces. Is able to model this practice,	Consistently supports students to Identify strengths, interests, and needs ask for support, take risks; challenge flientselvas; sel leaning goals; and monitor their own progress. Models these skills for colleagues.
borative learning environment hip of their learning,	Proficient	Uses rituals, routinas, and appropriate responses first create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where, students take academic risks and most befarlors that interfere with learning are prevented.	Develops students' interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides opportunities for stindents to learn in groups with diverse peers.	Consistently creates learning experiences that guide attricents to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support when appropriate; take spademic risks; and challenge themselves to learn,
and mainfains a safe and collations. Themselves, and claim owners	Needs Improvement	May create and meintain a sate physical antionment but inconsistently maintains rituals, routines, and responses needed to previen and/or atop behaviors that interfere with all students' learning.	Temhes some Interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides some opportunities for students to work in groups.	Creates some learning expariences that guide students to Identify needs, ask for support, and challenge themselves to take academio itsks,
Learning Environment, Speates and maintains a safe and collaborative learning environment that motivates students to take academic tisks, onallange themselves, and claim ownership of their learning.	. Unsailsianiony	Maintains a physical environment that is unisate or does not support attuant feathing. Uses inappropriate or ineffective rituals, routines, autfor responses to refinitions positive behandor or respond to behandor at respond to behandor in the students' feathing.	Makas litie affort to teach interpersonal, group, and controllington skills or facilitate student work in groups, or such affentive are ineffective.	Directs all learning experiences, providing few, if any, opportunies for students to take academic fisks or challenge themselves to learn.
dicator 11-B,	ठ. गामशाहि	B-f. sviromasni	.B2. citatorativa berning nvironment	-8-3. badent ' folivællon

iofer At the Exempiany level, an educators level of experitse ta such that he or she is able to model this element through training, beathing, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this rubhs, is level of expertise is demoted by "is able to model,"

•

意思を表現している。 BYO JO KO BEED

HSE Model Rubilo for Teachers

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

Teacher Rubric

Cultural Proficiency, Actively creates and maintains an environment in which students' diverse backgrounds, identities, strangths, and challenges are respected. dicator II-C.

	Exemplary	Exteblishes an emilonment in which suidents is superical affirm their own and chairs differences and are supported to share and explore differences and shularifles related to background, identify, language, strengths, and challenges, is able to model this practice.	Antiopates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities in ways that lead students to be able to do the same independently, is able to mode! this practics.
•	Proficients	Consistently uses strategies and practices first are likely to enable students to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and others differences related to beokyround, identify, language, strengths, and others olieilenges.	Anflojpates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderslandings arising from differences in backgrounds, ianguages, and therrittes,
	Needs Inprovenant	Establishes an anvironment in which students ganerally demonstrate respect for Individual differences	Antiolpates and responds appropriately to some confillots or misunderstandings but ignores and/or minimizes others.
The same of the sa	Uneatisfactory	Establehes an anvironment in which students demonstrate limited respect for individual differences.	Whimizes or Ignores conflicts endfor responds in inappropriate ways.
	C. ements	-Cf. espects ifferences	-0-2, laintains (especifur infronnant

Noter Afthe Exampleny level, an educator's level of expertise is equis that he or site to model this element through training, teaching, assisting, andfor demonstrating, in this niorio, the level of expertise is denoted by "Se able to model," entransportunitation of the second se

January 2012

page C-8 of C-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practices:

Teacher Rubric

icator B-D. Expectations; Plans and implements lessons that set clear and high expectations and also make knowledge accessible for all stacents,

 j				
	Livernplany	Olearly normanicates and consistently efforces specific standards for student work, effort, and behavior so that most students are able to describe from and take ownership of meeting from its able to insert in a spie to insert in the standard from in a spie to insert in section.	Effectively models and relationes ways that students oza consistently master challenging material filtrough effective effort. Successfully challenges studental misconceptions about imate abillity, is able to model this ejement.	Individually and with collectures, consistently adapta instruction, materials, and assessments to insker challenging material accessible to all students, including English kermens and atudents with disabilities, is able to model this alement.
	Proficient	Clearly communicates and consistently sufferes apacific standards for student work, effort, and behavior.	Effectively models and reinforces verys that students can master challenging material furough effective affort, rether than having to depend on innate ability.	Consistently adapts instruction, majorials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students, including English learners and students with disabilities.
	Needs Improvement	May announce and post disastronm academic and behavior ruies and consequences, but inconsistently or ineffectively suronce frem.	May tell atudents that the subject or assignment is opalicaging and that they need to work hard but does little to counteract student misconceptions about invare ability.	Occasionally edapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students.
in all satisfies	. Unsatisfiatory	Does not make specific academic and behavior sxpactations clear to students	Gives up वरा अञ्चल धायवर्गंड वर्ग वर्णामापाञ्चरंड पोमंद अञ्चल त्वारावर प्रवश्चांच पोझींबापुगेषु एक्टिनोर्ड,	Rarely adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make oballenging material accessible to all students.
-	Elements	f. Potatons	2, 1 actations	.č. ess to viledije

s: At the Exemplay level, an educator's layel of experies is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, leaching, osciling, and or experies by "is able to model." ESE Model Rubric for Teachers

page D-8 of G-15

January 2012

Standards and indicators of bitecuve reaching Fractice;

Teacher Rubric

anderd III. Family and Community Engagement. The teacher promotes the jeaming and growth of all students through effective irtnerships with families, caregivers, community members, and organizations.

Engagement Welcomes and encourages every family to become active participants in the classroom and school community, dicator III-A.

Needs Improvement Proficient Exemplary	for Makes implied attempts to involve Uses a variety of strategies to families and sustains their active families in school and/or support every family olassroom activities, meetings, participate actively and and sohool community, is able to model this element.
Unsatisfactory Need	Does not welcome families to Makes limit become participants in the classificant and softool community classification, participation,
A, smerts	4-1. rent/Family ugagement

. Collaboration; Colla	and development noth at home and at school.
Idicator III-B. Collabor	and dev

	1	-E	g _{ti}
	Exemplary	Successfuly conveys to most parents student learning and behavior expectations, is abte to model this element.	Stocessfully prompts most families to use one or more of the strategies suggested for supporting learning et school and home and seeks out evidence of fireh impact is able to model this element.
· · · · ·	Profiters	Correlatently provides params with clear, user-thently expectations for student learning and behavior.	Regularly updates parents on ournolium throughout the year and suggests strategies for supporting learning at school and home, including appropriate adaptation for students with disabilities or limited English proflorency,
at home and at school.	Neads Improvement	Sends frome only a list of classroom nies and the learning cultins or syliabus for the year.	Sends homs occasional suggestions on how parents our support children at home or at school.
and development poth at h	Unadisfectory	Does not inform parents about . leapting of behavior expectations.	Rarely, if ever, communicates with parents on ways to support officien at incree or at school,
,	්පි, Elements	-B-1, saming xpeotations	-8-2, arrivallum upport

'oter At the Examplary level, an educator's lavel of experiles is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, assetting, and or demonstrating, in this rubhis, is lavel of experise is depoted by "Is able to model."

ESE Model Rubric for Teachers

page C-10 of C-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practices

Teacher Rubric

dicator III-C,	Communication: Engages in re learning and performance.	dicator III-C. Communication: Engages in regular, fwo-way, and culturally proficient communication with families about student learning and performance.	roficient communication with fr	amilles about student
C, superits	Upsaffsfactory	Needs improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
G-1. vo-Way ventunication	Rarely communicates with familles except through report cards rarely solicits or responds promptly and carefully to communications from familles.	Relies primarily on newaletiens and other one-way media and statelly responds promptly to communications from familias.	Regularly uses two-way communication with families about student performance and learning and responds promotive and carefully to communications from families.	Regularly uses a two-way system that supports frequent, proactive, and personalized communication with families about student performance and isaming, is able to model this element.
-C-2. Jiurally officient onumunisæfon	Makes few attempts to respond to different family cultural norms and/or responds frappropriately or disrespecifully.	May ournaulous respectfully and make efforts to take into ecoourt different families' home language, outlore, snd values, but does to inconsistently or does not demonstrate understanding and sensitivity to the differences.	Aiwaya communicates respectiuly with families and demonstrates undestainting of and sensitivity to different families' home language, onliture, and values.	Aways connuntrates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding and appreciation of different families home language, outure, and values, is able to model, this element,

iots. At the Exemplety leyel, an educator's leyel of expertise is such that he of she is able to model this slament intough training, teaching, assisting, and for demonstrating, in this rubits, its leyel of expertise is denoted, by "te able to model,"

esserving of the model of the contract of the

. i

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Fractice;

Teacher Rubric

Standard NY: Professional Culture. The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through ethical, culturally proficient, sídiled, and collaborative practice.

well as meetings with teams and work groups to gather information, analyze data, examins issues, set meatingful goals, Reflection: Demonstrates the capacity to reflect on and angrove the educator's own practice, using informal means as and develop new approaches in order to improve teaching and learning. ndicator IV-A.

	<u> </u>	1
Exemplary	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of lessons, units, and intersoftens with students, both individually and with colleagues; and uses and shares with colleagues, insights galined to improve practice and student learning, is able to model fills element.	individually and With colleagues builde capacity to propose and monitor challenging, measurable goals based on thorough self-assesment and analysis of student learning data, is able to model (the element
Proficient	Régulaty reflects on the effectiveness of fessons, units, and interactions with students, both individually and with collasques, and uses insights gained to improve practice and student	Proposes challenging, messurable professional professional process, feam, and student learning goals that are based on finorough self-assessment and analysis. of student learning data,
Unsatisfactory Need's improvement	May reflect on the effectiveness of lessons! units and interactions with students but not with colleagues and/or rarely uses insights to improve practice.	Froposes youls that are sometimes vague or easy to achieve and/or bases you's on a limited self-easesment and analysis of student learning date.
Unsatisfactory	Demonstrates limited reflection on practice and/or use of insights gained to improve practice.	Genarally, partidopates persively in the goal-setting process andfor proposes goals that are ragus or sesy to reach.
V-A, Elements	NAA-K. Reflective Practice	WARZ. Goal Setting

Note: At the Exemplay-level, an educator's lovel of expertise to such first he or she is able to model this element through training, backling, essisting, and/or demonstrating, in this rubtic, this level of expertise to denoted by "le able to model."

ESE Model Rubho for Teachers

January 2012

page G-12 of G-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

elnavita Superinmanol International

Teacher Rubric

Professional Growth: Actively pursues professional development and learning opportunities to improve quality of practice of fulld the expertise and experience to assume different instructional and leadership roles idicator N.B.

	۳-		
•		EKenvijerv	Supports culleagues to collecturate in areas such as developing standards-based units, exemining student work, analyzing student performance, and planning appropriate intervention, is stille to model this element.
	Wide ration of tanks	Proficient	Consistently and effectively collaborates with obliegouss in such work as developing standards-based units, examining a fudent work, analyzing student performance, and planning appropriate intervention.
	idicator N.C. Collaboration: Collaborates effectively with collegaues on a write rance of feate	Maads improvement	Does not consistently collaborate with collegues in ways that support producitye team effort.
	Collaboration: Collaborates e	Unsatisfactory	Rarely and/or heffectively collaborates with collectuse; conversations offer lack focus on improving student learning,
The state of the s	adjector D. C.	(-0, Elementa	ACA; rofessional kollaboration

lote: At the Examplay lavel, an aduator's lavel of expertise is such first he or she is model this element through training, beaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this rubtic, his lavel of expertise is denoted by "Is able to encode!."

danuary 2012

. ESE Model Rubho for Téachers

page Cas aloa

Standards and indicators of energy is adming Pracking.

Teacher Rubric

Decision-Making: Becomes involved in schoolwide decision making, and takes an active role in school improvement planning. rdicator DAD,

Substiant +rk.	Unpatistacion	Needs Improvement	Proficient	TYON'T
40-1, Parting metal	D-1. Perfolpates in planning and decision claion-Making meking at the school, department, and/or grade level only when asked	ŀ	Consistently confiltance relevant Ideas and expertise to planning and depision making at the sering	In planning and decision-making at the school, department, and or grade level
or and	.and.rately.co.htmlples relayentidaas of expertise.	rarely confilbutes rejevant ideas or expertise,	deparknert, and/or grade level.	and experies that are crifical to model this chemant efforts. Is able to model this chemant

1-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		individually and with colleagues develops afrategies and actions that contribute to the learning and productive behavior of all students at the school, is able to model this element.	
17 to 1977 to 1977 to 1970 to	Transport of the Cartesian William Mes.	Willin and haconsistently behavior and for all studes for all studes fixely learning masponesibility has the pastern heavier h	
adjector IV-E. Shared Responsibility: Shares resnonsihility for the performance of all attordants with the	Needs Improvement	Within and beyond the classroom, incursistently reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by inconsistently sharing responsibility for theeting fiftle heads.	
Shared Responsibility: Share	Unsafistactory	Retely refinonces schootwide beflevior and learning expectations for all shidents and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by tarely sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	
ndiestor N'E,	f-E, Ejaments	%-E-1. ifiered tesponsibility	

Votez At he Exemplary fevel, an aducator's fevel of experies is such that he or she is able to model this element findigh training, teaching, coaching, and or demonstrating, in this rubits, his level of experies is denoted by "Is able to model."

page 0-14 of 0-15

ESE Model Rubyto for Teachers

Standards and indicators of Effective Teaching Practice:

Teacher Rubric

tles consistently.	Exemplary	nent Demonstrates sound judgment and 27. acts appropriately to protect student ss and confidentiality, rights and safety. Is able to model fills element.	sional Consistently fulfils all professional entity regionshillines to fugh standards, is able to model fills element.
sets routine responsibilit	Proffett	Demonstrates sound judgment reflecting integrity, fronsety, fairness, and frustworthness and protects student confldentially, appropriately,	Gonsisfanily fulfills professional responsibilities; is consistently punctial and reliable with paperwork, duffes, and assigninents; and is rarely late or absent from school.
tis ethical and reliable, and me	· Needs Inprovement	Sometimes demonstrates questlonable ludgment andlor inscriently shares confidential information,	Occasionally misses or is late to sasignments, completes work late, and/or makes alrors in records.
leafor IV-F. Professional Responsibilities: Is ethical and reliable, and meets routine responsibilities consistently	Unsatlafactory	Demonstrates poor judpnent andfor discloses confidential student information insparopriately.	Frequently misses or is lefe to assignments, makes errors in records, and/or misses paperwork desolines, frequently late or absent.
licator N.H.	a Elements	E-11. gment	ability 8.

ter At the Exemplay level, en educator's level of expertise is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, beauting, oceaning, enclosed and or demonstrating, in this rubdo, a level of expertise is denoted by "Is able to model,"

page C-15 of C-15

January 2012

ESE Model Rubric for Teachers



Massachuseffs Model System for Educator Evaluation

Part III: Guide to Rubrics and Model Rubrics for Superintendent, Administrator, and Teacher Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

March 2012

Messathusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 75 Pleasant Street, Malden, MA 02/48-4906 Penne 78: 252-200 TTY: N.E.T. Relay 800-439-2370

Www.doe.mags.edu

Guide to Specialized Instructional Support Personnel (SISP) Rubric

develop a common termindagy and structure to organize evidence, and (3) make informed professional judgments about formative and 2012, 35.02) — are a critical component of the Massachusetts educator, evaluation framework and are required for every educator. Rubrics are designed to help educators and evaluators (1) develop a consistent, shared understanding of what proficient performance looks like in practice, (2) Rubrics — defined in the regulations, as "scoring toolist that describe characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance" summative performance ratings on each Standard and overall. This appendix contains the ESE Model "SISP" Rubito.

Structure of the Specialized Instructional Support Personnel (SISP) Rubris

- regulations Standards: Standards are the broad pategories of knowledge, eklis, and performance of effective practice detailed in the There are four Standards for teachers: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment, Teaching All Students; Family and Engagement; and Professional Culture,
- indicators: Indicators, also detalled in the regulations, describe specific knowledge, skills, and performance for each Standard. For example, there are three Indicators in Standard I of the SiSP rubtic: Ourtoulum and Planning, Assassament, and Analysis.
- Elements: The elements are more specific descriptions of actions and behaviors related to each indicator. The elements further break down the Indicators into more specific aspects of educator practice and provide an opportunity for availators to offer detailed feedback that serves as a roadmap for improvement.
- Descriptors: Pertormance descriptors are observable and measurable statements of educator adfons and behaviors afigned to each element and serve as the basis for identifying the level of teaching or administrative performance in one of four categories; Unsatisfadory, Needs Improvement, Proficient, or Exemplary.

Use of the Specialized instructional Support Personnel (SISP) Rubric

It is intended to be used diagnosis to a caseload of students, as well as educators who may provide indirect support to students through consultation to and collaboration This rubtic describes practice that is common across educators in professional support roles such as sotool counselors, school peyphologists throughout the 5 step evaluation cycle for educators who provide direct services such as education, therapy, counseling, assessment, school nurses, and others defined in the recognition clause of the appropriate collective bargaining agreement. with teachers, administrators, and other colleagues,

mbito stategically by discussing and agreeting upon certain Indicators and Elements that should be high priorities according to that educator's role essessment, targeted during gosl setting, a focus for more comprehenslive avidence collection, or all of the above. However, the expectation is roles and responsibilities of educators to whom this rubtic will be applied will vary. ESE encourages educators and evaluators to use the and responsibilities as well as his/her professional practice and sindent learning needs. There are a variety of ways to emphasize these components throughout the evaluation cycle. For example, high priority indicators and/or slaments can be analyzed in greater depth guring selfthat by the end of the evaluation cycle, educators and evaluators have gathered and whared a reasonable amount of evidence to support a rating for each Standard.

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel (SISP) Rubric At-A-Glance

 			· , ·		, <u></u>	<u>; ;</u>
Standard IV: Professional Culture	A. Reflection Indicator 1. Reflective Practice 2. Gogi Setting	ಕ್ಕು Professional Growth Indicator 1, Professional Leatiing ಇನ್ Growth	C. Collaboration indicator 1. Professional Collaboration 2. Consulkation	D, Decktor-Waking indicator i., Dealsior-making	E. Shared Respons)büty Indicator 1, Shared Responsibility	F. Professional Responsibilities indicator 1. Judgment 2. Reliability and Responsibility
Standard'ilk Famlly and Community Eugagement	A. Engagement Indicator 1. Parent/Family Engagement	E. Collaboration indication 1, Leganing Expectations 2. Student Support	C. Communication ladicator 1. Two-Wey Communication 2. Culturally Prodopent Communication		-	
Standard II: Teaching Ail Students	A. Irstruction Indicator 1. Quality of Effort and Work 2. Studert Engagement 8. Meeting Diverse Needs	B. Leanning Environment indicator f. Safe Leaming Environment 2. Colebotelive Learning Environment 2. Sticent Modivalon	c. cuiturai Proficiency indicator 1, Respects Differences 2, Maintains Respectiti Environment	D. Expectations Indicator 1, Clear Expectations 2. High Expectations 3, Access to Knowledge		
Standard ir Curriculum, Flanning, and Assessment	. Qurimitum and Pienning Indicator 1. Professional Knowledge 2. Child and Adolescent Development 3. Plan Development 4. Well-Strictured Lessons	i. Assessment Indicator 1. Variety of Assessment Methods 2. Adjustments to Pracilos	Analysis indicator 4. Analysis and Condiusions 2. Sharing Condusions With Collegues 3. Sharing Condiusions With Students and Families			

Note: The SISP ruinto is designed to have dose alignment with the teacher rubno to emphasize commonalities across edupators. Please see Appendix E addressing "Rote-Speoffio Indicators" for additional guidance and samples of how to strategically supplement this rubric to further differentiate by rate.

How to reference parts of the rubrior.

indicator terminology; under the "Teaching All Students" Standard (II), the" instruction indicator" (A) can be referred to as Indicator II-A Hement terminology: under the instruction indicator (A), the Student Engagement Element (2) can be referred to as Element il-A-2

Almanohmenta balmannak al Almanohmenta balmannak Almanohmentak balmannak

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

Specialized instructional Support Personnel Rubric

coherent instruction, designing and administentig authentic and meaningful student assessments, analyzing student performance and growth data, using this data to improve instruction, providing students with constructive feedback on an ongoing basis, and continuously Standard It Currioulum, Planning, and Assessment, promotes the feaming and growth of all students by providing high-quality and refining learning objectives.

Curriculum and Planning: Has strong knowledge specific to subject matter and/or professional responsibility, has a good grasp of child development and how students learn, and designs effective and rigorous plans for support consisting of well-structured lessons with measurable outcomes Indicator 1-A.

		Exampliary Demonstrates mastery of professional confent and its delivery by engaging all students in academic, behavioral, and sociallemotional learning experiences, through the use of educational antifor olinical practices, that anable students to synthesize, knowledge and edite, is able to modal this element.	Demonstrates expert knowfedge of the davelopmental fevels of the davelopmental fevels of individual students and students in the grade or subject more generally and uses this knowfedge to differentiate and expand learning expensiones, supports, and/or types of assistance, enabling all students to make allutificant progress toward in reduing stated outcomes. Is able to model this elament.
,	Phofiniant	Demonstrates sound knowledge and understanding of professional content and delivery by consistently angaging students in academio, behavioral, and socialiemolional learning socialiemolional learning educational andior offices the problem of processional andior offices in practices that shabe students to acquire knowledge and skills.	Demonstrates knowledge of shudents bevelopmental levels and the different ways these students learn or behave by prowiding differentiated learning experiences; alppoit, and/or assistance that enable all students to progress toward meeting intended outloomes.
House Hand to Chicomes,	Neads Improvement	Demonstrates factual knowledge of the professional content and delivery and somethines applies if to engage students in academic, behavioral, and sodial/endional learning expediences through the use of educational and/or clinical practices.	Demohstrates general knowledge of child and atlolescent desvelopment but does not apply this knowledge when providing differentiated learning experiences, support and/or assistance that would ensite all students—as opposed to just some—to move toward meeting intended outcomes.
"Seulonna amainteant mus arrest common and a selection and a s	Masterany	Denorshates Imhad professional knowledge; rales heavily on outdated pracipes as opposed to current pracipes auppointed by research. Sarely engages students in scendinic, behaviora, and social/enorchial leaning experiences through the use of edicational and/or clinical pracipes.	Demonstrates little or no knowledge of olify and arbiescent development sypically develops or learning experience, andfortype of support or asstrance for all students frat dosonot accipuately address intended outbornes.
	l-A, Elements	Frofessional Knowiedge	Child and Addlesselitt Development

Note: At the Exemplay layel, an advostor's layel of experies is such that he or she is able to mode! this element frough training, eaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this mode, this level of expertise is denoted by "he abte to model,"

March 2012

ESE Model Rubite for Specialized Instructional Support

page by of by a

Standards and Indicators of Effective Leaching Fractices

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

James Company			mely Well- IB	usriy, Indikta and ant attend 'attend ole to
	Exemplary	5	Develops or contributes to the dracy development of conprehensive, well-structured pleas with measurable outbonnes that respond to all relevant individual student needs, are condinated with other plans relevant to those students, and indiuds supports that snaple students to meet all goals or objectives of the plan; is able to model this element.	Develops well-structured and highly engaging lessons (which may include highly decisions) with challenging, measurable objectives and specifical conjectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, peoing, securence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping to aftend to every students needs, is able to model this element
	Profisient		paralops or contributes to the structured plans with measurable outcomes that respond to all relevant individual student needs, and include supports that enable students to meet the goals or objectives of the plan.	Davelops well-structured lessons (which may include insividual and group activities or sessions) with oballenging, measurable objectives and appropriets student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, softhites, marerials, resources, technologies, and grouping.
	Neads Improvement		Develops or confibutes to the timely development of plans that respond to some but not all refevant individual student needs, and/or plans that lask sufficient measurable outcomes or supports that enable students to meet all goals and objectives of the plan, all goals and objectives of the plan,	Develops lessons (which may include Individual and group activides or sessions) with only some elements of appropriate student engagement of attacegles, pacing, sequence, activities, materiale, resources, and grouping.
4	Unsattsfactory		Develops or contributes to the development of plans that are not finish and/or not fallored to the needs of individual students, or, plans do not include approplete, supports or measurable outcomes that would enable students to meet the goets and objectives of the plan.	Develops iessons (which may include hadwidual and group activities or sessions) with inappropriate skudent angagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, marenials, resources, and/or grouping.
いっていることは、	A. Elemente		-A-3 Pien)evelopment	A.4. Nell- Skrickirsd Lessons

"Plan" is used throughout this document to refer to a variety of plans, including but not limited to: lesson plans, unit plans, individualized Education Programs (HCPs), Carear Plans, and 504 Plans. The type of plan that an educator is responsible for depends on the educator. being evaluated; both the educator and evaluator should understand and agree upon the definition relevant to the educators role.

Notes At the Exemplary level, an educator's level of experiese is such frat he or she is able to model this element firough training, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstraing, in this rubing.

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Idicator I-B,	dicator I-B. Assessment: Uses a variety of informal and formal methods of assessments to measure student learning, growth, and	informal and formal methods of	l assessments to measure stud	ent learning, growth, and
	understanding to develop diffe	understanding to develop differentiated and enhanced terming experiences and improve future instruction.	g experiences and improve futo	re instruction.
B. B. Brander	Unsalistacion	Needs Improvement	. Frozlojeni	Exemplary
B-3, areannent aseannent leftnota	Administers assessments and/or collects only file data required by fris school and/or mescurae only point-linfine student achievament or development.	May design and administer assessments and/or collect some data to measure atticket learning, growith, or development, but uses a limited range of methods.	Designs and administers essessments and/or collects data to measure student learning, growth, and/or development furough a variety of methods, including informal and formal assessments and common intstim essessments where applicable,	Uses an integrated, comprehensive assessment system, incliding inclination and formal assessment methods and common their assessments where applicable, to measure student learning, growth, and development, is able to model the element.
E-2. diustrient to ractice	Makes few adjustments to practice by identifying andfor implementing appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs based on formal and informal assessments.	May organize and analyze some assessment results but only cocasionally adjusts practice and identifies and or implements appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs for students.	Organizes and analyzes results from a variety of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and uses finese findings to adjust practice and tiandify and or implement appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs for students.	Organizes and analyzes results from a comprehensive system of assessments to determine progress toward, intended outcomes and frequently uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated, intervientions, supports, or programs for individuals and proups of students and appropriate modifications of piars, is able to model this element.

Noter At the Examplery lavel, an aducator's lavel of expartise is auch that he or sha is able to model this element through training, teaching, example, and/or demonstrating, in this rulyic, this isval of expanse is denoted by "is able to model,"

page D-4 of D-45

paragraphy of the control of the con

March 2012

Standards and Indicators of effective i eaviling reasons.

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubific

			•		
hamanananan direnterapity (1977) — "quantity olimatical partical and a partical a	And the second s	Exemplary	Individually and with colleagues, dieses appropriate, actionable conclusions about programs, plans, and practices from a thorough analysis of a wide range of data that improve short and long-term planning decisions. Is able to model this element.	Establishes and implements a schedule and plan for regularly sharing with all appropriate colleagues (e.g., classroom fearhers, achtristrators, and professional support bersonnell condusions and insights about student progress. Seeka and applies feadback from them about practices that will support improved skutent learning and/or development, is able to model this element.	Establishes eatly, constructive feedback loops with students and families that oreate a dialogue about student growth, progress, and improvement is able to model this element.
Personnel Rubric	assessments, draws conclusions, and shares them appropriately.	Profident	incilvidually and with colleagues, draws appropriate constructors and about programs, plans, and practices from a florough analysis of a wide range of data to improve student feathing, growth, and development.	Regularly shares with appropriate colleagues (e.g., classroom teachers; administrators, and professional support personnel) conclusions about student progress and seeks feetback from them about predices that will support improved student learning and or development.	Based on assessment results and/or other date, provides descriptive feedback and engages attains and femilies in constructive conversation that focuses on student growth and minovement.
Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubrio	essments, draws conclusions,	Needs Improvement	Draws conclusions from a limitad enalysis of data to Inform student learning, growth, and development.	Only occasionally strares with collectures conclusions about student progress and/or seeks feedback from flam about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development.	Provides some feedback about student growth or progress beyond required reports but rarely shares strategles for students to grow and improve.
Speciality	ndicator I-C. Analysis: Analyzes data from ass	. Unsatlafactory	Does not enalyze data andfor draw conclusions from data beyond completing minimal requiraments.	Rerely shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress sind or rarely seaks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development.	Provides little or no feedback on student growtin or progress except through minimally required reporting or provides inappropriate feedback that does not support students to grow and improve.
Nonethern Department of The Park of The Pa	ndicator I-G. At	.C. Elements	-C-1. -Analysis strd Condusions	F-O-2. Strating Conclusions With Colleagues	F.C.3.: Sharing Condusions With Students and Families

Notes At the Exemplay level, an educator's level of experies is such that he or she is able to model this element firough training, teaching, applying, applying, and/or demonstraing. In this tubito, this level of experies is denoted by "te able to model,"

page D-5 of D-15

March 2012

. ESE Model Rubrio for Specialized Instructional Support

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice:

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubito

andard II. Teaching All Stadents. Promotés the leaming and growth of all students through instructional practices that establish th expeciations, create a safe and effective classroom environment, and demonstrate cultural proficiency.

and work; engage all students; and are personalized to accommodate diverse learning styles, needs, interests, and levels Instruction: Uses instructional and olinical practices that reflect high expectations regarding content and quality of effort of readiness, dicator B.A.

-				
A. ements	Unterfissacion	Neads Improvement	Profitient	Exemplary
المنافعة ال	Establishes no or low expectations for student work and behavior antitor offers few supports to help students know what is expected of frem.	May state high expectations for student work and behavior, but provides few exemplars and rubrios, or limited guided practice, and/or few other supports to help students form what is expected of firem.	Consistently defines high axpectations for student work and behavior, and the perseverance and effort required to produce it, often provides exemplars, rubrics, or guided practice, and or models appropriate behaviors.	Consistantly defines high expediations for student work and behavior and effectively aupports students to set high expeciations for each offer to parsevers and produce high-quality work. Is able to model this element.
A-2, udent ugagement	Uses Instructional and/or dinical practices that leave most students uninvelved and/or passive.	Usee instructional and/or clinical practices that motivate and engage some students but leave others uninvolved and/or passive,	Consistently uses instructional and clinical practices that are likely to moffyate and engage most students during the lesson, activity, or session.	Consistently uses instructional and olinical practices that typically motivate and engage most students during the lesson, activity, or session, and during the lesson, activity, is able to model this elsthert.
A-3. eeds	Uses ilmited and/or inappropriats precioes and/or supports to accountrodate differencés.	May use some appropriate practices and or supports to accommodate differences, but fails to address an adequate range of differences.	Uses appropriate plandos, including flered instruction, scaffolds, and other supports, to accommodate differences in learning styles, needs, interests; and levels of readiness, including those of students with disabilifies and English learners.	Uses a varied repelicite of practices and/or supports to create structured opportruities for each student to meet or exceed expectations for growth and development, is able to model this element.

loss Athe Exemplay layel, an educator's level of experies is such that ha of sits to model this element forough halling, teaching, essisting, and/or demonstrating. In this rubits, is even to experies is denoted by "Is able to model."

page D-8 of D-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective legening Fractice:

Specialized instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Learning Environment: Creates and maintains a safe and collaborative learning environment that motivates students to take academic risks, challenge themselves, and claim ownership of their learning. indicator Il-B.

Exemplary	Uses rifusis, ronknes, and prosolive reaponses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic take and play an active role—individually and collectively—in preventing behaviors that interfere with learning, is able to model this element.	Feaches and reinforces interpersonal, group, and comminication stills so that students seek out their peers as resources, is able to model this practice.	Correlisantly supports students to telertify their strengths, interests, and needs ask for support take rising stallenge friemselves; set learning goals; and monitor their own progress. Is able to model this element.
Proficient	Uses rituals, routines, and appropriate responses first create and maintain a eafe physical and infellectial environment where students take academic risks and most behaviors trat interfere with learning are prevented,	Develops students' interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides caportunities for students to learn in groups with diverse pears.	Consistently creates learning . speciences traiguide students to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support when appropriate; take tisks; and ckellenge fremselves to supper
Needs (thprovement	May create and maintain a safe physical environment but boconsistently maintains rituals, routines, and responses needed to prevent and/or stop behaviors that itterfere with all students' learning.	Teaches some interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides some opportunites for students to work in groups.	Oreates some learning experiences first guide students to identify needs, ask for support, and challenge themselves to take risks.
Lineatistactory	Mairkains a physical environment that is unsafe or does not support student learning. Uses happropriets or inefferdive rituals, rottlines, and or responses to refinione positive behavior or respond to behaviors that interfere with students learning.	Makes little effort to teach interpersonal, group, and oorhnurineation skills or hacilitate student work in groups, or such alternote are interferent.	Directs all learning axpellentes, prodding few, if any, opportunities for students to take risks or challenge themselves.
11-8. Ebotente	N-B-1, Safe Leeming Environment	11-3-2, Collaborativa Learning Erwironmant	1k3-2, Stadent. Malivation

Note: At the Exemplay level, an educator's level of expertise is such that he or, she is able to model this element through training, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this model, the level of expertise is depoted by "Is able to model,"

March 2012

ESE Model Rubio for Specialized Instructional Support

Rage D-7 of D-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practices:

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

		re a n	* is	
se naughtaunins, lusimples,	Exemplary	Establishes an anytonment in which students respect and affun their own and others difference and are aupported to share and explore differences and shullarities related to background, identily, language, strengths, and challenges, is able to model this element.	Antibopates and responds appropriates appropriately to dottflots or misunderstandings arising from differences in bedygrounds, languages, and Identifies in verys that lead students to be able to do the same independently; is able to model the relement	· ** Contrate on a
resieție il Waliole schwestes miver	Frofficient	Consistently uses strategies and practices that are likely to entitle students to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and offers differences related to beakground, identify, language, strengths, and challenges,	Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in packgrounds, languages, and identifies.	•
respected.	Maeds improvement	Establishes an environment in which students generally demonstrate respect for individual differences.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to some conflicts or misunderstandings but ignores and/or minimizes others.	•
cioriot 11-15. Cultural Frombergy: Acrycly steeres and inquiris an environment in which sinuches disciplication strengths, and challenges are respected.	Unsatisficatory	Establishes an environment in which etudents damonatete imited respect for individual differences.	Michinizas or Ignoras comilois and/or responds in inappiropfiate ways.	
cicator 11-C.	ದೆ. ಕಗಾತ್ಮಶತ್ತು .	C-1, sepecta fferences	C-4, eivielps sepeciful rytonment	-

ote: At the Exemplary level, an advoend's layet of expertise is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, assisting, andfor demonstrating, in this rubbio, is level of expertise to demonstrating.

March 2012

negative and the second second

page D-8 of D-15

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Fractice:

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Expectations: Plans and implements lessons and/or supports that sericlear and high expectations and also make knowledge, Information, andior supports accessible for all students. adicator 15-D.

Exemplary	Oterriy communicates and consistently emicrae specific standards for student work, effort, interactions, and behavior so that most students are able to describe them and take ownership of meeting them, is able to model this element.	Effectively models and reinforces ways that students can consistently accomplist challenging goals furough effective effort. Successfully challenges actions in inscorrections about inners ability, is able to model this element,	Individually and with colleagues, consistently adapts instruction, services, plans, communication, and/or assessments to make ounfouluntsupports accessible to all attricts for whom the educator has responsibility, froluding English learners and attricts with disabilities, is stole to model this element.
Proficient .	Gearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and zehevior.	Effectively models and reinforces ways find students can set and accomplish challenging goels through effective effort, rether tran having to depend on innate ability.	Consistently adapts instruction, sarvices, plens, communication, and or assessments to make curriculum supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility, including English, leamest students with disabilities.
Neads improvement	May communicate specific standarda for student work, effort, interactions, and behavior, but inconsistently or ineffectively enforces them.	May tell students that a goef is chafferging and that they need to work hard but does not model ways work hard san ecomplish the goef firough effective effort,	Occasionally adepts instruction, services, plans, communication, andor assessments to make curiculum/supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility.
Unsatisfactory	Does not make specific stancards for student work, affort, biteractions, and behavior clear to students.	Gives up on some skudents or sommunicates that some cannot accomplish challenging goals.	Rarely adapts instruction, services, piers, communication, and/or assessments to make curriculum/supports accessible to ell students for whom the educator has responsibility.
-D, Elements	J.D.H. Neer Sypeofallone	l-D-Z. -ligh Soperiedors	ii-ä. Abdess to - Knowledge

Note: Af the Exemplary base, an educabrix level of sycerias is such that he or she is aple to model this element through fraining, beaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating. In this minin, beaching, coaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating. In this minin, the fevel of expands is denoted by "Is sine to model,"

page D-9 of D-15

ESE Model Rubrts for Specialized Instructional Support

Warch 2012

1

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practices

Specialized instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Standard Ill: Family and Community Engagement. Promotes the learning and growth of all students through effective partnerships with families, caregivers, community members, and organizations.

Engagement: Welcomes and encourages every family to become active participants in the biassroom and school ndicator lima.

	,	
	Exemplary	Successfully engages most families and stefains their active and appropriate participation in the classroom and school community, is able to model this element.
de manual de la companya de la comp A	Proficient	Uses a variety of strategles to support families to participate actively and appropriately in the classroom and school community.
	· Needs Improvement	Makes linited afternots to involve families in school and/or dassroom activities, meetings, and planning.
comments.	Unsetteractory	Does not welcome familles to become participants in the plassroom and school community or actively discourages their participation.
	II-A. Elements	ll-A-d. ParankFamily Regernent

resks our evidence of their impact is Regulatly communicates with parents to share and/or Identify strategies for Successfully conveys to most parents olean, user-friendly student learning, behavior, and welfress expediations supporting learning and developing errocutages most families to use at least one of these strategies, and indicator II-B. Collaboration: Collaborates with families to create and implement strategies for supporting student learning at school and home, subbessfully is able to model this element, sple to modal this elament. Ekemplary Considerally provides parents with Regularly communicates with parents to create, stare, and/or identify strategies for supporting learning and development at plear, user-friendly expectations for student learning, behavior, Project school and home and/orwellness. Sends home occasional suggestions on now parents can support learning rules/expectations and an outline of the student learning, behavior, or Wellness plan for the year. and development at home or at Needs improvement and development both at home and at school. Sends home only a list of Rarely, if ever, communicates with parents on ways to support learning and development at home or at jeaming, behavior, and/or weliness expectations. Does not inform parents about Unsatisfactory Student Support 11-12, Denema _earning Expectations 구 石石

Note; At the Exempley level, an educator's level of expertise is such that he or she is able to model this element through treining, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating, in this rubbia, less level of expertise is denoted by "Is able to model."

page D-f0' of D-45

. ESE Model Rubhs for Specialized Instructional Support

Merch 2012

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice;

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

ndicator III-C. Communication: Engages in regular, two-way, and culturally proficient communication with familias about student learning, behavior and wellness,

_		-	
	Exemplary	Regularly uses a two-way system that supports frequent, proactive, and personalized communication with families about individual student ableaming, behavior, and welfness, is able to model this element.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding and appreciation of different families' nome language, outlite, and values, is able to model this element.
	Proficient .	Regularly uses two-way communication with families about student learning, behavior, and Wellness, responds promptly and parefully to communications from families.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding of and sensitivity to different families' home language, outfure, and values.
*	Needs improvement	Relies prinarily on sharing ganeral information and amounterments with families through one-way media and usually responds promptly to communications from families.	May ourmunitate respectfully and make efforts to take into account different families' home language, culture, and values, but does so inconstatently or does not demonstrate understanding and sementially to the differences.
	· Unsafisfactory'	Rarely communicates with families accept through required reports; rarely solicits or responds promptly to communications from families.	Makes few attempts to respond to different family cultural norms andfor responds lospopropriately or disrespectfully.
decommendation of the second o	II-C. Elements	il-C-1. Two-Wey Communication	ili-C-2. Culturally Protolent Communication

Note; At the Exemplay layel, an educator's layel of experilies is such that he or she is able to model this element through itshing, teaching, assisting, and/or demonstraing, in this rubito,

page D-11 of D-15

structuras de la Specializa de Supportudio de la Supportudio de Su

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practices

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

standard IV; Professional Culture, Promotes the learning and growth of all students through ethical, culturally proficient, skilled, and collaborative practice.

well as meetings with teams and work groups to gather information, analyze data, examine issues, set meaningful goals, ndicator 1V.A. . Reflection: Demonstrates the capacity to reflect on and improve the educator's own practice, using informal means as and develop new approaches in order to improve feaching and learning.

V.A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Neads improvement	Proficent) Alejúliak
V-A-1. Saffeoliva Practice	Demonstrates finited reflection on practice and/or use of insignts galned to improve practice.	May reflect on the effectiveness of instruction, supports, and interactions with estidents but not with colleagues and/or rarely uses inslights galied to improve practice.	Ragularly reflects on the afferdreness of instruction, eupports, and interactions with studentis, both individually and with colleagues, and uses insights gained to inprove practice and student outcomes.	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of histurdion, supports, and interactions with schoents, both individually and with colleaguest and uses and shares with colleagues insights gained to improve precitive and student outnomes. Is able to model this element.
V-A-Z Joel Setting	Participates passively in the goal- selfing process andor proposes goals first are vague or easy to reach,	Proposes one goal finat le vague or easy to achieve andfor bases goals . on a linited self-essessment and enalysis of student data.	Proposes of allenging, measurable professional practice, feam, and student learning goals that are based on thorough self. assessment and analysis of student 4sts.	individually and with colleagues builds capacity to propose and monitor challenging, measurable goals based on thorough seif-assement and analysis of student data, is able to model this element.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

Note: At the Exemplay layer, an educator's level of expenses is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, esslicing, and/or demonstrating, in this rubing, free of expertise is denoted by "is able to model."

page D-12 of D-16

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice: Specialized instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Professional Growth, Actively pursues professional development and learning opportunities to Improve quality of practice of build the expertise and experience to assume different instructional and leadership noise. indicator IV-B.

			ĺ
	Exemplary	Consistently seeks out pirfessional development and learning opportunities that improve practice and political and other and business in the truston, academic support, and leadership, is able to model this element.	
	Proficient	Consistently seaks out and applies, when applies, when appropriate, ideas for improving practice from supervisors, colleagues, professional development activities, and other resources to gain expertise and/or assume different instruction and leadership responsibilities.	
et des gild experietive to assume distriction of the cease some reservations.	Needs improvement	Partitopates only in required professional development and learning activities armior incompletely applicables new learning to improve practice.	
אינוריים אין החוור היא האוויאשוא	Unsalistactory	Participates in faw, if any, professional development and learning opportunities to improve practice andor applies little new learning to practice.	
	IV-B. Elements	1V-B-1. Professional Learning and Growth	

Indicator IV-C.		Collaboration: Collaborates effectively with colleagues on a wide range of tasks.	fide range of tasks.	
W-G. Elements	. Unektisfactory	. Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
N-C-1. Froressional Colleboration	Rarely andfor inaffectively colliaborates with sollectures; conversations offer lack focus on student performance andfor development.	Does not consistently collaborate-with colleagues in ways that support productive team effort.	Consistantly and effactively collaborates with colleagues fancing is lasted planning analox informal correseation in each work as: analyzing student performance and development and planning appropriate interventions at the classroom or school level.	Facilitates effective ordiaboration among colleagues finough shared planting and/or htformal conversation. In such work as analyzing student performance and development and planting appropriate, comprehensive interventions at the classroom and school level, is able to model this element.
IV.C.2. Corieultation	Regularly provides inappropriate advice; does not provide advice and experites to general education teachers or principal colleagues unless prompted to do so; and/or falls to offer advice when appropriate.	Provides advice and expertise to support general actuation feachers and office collegiques to create appropriets and effective academilo, behavioral, and sociallentorional behavioral, and sociallentorional behavioral, for whom responsibility is shared, or sometimes provides advice that is mappropriate or poorly customized.	Regularly provides appropriate advice and experies that is customized to support general education teachers and other collegues to create appropriate and effective academic, behavioral, and socialiencelonal learning experiences for students for violant responsibility is shared.	Utilizes a variety of means to regularly provide achice and experites that is customized to support general education feachers and other colleagues to successfully create appropriate and effective academic, behavioral, and social educational earthwise and effective academic, acaning experiences for students. It seaming experiences for students. It abis to model this sigment.

Note: At the Exemplay level, an educator's level of expendes le such frat he or she is able to model this element through training, beaching, exemplay, and/or demonstrating, in this ribrio, this level of expertise is denoted by "is able to model."

ESE Model Rubrio for Specialized Instructional Support

March 2012

page Duts of Duts

Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice:

Specialized instructional Support Personnel Rubric

school Improvement efforts. Is able to madel this element in planning and decision-making at the school, department, and/or grade lavel, consistently contributes ideas Decision-Waking: Becomes involved in schoolwide decision making, and takes an active role in school improvement and expertise that are critical to Examplary ideas and expartise to planuing and decision meking at the school, department, and or grads level. Consistently contributes relevant Proficient decision making at the sonool, department, and/or grade level but rarely contributes relevant ideas or May perticipate in plenning and Neads Improvement exportise, making at the school, department, and/or grade level only when asked and rarely contributes relevant ideas or expertes. Participates in planning and decision Unsatisfactory pianning. ndicator N-D, Jenialon-Making V.C. Demonts 삼년,

ndicator IV-E.	ndicator IV-E. Shared Responsibility: Share	Shares responsibility for the performance of all students within the school.	ance of all students within the s	choot.
भिन्द, मिलगुडवर्फ	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplany
N-표-1. Shared Responsibility	Rarely reinforces schoolwide betravior end is stravior end learning expectations for all students end/or makes a limited contribution to their jeerning by rarely sharing responsibility for meeting fileir needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, inconsistently retriouses schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by inconsistently sharing responsibility for meeting their needing their needing their needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, consistently relatives schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and contributes to their learning by sharing responsibility for meeting freir needs.	frdhidually and with colleagues; develops stategies and actions that contribute to the learning and productive behavior of all students at the school, is calle to model this siertent.

Notes At the Exemplary level, an educator's level of expertes is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, essabling, and/or demonstrating, in this rubbing, this laver of expertise is denoted by "Is able to model,"

Standards and indicators of Hieduve reading Fractice,

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

-			·		
	-1	The manufactural of the second	Demonstrates sound judgment and adds appropriately to protect student confidentially states and selection for	able to model this element	Consistently fulfills all professional responsibilities to high standards. Is able to model this element.
8. and meets routing responsibilities and	Profitient		Derkonstrates sound judgment redecting integrip, honcery. fairness, and frustworfilness and	profects student confidentiality appropriately,	Consistently futilis professional responsibilities is entistiently punotual and reliable With paperwork, duties, and assignments; and is rarely late or absent from school.
lifies; is ethical and teliable, and meets routing resnonsivings.	Needs Improvement		softetines demonstrates quastionable ludgment and/or madverterrity shares confidential	Tion Bird of the Control of the Cont	Occasionally misses or is lette to easignments, completes work late, and/or makes errors in records.
Indicator IV-F. Professional Responsibilities	Unsatiafactory .	The state of the s	denomination in the state of th	The state of the s	Prequently misses, or is lake to sasignments, makes errors h records, andfor misses paperwork deadlines; frequently late or absent.
Indicator N.F.	IV-45, Flennands	N-17.	Judgmett		IV-F-2. Relebility & . Responsibility

Notat At the Exemplay texet, an educator's texet of experitse is anota first to acide to model, this element through training, teaching, testing, and or demonstrating, in this rubito, this texet of expertise is denoted by "is able to model," ESE Model Rubric for Specialized Instructional Support

page, D-15 of D-15

March 2012

Guide to School-Level Administrator Rubric

2MR 35.021 - are a orfical component of the Massachusetts educator evaluation framework and are required for every educator. Rubrics are develop a common ferminology, and structure to organize evidence, and (3) make informed professional judgments about formative and designed to help educators and évaluators (1) develop a consistent, shared understanding of what proficient performance locks like in practice, (2) Rubrics — defined in the regulations as "scoring bodist that describe charactaristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance" summative pertormance ratings on each Standard and overall. This appendix contains the ESE Model School-Level Administrator Rubric

Structure of the School-Level Administrator Rubric

- Standards: Standards are the broad categories of knowledge, skills, and performance of effective practice detailed in the regulations. There are four Standards for edministrators: Instructional Leadership; Management and Operations; Family and Community Engagement and Professional Culture.
- indicators indicators, also detalled in the regulations, describe specific knowledge, skills, and performance for each Standard. For example, filere are five indicators in Standard i of the School Administrator rubble, frictuding Curriculum, Instruction, and Evaluation.
- Etements: The elements are more specific descriptions of actions and behaviors related to each indicator. The elements further break down the Indicators, into more specific aspects of educator practice and provide an opportunity for evaluators to offer detailed feadback that serves as a roadmap for Improvement.
- Descriptors: Performance descriptors are observable and measurable statements of educator actions and behaviore aligned to each element and same as the basis for Identifying the level of teaching or administrative performance in one of four categories; Unsatiafaciony Naeds Improvement, Prohofent, or Exemplary.

Use of the School-Level Administrator Rubric

This rubric describes administrative leadership practice at the school level. It is intended to be used throughout the 5 step evaluation cycle for the evaluation of puholouis by the superintendent (or the superintendent's designee). The rubric can also be used in the evaluation of officer school based leaders (such as assistant principals, department heads, deans, etc.) by the principal or other district administrator.

strategically by discussing and agreeing upon certain indicatiors and elements that should be high priorities according to that administrator's role and responsibilities as well as hisher professional practice, student learning, and school improvement goals. There are a variety of ways to emphasize frese components throughout the evaluation cycle. For exemple, high priority indicators and/or elements can be analyzed in greater depth duting self-assessment, targeted duting goal setting, a foous for more comprehensive evidence collection, or all of the above. However, the expectation is that by the evaluation eyels, administrators and evaluators have gathered and shared a reasonable amount of evidence The responsibilities of administrators to whom this rubtlo will be applied may vary, ESE encourages administrators and evaluators to use the rubito on every indicator to support a rating for each Standard

ESE Model Rubric for School Level Administrators

JEDJENY 2012

TO BOT

Massachusata Denatment of Educativa Satutiva ATTON

Massachusetts Model System for Educator Evaluation

Part III. Guide to Rubrics and Model Rubrics for Superintendent, Administrator, and Teacher

School-Level Administrator Rubrio

January 2012

Massastusetta Department of Elementary and Secondary Equeation 72 Pleasant Street, Maiden, MA 02143-4906 From 721-398-2000 TTY: N.E.T. Relay 800-438-2370 www.dos.mass.edu



QMR 35.02) — are a critical component of the Massachuşatts educator evaluation framework and are required for every educator. Rubrics are dealgned to halp educators and avaluators (1) devalop a consistent, shared understanding of what proficient performance locks like in practice, (2) develop, a common terminology, and structure to organize evidence, and (3) make informed professional judgments about formative and Rubrics — defined in the regulations as "scoring tooligh that describe characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance" (603) summative performance ratings on each Standard and overall. This appendix contains the ESE Model Scincol-Level Administrator Rubric,

Structure of the School-Lavel Administrator Rubric

- Standards: Standards are the broad categories of knowledge, skills, and performance of effective, practice detailed in the regulations. There are four Standards for etiministrators: *instructional Leadership*; Management and Operations; Pamily and Community Engagement, and Professional Cultine.
- Ë Indicators, Indicators, also detalled in the regulations, describe apecific knowledge, skills, and performance for sech Stendard. exemple, there are two Indicators in Standard I of the School Administrator minic, including Cuminnium, Instruction, and Evaluation.
 - down the Indicators into more specific aspects of ectoator practice and provide an opportunity for evaluators to offer detailed feedback Elements: The elements are more specific descriptions of solions and beharlors related to each industor. The elements further break that serves as a roadmap for improvement,
- Descriptors: Performance descriptors are observable and measurable statements of educator actions and behaviors aligned to each element and sarye as the basis for Idanffying the level of teaching or administrative performance in one of four categories; Unsadsfacion, leeds Improvement, Proficient, or Exemplery,

Use of the School-Level Administrator Rubris

This rubric describes administrative leadership pradice at the school level. It is interrised to be used throughout the 5 step evaluation oyde for the avaitation of pitholpals by the superintendent (or the superintendant's designee). The rubin can also be used in the evaluation of other school based leaders (such as aselstant principals, department heads, deans, etc.) by the principal or other district administrator,

dapith dutting saft-assessment, fargetsd duting goal setting, a focus for more comprehensive evidence collection, or all of the above. However, the and responsibilities as well as his/har professional practice, student learning, and school improvement poals. There are a variety of ways to emphasize these components finoughout the evaluation cycle. For example, high priority indicators and/or elements can be analyzed in greater expeciation is that by the end of the evaluation cycle, administrators and evaluators have gathered and shared a reasonable amount of evidence The responsibilities of administrators to whom this rubric will be applied may vary. ESE encourages administrators and svaluators to use the rubric attategically by discussing and agreeing upon certain indicators and elements that should be high priorities according to that administrators role on every Indicator to support a rating for each Standard.

SE Model Rubric for School-Level Administratore

BD80

EE	Z,
9 4	$^{\circ}$
문장	H
基度	⋾
章狂,	
正常	ば
官等	~
夏良	υi
,25,00 s	

School-Level Administrator Rubric At-A-Glance

		•		•		•
Standard IV: Frofessional Outure	A. Commitment to High Standards Indicator C. Commitment to High Standards 2. Mission and Core Values 3. Meetings	B. Guitinat Proficiency Indicator 1. Policies and Practices	C. Communications indicator 1. Communication Skills	D. Confinious Learning indicator 1. Confinious Learning of Staff 2. Confinious Learning of Administrator	E. Shared Vision indicator 1. Shared Vision Development	A Managing Conflict Indicator 1. Response to Disagreement 2. Conflict Resolution 3. Contagns Byllding
Standard lik Family and Community Engagement	A. Hngagement inflicatur 1. Ferniy Ergagement 2. Countlyffy and Business Engagement	2, Sharkig Responsibility Indicator 1. Student Support 2. Family Collaborator	O. Communication indicator 1. Two-Way Continuisation 2. Outlarelly Praficient Communication	D. Family Concerns indicator		
Standard II: Management & Operafions	4. Environment indicator f. Plans; Procedures, and Routines 2. Operational Systems 7. Student Settin, Health, and Social sind Enrichonal Negula	E. Hunan Rusoupoes Managament & Development Indicator 1. Recultment & Hing Strategies 2. Inducton, Professional Development, and Career Growth Strategies	C. Scheduing & Wanagement Information Systems Indicator 1. This for Teaciling and Legining 2. Time for Colleboration	D. Levr, Effice & Policiae incleater 1. Laws and Policies 2. Effical Betenior	rt 2, Pissal Syxtems lindoatar 1. Pissal Syxtems	
Standard it instructional Leadership	A, Curricatura indicator 1. Sanderde-Beseat Unit Design 2. Lesson Dévalopment Support	B, hetoroffon Indioseor 1. hetoroffonal Practess 2, Quality of Effort & Work 3. Divates Lagrans' Neads	0. Assessment indicator 1. Variety of Assessments 2. Adventent to Practice	D. Evaluation intitotion 1. Edusator Goals 2. Cheebralich B. Feedback 3. Rethigs 4. Algument Reviav	E. Data-Informed Deriation Meking Indicate 1. Knowledge & Use of Dafa 2. School and District Gouls 3. Improvement of Performance, Effectiveness, and Learning	

estatus partitus part

r r

Standards and indicators of Effective Administrative Leadership

School-Level Administrator Rubric

Standard I: Instructional Leadership. The education leader promotes the learning and growth of all students and the success of all staff by cultiveting a shared vision that makes powerful teaching and learning the central focus of schooling.

indicator i-A. Curdevium Ensuras that all teachers design effective and ingorous standards-based units of instruction consisting of well-structured lessons with messurable outcomes.

Exemplary	Empowers staff to orgate with a backward design approach figorous. standards-based units of instituction. Uset it a signed sorosa grade levels and content areas. Confinitally motifors and assesses, progress, provides fresiback, and contracts educators to additional supports as ineeded, is affer to model fulls element.	Supports educators to colleborate on devaloping a series of Interconnected, well-structured leasons with a challenging objectives and appropriate student engagentest strategies, padran, sequence, trategies, padran, sequence, trategies and grouping and itsuffice exemplers and leasuttoes in each area, is able to model this element.	
Proficient	Provides supportant assistance for educators and teams to use a barkward design approach to plan afantatus-based tutis with niesurable outdones and his ast children to cuton the first state and call the first state and call the first state and call the first state outdown the first state of the fi	Supports educators to develop well-structured fossoris with affainging, mercurable objectives and appropriets student engagement strategies, paulng, septuancs, activities, materialis, technologies, and prouping.	
. Nesta improvement	Gives educators resounces on how to tree a backward design approach to planning standards-baced units and chooks that fractions bygage in instructional planning. Somethess in monitors and assertes progress and provities feedback.	Proyldes limited training to edificators on how to develop well-structured tessons and/or does not consistently address patients of week leason development practices.	
Unsafferaciony	Does not set the expectation that educators plan standards-besed units of lustrocion, provide educatate resources or alphont for this acivity, andour monitor or assess progress.	Doss not state expectations for the development of well-strockmen (secore, provide support to educators, andorolesciphinate between strong and weak is eson-plaining practices.	4
i-A. Flementa	PA-1. Standerds- Based Unit Design	FA-E. Lescon Dayslopment Support	-

Standards and Indicators of Effective Administrative Leadership

School-Level Administrator Rubric

effort and work, engage all students, and are personalized to socommodate diverse learning styles, needs, interests, and Indicatori-B. - instruction, Ensures that instructional practices in all settings reflect high expectations regarding content and quality of

lavela of readiness,	adiness,		our fernandin franchis factor Rivillan antonia composition of the comp	יין ויאניגט, עוומוטטוט, מווט
Uneattefactory		Needs Inprovenerit	Proficient."	Handlay
Cose for the form of the first with the form of the first	While review looks t Meriti	Wills abserving practice and revisement of the coastonally tooks for evidence of or socurately tooks for evidence of or socurately the first appropriate teaching strategies and practices.	White observing practice and raviswing unit plans, jocks for and Ridentins a variety of effective teaching strategies and practices.	Ersuras, finough observation and review of unit plans, that teachers frow and employ effective teaching. Hatelegies and practices while beauting that content is able to modal this element.
Does hot set high expectations for the May a quality of content, studely either, effort, ending and/or student work schoolwide, or student expectations are inappropriate.	May si quality studer expec appile	May est high expectations for the quality of collish, student effort, and student effort, and student work schoolwide but allows expectations to be inconstetently applied sorces fre school.	Sots and models high appectations for the quality of content, student softent, and student work schoolwide and supports, educators to upkord these extremations consistently.	Sets and modele fulfit expectations for the quality of content, efulfert effort, and efulfert work exposing and enderthe end entire entrance educators and atudents to uphoid fless expectations openietiently, is able to model this element,
Dosa hot took for sydenics of anolon While cannot accurately dendify more then a ravial few effective tesching straigles and looks practices.	While looks looks the looks the looks the looks diver	While observing practice and leviewing unit plans, consionally locks for solvening the solvening of the solvening for the solvening state for practices that are appropriate for diverse learners.	While observing practice and reviewing rulf plans, looks for and identifies a variety of teaching strategies and practices that are effective with giverse learners.	Enterres, filtruigh observation and resident of the filtranskers and employ teaching strangues and pravilose that are effective with diverse learners while teaching their content, is able to model this element.

FORMS APPENDIX

Instructional Practices Used to Help Students Inter	BEL WILL COMPAN		
[] Mentifying Simularities and Differences			
I Specializing and Mote Teling	•	. •	
[] Honowork and Review	·		
[] Mondingpistic Representations, Visual Coes/ Manipulatives	•		
f] Cooperative Learning Interpresent Work		• •	
Hygothesis/Predictions	* •	•	
Achyeing Background Knowledgo		•	
[] Technology Individua	• .		
Distilying Chilest Information	•	•	
[] Examining Boors in Responding			٠
Using Academic Games			*
Debate/Friendly Controversy		,	
Setting Objectives/Providing Feedback	•	•	
[] Academia Willing	•	-	
Higher Order Thinking and Questioning		•	
Use of Onestions, Prompts, and Cues to Scattold Learning	-	*	
[] Inquiry, Role-Playing, and Experiential Learning Activities	•	, -	
" 1 Whicational Organizata		'	
Differentiation to Meet Student Needs		•	
I Tractice		* -	
[] Modeling Ibloking	y	•	
[] Other:	•		
the same of the sa	- administration		
Frequency of "Checks for Understanding" (formati	An american	•	
r 7 Was Checks for The decidenting Observed		• •	
F 1 1.2 Checky for Hadeastending Observed		•	
1 1 Milliple Checks for Understanding Observed		•	
Comments on the use of Instructional Fractices			
The state of the s		7. 2	
		•	
		b	Ī
Student Instructional Mode		•	
Sindent Instructional Mode	,	•	Ī
Flow are sindents engaging in instruction?			
How are sudents engaging in instruction? I Individually			•
How are sendents engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] in a small group			•
How are students engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] in a small group			•
How are students engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] In a small group [] As a whole class	•		•
Flow are sindents engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] In a consil group [] As a whole class [] Inpartners			•
Flow are sindents engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] In a consil group [] As a whole class [] Inpartners	•		•
Flow are sindents engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] In a could group [] As a whole class [] Inpartors Teacher Lustructional Mode	•		•
Flow are sandouts engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] In partours Teacher Tuelractional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction?			•
Flow are sindents engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] Impartous Teacher Lustructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? I Whole Class Direct Instruction	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•
Flow are sandouts engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] Inpartours Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] Individually [] In a small group [] In a whole class [] Impartors Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a could group [] In a could group [] In a could group [] In partors Teacher Instruction at Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] I small Group Direct Instruction [] I individual instruction [] Teacher			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] Inpartors Teacher Luctractional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Lecture [] Replications Providing Resoback			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] Inpartors Teacher Luctractional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Lecture [] Replications Providing Resoback			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In a small group [] In a small group [] In partours Teacher Instruction at Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Inclination Providing Feedback [] Leading Diseassion	-		•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In partours Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct instruction [] Small Group Direct instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] I techne [] I trading Discussion [] Under			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In partours Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Rections [] Institution Directs to the property of the proper			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In a small group [] In a whole class [] Inpartours Teacher Tustructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Inching Instruction [] Icetime [] Rectition Diseassion [] Yideo [] Teat Quize [] At Deat/ Computer			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In a small group [] As a whole class [] Inpartours Teacher Lustructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Itective [] Iteritistical Providing Feedback [] Leading Discussion [] Video [] Inst Conv. [] Attenting to Misc. Needs			•
I Individually In a conflict opposite of purple In a conflict opposite of purple In a conflict opposite of			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] I has small group [] I has whole class [] Inpartours Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Iterine [] Rectituding Providing Rections [] Iterial Discussion [] Video [] Test Quiz [] Atthesit Computer [] Attenting to Misc. Needs [] Manitoring Student Transitions [] Chrestoling			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] I has small group [] I has whole class [] Inpartours Teacher Instructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Small Group Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Iterine [] Rectituding Providing Rections [] Iterial Discussion [] Video [] Test Quiz [] Atthesit Computer [] Attenting to Misc. Needs [] Manitoring Student Transitions [] Chrestoling			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? 1 Individually 1 In a small group 1 As a whole class 1 Inpartoras 1 Inpartoras Teacher Lucturalizated Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? Whole Class Direct Instruction			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? 1 Individually 1 In a small group 1 As a whole class 1 Inpartoras 1 Inpartoras Teacher Lucturalizated Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? Whole Class Direct Instruction			•
Flow are students engaging in instruction? [] In a small group [] In partners Teacher Lustructional Mode What is the teacher doing to deliver instruction? [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Whole Class Direct Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] Individual Instruction [] I leading Diseassion [] Video [] Itading Diseassion [] Vest Quiz [] Attenting to Misc. Needs [] Manitoring Student Transitions			•

Classoon/Walkhiough - The Sep 20 11:58:05 EDT 2012

*	
I . TAAT	ESE - 1. Self-Aspessment
17113.17	Evaluator:
Name:	Date:
School	•
والمراج والمراج والمراجع والم والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع	Shared
Primary Evaluator (Name/Title)	
	water by Mr.
Supervising Evaluator (Name/Tifle/Role)	e commence of the same of the
Part I: Analysis of Student Learning, Crowle Driefly communize areas of strongth and high-princity or evidence such as results from available assessments. This lutividuals and/or teams who joudly writer and analyze	meerns for hungars united you temporated by educator, but Part I can also be used by
	and the state of t
tr SF overling line	
Team (if applicable)	- A Company of the Co
List Team Members (Happlicable)	The state of the s
	and the state of t
Part 2: Assessment of Practice Agricst Perto. Citing your districts performence tubes, briefly summe Standards, Indicators, or Demands, at spar multiple Indi- submitted by caucator, but Part 2 can also be used by tea	rive ereas of sucagin was increased Standards. The form should be individually
the same of the sa	When the state of
L'eam (if applicable)	
List Team Members (Happlicable)	•
and the state of t	and the state of t
The state of the s	-
Separatore of Educator no signature	
the analysis signature indicates that he or she has reco	edyed a copy of the self-assessment form and the goal selling form with proposed
togle. If the kunt genine attinoval of the Brater	
त्रव डांड्रतमंप्रगर-	
•	

Part State in the state of the						
f .			to sing		.	
	Classroom	Walkfler	ansp	,		
Name:		B	rahrator; i	•		
lades lades	•		Defet	•	. 4	•
94HPP)	Hapseil; *			
E LA LANGE LANGE CONTRACTOR LANGE CONTRACTOR	almonosoff front live demonstration on the	transcourodie 17 Mess	Share			a do a compresso a sego a cadado .
Lesson/Activity Objective			•		. ,	
	opetpt that is the lea	अंगि हैव दिवस सुर्थात	lesson or activit	À <u>j</u>		
	*	\$	***************************************			<u> </u>
			-	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 		
Student Ragagement Level			•		*,	•
Engagement defined as "students attending to fi	e instructional activi	ती सुरतिसमञ्ज कर्ती	र्श्वंबहरा _न	٠		
[] All E] All-1 [] Most (90%-99%) [] Some (50%-89%) [] Fow (49% or less) [] None						
Strategies Used to Eusuro Eugagement	•					
That is the teacher doing to course that all studen	an ni begagan en al	aningfiil learning	g activities?		,	4
I Equitable Distribution of Questions and Resp. I Promitive Student Grouping I Managing Response Rates I Using Physical Movement I Effectively Addressing Problem Behaviors I Appropriate Pacing I String Classroom Expectations I Building Reinforcing Student Admit Relations I Using Praises' Recognition I Withing Praises' Recognition I Withing Praises' Recognition	gains	•				
	Lesson/Activity Objective What is the "casity discensible" topic, still, or o Student Engagement Level Engagement defined as: "sindents stiending to fi] All [All-1] Most (90%-99%)] Some (50%-89%)] Fow (49% or less)] None Strategies Used to Rushre Engagement That is the teacher doing to cosons that all stoden I Nothing and Reacting when Sindents menot I Equitable Distribution of Questions and Resp Proactive Shadent chouging I Managing Response Rates [Using Physical Movement] Rifectively Addressing Problem Behaviors [Appaymisto Pacing Setting Classroom Espectations [String Praise Recognition [Using Praise Recognition	Lesson/Activity Objective What is the "casity discensible" topic, still, or consept that is the lead Student Hargagermont Level Engagement defined as "students sticading to the instructional activity All All-1 All-1 All-1 Anot (90%-99%) Fow (49% or less) I None Strategies Used to Huser o Hagagement That is the teacher doing to cusors that all students are regaged from a Noticing and Reacting when Students are not Hapaged Requisible Distribution of Questions and Responses Proactive Student Choping Managing Response Rates Using Physical Movement Bilictively Addressing Problem Behaviors Apparaisto Pacing Setting Classroom Expertations Britishing Reinforcing Student Adult Relationships Using Praise/ Recognition Withiness/ Proximity Awareness Lesson Piermed and Structured to Support Student Learning	Lesson/Artivity Objective What is the "casily discensible" topic, still, or concept that is the learning goal of the Student Engagement Level Engagement defined as: "students attending to the instructional activities occuring in] All-1 [All-1	Essent Activity Objective What is the "casity discensible" topic, still, or concept that is the learning goal of the lessen or activity Estudent Huga general Level Engagement defined as: "students attending to the instructional activities occurring in class." All All-1 All-1 All-1 All-1 Mose (90%-99%) Some (60%-89%) Few (49% or less) None Grategies Theoff to Huber & Huga genuent What is the teacher doing to cusors that all students are cogaged immeaningful learning activities? Noticing and Reacting when Students are not Engaged. Equitable Distribution of Questions and Responses. Prostive Student Couping. Managing Response Rates Tring Physical Movement. Hiterively Addressing Problem Behaviors. Appropriate Pacing Setting Classmoom Expectations Building Reinforcing Students Adult Relationships Using Praise/ Recognition Withinest Proximity Awareness Lesson Elemed and Structured to Support Student Lessuing	Tesson/Activity Objective What is the "casity discarsable" topic, still, or consent that is the learning goal of the lesson or activity? Studient Burgargement Lewel Engagement defined as: "students attending to the instructional activities occurring in classe" All All-1 All-1 All-1 All-1 All-1 All-1 All-2 Bone (50%-99%) Bone (50%-89%) Bow (49% or less) Nions Strategies Used to Ensure Burgargement That is the teacher doing to cusors that all students are not Burgared. Burdicing and Reacting when Students are not Burgared. Burdicing Endent Counting. Managing Response Raise Using Physical Movement Bitterively Addressing Problem Burgarians Burding/Reinforcing Students Admit Relationships Burding-Reinforcing Students Admit Relationships Cosing Praise/Recognition Withing-Reinforcing Students Admit Relationships Lesson Flormed and Structured to Support Student Learning	Elegent Activity Objective What is the "easily discensible" topic, still, or concept that is the learning goal of the lesson or activity? Student Hangagement Levrel Engagement defined as "students attending to the instructional activities occurring in classe" All All All Ands (90%-99%) Some (50%-89%) Fow (49% or less) None Trategies Used to Husure Hangagement Phat is the teacher doing to course that all students are napaged in meaningful learning activities? Noticing and Reacting when Students are not Engaged Engulable Distribution of Questions and Responses Proactive Student Grouping Managing Response Rates Using thysical Movement Effectively Addressing Problem Bubayious Appropriate Pacing Setting Classnoom Expertations Building Tacinforcing Students Adult Relationships Osing Praisel Recognition Withtnessy Proximity Awareness Lesson Planned and Structured to Support Student Learning

Comments on Engagement Strategies

SMART: 5—Specific and Strategic; Modicasmobile; A—Ariton Oriented; Re-Rigorous, Respirite, and Resolfs-Focused; T-Timed and Tracked.

Byalmator Signature -no signalure-

Teacher Reflection

Please rater year comments on the systestion.

Teacher Signature (indicates receipt)

~ no signatur≥⊷

Classicom Walkilmongh Provided condesy of Branklin Montheon Supervisory Tolon, Richford, VT For monoinformation visit; firesunct

Signature of Educator

As the evaluator relains frost authority over goals to be included in an educator's plan (see 603 CMR 35.06(3)(c)), the algorithm of the educator indicates that he or she has received the Goal Setting Borm with the Final Goal box checked, indicating the evaluator's approval of the goals. The clusator's signature does not necessarily denote agreement with the goals. Regardless of agreement with the final goals, signature indicates accognition that "It is the educator's responsibility to advant the plan and to participate in any habilitys and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Behester Plus." (see 603 CMR 35.06(4))

- अर्थ औद्वारतवास्य -

MADESE-	2A. Goal Se	tting Fo	rm			HICTORIC
Name:		tvalonioxi Dato:	,			Books
Schoof:		Shand:		•	-	No.
and the contract of the state o	CONTRACTOR OF THE PARTY OF THE	*			·	
Primary Evaluator (Name/Title)						7
,		· 		·		1
Supervising Evaluator (Name/Liffe/Role)	••			,		· ·=1
3. Ellis of Education		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	-		···	, m
. minimum of one sindent learning goal and one professional 5.06(3)(b). Attach pages as needed for additional goals or ref	yajoos maga to brobo Branjor Boaj era kodi	केर्ट्य, 'टिश्ला ह इट्यें हुठबंड वेपर्ल	oo ad teem alac apotapa ant gu	nsidered per 603 mend of the Uda	CMR caine Plan.	
Madent Learning SMART Goal		•	•	•		
tratent Learning Goal Type		-				
beck whether goal is individual or lean; utio teamuano it applicable.			÷			
J Individual J Tema	,	•			•	
indeni Learning Team Name (ii applicable)		*		Q		1 .
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			·		
indent Learning Goal				•——.		-
Difference at the Control of the Con						
The second secon	.,			•	-	•
rofessional Practice SMART Goal	-	_			•	
rofessional Practice Goal Type		_				
heck withing god is individual or han; rite has name if applicable.	~		•			
I individual . I Tesun	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		*		•	
rbiessimal Practice Team Name (it applicable)			***************************************			7.
EDIGORIHAT ETATION ELECTRICATION CONTRACTOR		,				j
chiesalmai e lacino						
			•		•	
rofessional Practice Goal			1 	A STATE OF THE STA	- 	1

44 Sept. 18

the seminary of the seminary o

and the same and the same of t

· MA DESE - 3B.	Educator Co	dection o	f Eviden	26	
TATES TO DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	Transferrence in the second	Evaluator:			
Name	•			,	
Saboo ^j		Daie.			•
		Shatea	, H		<u>L. Laborer</u> , etch can grade in sec
timary Evaluator (Name/Title)			•		•
The state of the s					1
		-			•
upervising Evaluator (Name/Title/Role)	\$		<u> </u>	·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	the state of the s				
1 Control for	•		•		
vidence perfains in = 603 CAAR 35.07(I)(c)1, "Bridense compiled and prese	111		House of firtfills	nent of motes	istrates
sponsibilities and growin, audi navalit assessmens, per multutions to the school community and professional cu owever, educator collection of syldance is not linded to	r comporation, profes None; 7. Byddenos of a these areas.				
Thilfillment of professional responsibilities and growth Beidence of outreach in and ongoing engagement with	families	•	•		•
Progress toward attaining student learning goals) Progress toward attaining puriestional punites goal(a)					. ,
vidence perfains to (Office)			,		
micht poutati to (P	,, <u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>			·
appear of the same		****	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
unitary of Evidence					•
mmarize the evidence compiled to be presented to evalue	dor with a briotenplys	is, Attach additi	over basica se po	eded	
			•	F	
	*				
tachments (If any)	•	•			
enthectied or upload documents that support this evidence	e in	4.	•		,
- Company of the Comp			, -,,-,,-,,,,,,,,-,,-,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 			
pature of Educator		•	•	*	
इतिभवात -			•	•	
matere of Evaluator					, .
Signalue	(1905-cons seems)	ه محجوستها در	para 102.55		4 harasa
Sitting C.					
4				•	

	MA DESE'-	ZH. Liduca	tor Plan Form	<u>.</u> .	, .
Neider "	· ·	•	· Evaluator:		
School:	•	•	Date:		
			Shated:	- A COLUMN TO THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF T	and other blancard man
apergising Byahadar, If a	my (Name/Tifle/Role)		•		•
stitut I mare	The state of the s		•		
	**************************************				•
Ancator Plan .	•		r '		•
Additional details may be noted	below if accided.	-			
J Self-Dieteted Growth Plan					,
Directed Growth Plan	,	n		•	
Developing Beneater Plant Tanggovernent Plan*			•		
2 tradition and a second				•	•
Jan Doration			3 ,		
1 2-Year	,		, ,	•	_
i One-Year I Less than a year	•				•
<i>*</i> ,		•			
tert.Date			**************************************		····
1	-,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	kk	
	* **	•			•
hd Date					a1
			•		
<u> </u>					
inal Goal Statics	-				
and anticities may apply to God	organit of multiple goals or t	ppes of goals (sto	lent learning or professio	nal practice).	
Goal Setting Houns with final	อกหรับ การ conmiltried			•	
•		•	,		
indent Lexicing Goals - Pl	lanned Activities			يحه ييو م	4
	The Transferred Commencer of the Commenc	oning goals, Activ	dies may apply to indivi	idal modor icam. Pe	or each action, .
escribe actions the educator will i pocalishes ources from the school	district, and the fineline in	odocaoa. Tablera	mà sicinne az man ne red	frances .	***
~~~~ <del>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</del>			•		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······	MARKET - ST. MARKET	, 444 to 4		1
cofessional Practice Goals	- Planued Activities			•	
	The Contract of the Contract o	al practice goals.	ctivities may apply to in	dividual and/or tem	n. Fig. pauli
	the school/district, and the	time bot frequency	y. Liet as mucy autions as:	мну Бе тедейтей.	
escreba actions the eincene ward New Telephonetelescopess from			The state of the s		
ecisto acitico fite educator will i Non, fist arpportaluscorese fium		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- A Land Company of the Company of t	1	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

į

Signature of Evaluator

-११० हर्नेष्ट्रावीधारू-

....

Signatore of Evaluator -- no signature--

Signature of Educator

Signature of the educator indicates acknowledgement of this report, it does not necessarily denote agreement with the contents of the report. Educators have the approximate in associate this report in white and may use the Educator Report Form.

→ no signáhore ~

Name: * School. Source of Evidence For example, unit plans, benchmark de	da, parest confedence, obse	Byelinator Date Shared Syaficar Noto II plassiona.	F 34 **	Composite representation of the contract of th
Source of Evidence Forexample, imitylens, benchmadid	da, paraet confessoro, obse	gyalicar. Motorif plasscope.	obscavatanis singley sizelo	of classic board to the page of
				Serot magnificance
	,			,
Skandard / Tudicalor Joh Skadard and Indicator to which c	ridence is thed. But exemp	1, "T.B".		
Lucipais of Bridence		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
teconductes based on observations and ther forour of explones to support dete nodified after soulgels of brownwall d	annone reintes on Stanting	かった ひととりじき しんばんぶつんしん	suc examine, . mm bywba	were appropriately
The state of the s			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
cefibacit Provided rishyrecord feedback given in educa Hushwad to practice, reggested teath	n collapointe, kint rosur cir ox (c.2.4 spendins recoltriza	cd, suggestions for ingrave buckward cuiriumium wsp	encen). For example, "rec ging".	gaons boxingo:

the state of the s

- 1

a to a a monotonitation application of a

,....

And the same of th

II: Teaching All Students	4 		
Refignale, evidence, and feedback for i	nduo Apartem	·	The state of the s
	S	and the second s	-
and the State of t	mark		
Mi Family/Community Engage	Profesent	Needs Improvement	Unsalislaciny
Exemplary  III: Family and Community Pagagement (F		and the state of t	
		· - 2	•
III: Family/Community Engage	ment	,	,
Knimple, syldener, mi ferdback for it	altro Actocat.		Company of the Compan
-		*	
F	*		•
IV: Professional Cultura	market and the state of the sta		Tosalisfactory
: Framakry	Proficient .	Meeds Improvement	Disabstantey
Illi Professional Culture (Formative)		H	
IV: Professional Culture	••		•
Recionale, swidence, and feedback for in	dico Attanene	•	
	k		,
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Overall Performance Rating			
Bromplay	Proficient:	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfictiony .
Overall Performance (Formotive)		•	,
	ŧ		
Overall Performance Rating	n danament		
Retionals, evidence, and feeliback for im	hto drawner		
	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1 de la companya del companya de la companya del companya de la co			,
Plan Moving Forward	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	1	_
[ ] Self-Directed Growth Plan [ ] Directed Growth Plan			
F T Trouscoverce at Plant	• ,•		,
[ ] Developing Educator Plan	•		awa eeres is . Whadaa
The educator shall have the opportunity t	respondin wiling in the fi	constitue explination as per 602 CMR.	35.06(5)(g) on the isomeann
Response Form.	;	*	is and a second of
Her and the street of the stre	•		
Signature of Evaluator -no signature -		- '	•
		•	
Signature of Fincator	علنا مشور سيا	b when we would be a state of marine	of with the contents of the repairt.
Signature of the educator indicates advice Signature have the opportunity to respon	lio hisupoutiu viding and Nedgenentaliu viding and	not not received y trains received may use the Rhoppior Reput Four.	THE SECOND SECON

- anthraiz on -

Newa	Hendusko:	
School	Dates	
•	Shared:	•
As per 603 CIMR 35.0% and 603 CMR 35.06(5), formative as octions in echocate plans, personance on personance and Superviering Evaluater, if any (Name/Tille/Role)	alards, or both.	assess progrese towarda attalning go
		***************************************
Assessing .		•
Progress towned attaining goals Performance on Standards		
Progress Toward Sindent Lenning Goal(s) Describe contact level of progress and feedback for improve	nour. Attach additional pages as needed.	
T 2	MARKALANIA	
Progress Toward Professional Fractice Goal(s) Assemble current level of progress Atheir additional pages as	nordéd,	• •
The state of the s		* A
Performance on Each Standard		
: Carriculum, Planning, & Assessment	٠,	
excibe performance and fredback for injunvement.	•	1.
e Teaching All Students escaloperformance and teedback for improvement.	·	,
STATION COLUMN TO THE PARTY OF	**************************************	2
Li Family & Community Engagement		•
escribe perferences and isother for ingrovement.		
*		
'i Professional Culture	•	_
scales performance and feedback for improvement.	•	
- Address	- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	d .

	· ·
MADESE-4	B. Formative Evaluation Report
Name: Schook	Bysidaior: Date; Shencel;
brown the second	the contract of the contract o
Supervising Evaluator, if my (Name/Tiffe/Ki	0.69)
,	- Constitution of the Cons
Assessing [ ] Progress toward attaining goals [ ] Performance on Standards	
Progress Toward Student Learn	ing Goals
Student Learning Goals - Progress Rating [ ] Receded [ ] Met [ ] Replicant Progress [ ] Euro progress [ ] Bid not meet	
Student Learning Goals - Rationals, syldence	ગોગાર્તિમિલ્લો મેનલ્લ
Student Learning Carata - Calculated attached	3 400-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-2
Progress Toward Professional Pr Professional Practice Gods - Progress Rating [] Becoded	. 8
[] Mot [] Republicant Progress [] State progress [] Did not meet	
Professional Practice Goals - Rationale, eviden	ice, and feedback
Perfuxuance on Each Standard Evelueix injectedd comments (islimide, ceideaca, articei	ibark) ifratings differ firmi price Summalive Evaluation.
I: Curticulum, Planning, & Assessment	
Exemplary Proficient	: Needs Improvement Unsadisticatory
It (Steelendom, Planning, and Assessment (Permulies)	
I: Curriculum, Planning, & Assessment Retionals, cyldence, and the display in improvement	
The state of the s	
II: Teaching AII-Stadents  Exemplay Proficion	Needs Improvement Unsalistischery
II: Teaching All Stadents (Formative)	The second secon

 $\sup_{x\in \mathcal{X}_{k}} \|x\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \sup_{x\in \mathcal{X}_{k}} \|x\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \sup_{x\in \mathcal{X}_{k}} \|x\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \sup_{x\in \mathcal{X}_{k}} \|x\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$ 

ter bettermieren .

market market management of the second secon

	•		•
II: Teaching All Students		~ _	
Rationale, evidence, and feedback	Citor, imitaro Achrent.		
	-	*	
III: Family/Community Ex	igagement		and the state of t
Fremplay	, Proficient	Needs Improvement	Upselisfactory
III: Banily and Computatily Bugayern	uent (Simonottive)	ŧ	•
HI: Family/Community En	gagenent		
Rationale, evidence, and feedback	for improvement	-	•
		######################################	
		**************************************	<del></del>
IV: Professional Culture	•		~
Bremplary	Profitient	Needs Improvement	Unsalististictory
IV: Professional Cidines (Summative)		*	
IV: Professional Culture	•		
Reficuele, exidence, and feedback:	for improvement		
TORTOGRAP ASSESSED -3			
(		The state of the s	
Overall Performance Rating	er er		
Remoplary	Proficient .	. Needs Improvement	Uppninfectury
Overall Performance (Summalive)	5		ř.
Overall Performance Rating	x	•	
ryerau recumando same Rationale, evidente, and feedbank i	For interropeance		
CARLOTERIO, CALIDAZIONA			
Ware To A nation of Marriage Will		•	
Yen Maying Foriyaril		······································	
Inn Moving Fortvard I Schildisched Growh Plan I Diessch Growh Plan			
] Schildreched Growth Plan ] Directed Growth Plan ] Trompyraniant Plan			
Schillicated Growth Plan   Directed Growth Plan   Improvement Plan   Developing Educator Plan	The desire manages of the constitute of the form	ormalive explusion as per 603 CMR 35	OG(5)(a) em the Länezior
Schillinecial Cinowili Plan   Directed Chowth Plan   Improvement Plan   Developing Educator Plan   he churcher Shall have the opportu	મું મારક્રુા મું કેમું મુક્કા મું પ્રોમ	innedve eviduation as per 603 CMR 35	.06(5)(a) on the Läncetor
Schillicated Growth Plan   Directed Growth Plan   Improvement Plan   Developing Educator Plan	ndy in respond in witing to the C	ocrosive eviduation as per 603 CMR 35.	.05(5)(e) on the Ednesius
Schillected Cnowth Plan   Directed Cnowth Plan   Improvement Plan   Developing Educator Plan   Developing Educator Plan   the educator shall have the opportu-   the poose Born.	ndy to respond in writing to the C	oznosive evrination as per 603 CMR 35	.06(5)(a) on the Lönestor
Schillinecial Cinowili Plan   Directed Chowth Plan   Improvement Plan   Developing Educator Plan   he churcher Shall have the opportu	મુંદ્ર કું	rangive equivation as per 603 CMR 95	,06(5)(a) on the Länerior
I Schilderich Chowil Plan I Directed Chowil Plan I Directed Chowil Plan I Developing Educator Plan Incedurator Shall have the opportu exponse Born. Signature of Evuluator so signature—	•		
I Schilderical Coowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Developing Educator Plan the chicator shall have the opposin tesponse Born. figurature of Evaluator no signature— tematore of Educator	The hand of the world of	f foru mot neckiobatily dervice accetalent	
I Schilderical Coowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Developing Educator Plan the chicator shall have the opposin tesponse Born. figurature of Evaluator no signature— tematore of Educator	The hand of the world of	innerive evaluation as per 603 CMR 35 toos not necessarily denote aperanent denty use the Educator Report Foun.	
I Schilderical Coowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Directed Chowid Plan I Developing Educator Plan the chicator shall have the opposin tesponse Born. figurature of Evaluator no signature— tematore of Educator	The hand of the world of	f foru mot neckiobatily dervice accetalent	

18	•		Market Committee of the
ř	KA YMPSP _ S Servor	native Evaluation Repo	rt
, . T	KETS Trethfores - 414 to retires	•	
Name:		Bralinator:	
Schoor:	•	Dair	• H ,
фалосс	•	Shared	. •
	······································		error de de de la companya de la com
Supervising Evaluator, if a	ny (N'ame/Tiffe/Role)		
		ydan taanan dan marangan dahan yang managan dahan daha	
*		<b>*</b> ,	. 1
Assessing		•	
[ ] Progress toward straining goal	kg -	• •	•
[ ] Performance on Shadenis			••
			•
Progress Toward St	mient Learning Go	als	. •
Student Learning Goals - P	cogress Rating		
[] Exceeded			_
[] Met		•	•
[ ] Elevificant Progress :	•		
[ ] Some progress	•		
i i Didnotnest	•		• • • •
1¢ +t			•
Student Learning Goals - R	ationale, evidence, and fee	dback	
	•		
		•	•
Progress Toward Pi Professional Practice Goals	-		
[] Exceeded		1,	•
[ ] Met	٠		
[ ] Significant Projects	`,	•	
Some progress	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	•	
[ ] Did not meet		· •	-
Professional Practice Goels	Ruffonale, svidence, and	Letypack .	
	*		
Carried and the second	1	*	•
Performance on Each Stand	ard.	• •	
CELIE HURING ON ASSAULT	L williams was a through the	atings differ from prior Summative Evalu	alion.
Bysinator must sild comments fram	were' excepted of restrace) was	with attitude broken farmer as	- * *
		***	,
E Coiricalum, Planning, &	Assesment	ways and the same of the same	
Exemplary	Proficient	Nexis frequovenent	Unsatisfactory .
Correction, Planning, and Aspesyme	nt (Summire)		•
	• •		•
& Cucclement, Planning, &.	Assessment	•	•
Ruionelle, exidence, and fexibate l	n improvement		
,	4		
Add - Ladde day bearings for strong and building		was a second	t
II Teaching AILSmilents	<i>;</i>		
Banaplay	Profishent	. Nosla Improvement	Doesdelactory
E Teaching All Students (Summative)	the state of the s		

---:

	•		
	MA Simmle - 2. Ter	acher Goals and Actio	e Plan
Day	T(EIX DIMENTAL	Byalustor:	,
Name:	+ * * <u>*</u> <u>+</u>	Date	
School:	•	Shared:	and the second s
The state of the s	and the same of th	to regress ofens angine Time and	oblight), then shares the form. The
The feather creates this force evaluator may approve the p	a and fills in the elidear learning av Joals, then fills in the 4vilon plans fi	d professional practice gods (green bi or each god. When complete, both the	educator and evaluator sign the form.
Sindept Learning Gos	ds .		
Programme and white	h most be approved by the eveluato	r, Judicsip team name for seam guals.	
Teacher rivines Engry's string		<u></u>	
-		many many many many many many many many	
The office of	-Sasio	* * •	•
Professional Practice	orugus h vonetka serromani by the evaluate	r. Indicale team name for team gnals.	
Teathor dumes down' was	Trutopan Mariana and		4
4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Estate and the second s		**	•
Goal Approval	A THE SELECTION OF	gobl(s) need refinement, evolusion may	r indicate changes required here.
Evalusion indicata approved a	TE EDUT DA MATERIA ATTENTO 612 . TO	Bonney and a second	
1 ,		*	
Type of Plan.		- In the water or Immovement Plan.	,
indicele type ne: Self-Dicede	al Growth, Directed Growin, Devel	oping Remostor, or Improvement Plan	
**************************************			
Plan Duration		min had a see	whiten content sessionals vess.
indicate dimention of the plan	ps: 2-Year, 1-Year, or less flow one	'year. List slart and end dates if differe	and the same of th
			,
And the second s		•	•
Student Learning Goal	s Planned Activities	was est.	#
Describe actions the eclocation	must take to altely the stadent lear	ring goals. List resources and fineline	h August mercebank.
THE PERSON NAMED IN THE PE	E. STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF TH		
	- Land Company of the State of	ىيىلى ئىرىنى <u>دىن ئىلىدى ئىلىنى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدىن ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئىلىدى ئ</u>	- Alexander Grand Control of Cont
Prefessional Practice G	pals - Planned Activites		-
months actions the ectorator	intustiake in utain the professional	practice goals. List recourses and time	olines where necessary.
MONTH OF THE PARTY	······································		- Type
To the day when the	And the state of t		
Signature of Educator	Southern received of CVIMPLETED force	o, and does not necessarily denote ago	comeni with the explesion.
	return Benefits are reseased pressions and	•	,
no signature -		A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	*
Agazhere of Evaluatoi:	• • •	•	1
Speakers of the evaluator and	दिश्रोदः ब्यूम्बर्ग्यो वर्षे द्ववर्धाः स्वते वृत्रिकाः		
าเก รโซกเซโลเซ-		*	• • •
			* *

HAA Chanda - 7 Tempher Canada arrid Addina Plan - Thu Seb 20 12:12:48 EDT 2012.

1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·		
	MA DESI	s - 6. Educi	ctor Response		
Name: Name: School:		* 3	Brainator; ; Duir. Shared: ;		A MONEY COMPANY OF THE PARTY OF
Primary Evaluator (Nat	ne/Tifle)	I	*		,
Zamanaj mara				* · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
E.	V	Allan, egg egg egg egg egg egg egg egg egg eg		1	, - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Supervising Evaluator (	Name/Title/Role)		~\\		
	,				
- day of the same	***************************************	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•	
I Educator Flan, including E Bezinstor collection made I Formative Assessment or I I Summative Evaluation Rep Response to (Other)	r malyan or ovidence Systemation Report	· ·			
Reshome to (Orner)	* 3				**************************************
				D4D(1770) D3 114(110) P100	
Educator Response	,			1 u	
The state of the s	1				
Affecinments (Hany) List attached of officed docume	ada giar ealbbiad, appe in ealboine	aform.			
* *					
Signature of Educator no signature	b	<del>h ye, aan ah </del>			

-no signature -

• ,	·
. Educa:	tor Improvement Plan
Name: Schoek	Evaluator; Date:
Subject: Grade:	Share: Off
Problem of Practice #1:	
	•
Goal #1:	
Activities and work products the Educator mu	ist complete:
seistance that the district will make available	
Geneurable outcomes that will be accepted as	e evidence of improvement:
imeline for completion of each component of	the Plan:
and the second s	
dividuale assigned to assist the Educator:	
	· .

•					
		**			
Problem of Practice #2;					
Problem of Liscrice as	•				٠_
				•	
				•	
	• -			•	
Goal #2:			• .		
CHORI HZF	•			_	
			41111	.,	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •					
	A				
- 1				• •	
Activities and work products the Educator must c	omplete:	•		•	
	<del></del>	<del></del>	<del> </del>		
•		•	•		
		•	•		
Assistance that the district will make available:	•		•		
	~	,			
,					
	•				
the state of the s	**************************************			-11-4	
•				•	
Measurable outcomes that WII be accepted as ev	ldence of impr	overneur.			_, _,
The state of the s					
•			•	•	
***	•				
- Annual Control of the Control of t				4 111 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1	
	Mr				
Timeline for completion of each component of the	Plant				
the second secon	y , ,				ĺ
			-		j
A CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY O		······································			
				t.	
ndividuals assigned to assist the Educator:	".		-		إمسيدن
the state of the s					
·				-	
	***************************************	+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44+44		113	
Problem of Practice #3:		:			
Topiem of Fractice #5.					•
1 Mary Mary Mary Mary Mary Mary Mary Mary			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		7
•		•	•		9

ч .	7
Goal #3:	, ,
Activities and work products the Educator must complete:	*
Willylines and Moly bungons me regulator must commune	
Assistance that the district will make available:	
vieasurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of impr	ovement;
imeline for completion of each component of the Plan:	· · ·
ndividuals assigned to assist the Educator;	
(I) MILLION COUNTY OF MARKET AND	
ate plan was presented to Educator:	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ignature of Educator: gnifying that Educator and Evaluator met, the plan was explain flucator	ed, a copy of the plan was received by the



Signature of Evaluator:
Signifying that Evaluator met with Educator, explained the plan, and gave Educator a copy of the plan

'समृह

## APPENDIX E Independent Medical Examination Agreement

# Agreement between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Teachers Association

WHEREAS, concerns have arisen regarding the fitness of employees to return to work after having been incapacitated due to illness or injury;

WHEREAS, the Cambridge Teachers Association Units A through E and the Cambridge School Committee have met in an effort to resolve these concerns;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual promises and covenants, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Association and the Committee hereby agree as follows:

- 1. In accordance with past practice, the Cambridge School Department ("Department") reserves the right to require appropriate documentation after an employee who is a member of Units A, B, C or E of the Cambridge Teachers Association has been absent for ten (10) consecutive days or if a pattern of attendance or a pattern of sporadic absences of concern to the Department is evident. Additionally, in accordance with past practice, the Cambridge School Committee reserves the right to require periodic reports from the employee's treating medical provider on the issue of continued illness or injury and/or fitness to return to work.
- 2. In accordance with the provisions of Article 9 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Teachers Association Unit D and the Cambridge School Committee and past practice, the Department reserves the right for the Superintendent to request a health exam if a substitute is out three (3) or more days or if a pattern of attendance or a pattern of sporadic absences of concern to the Department is evident. Additionally, in accordance with past practice, the Department reserves the right to require periodic reports from the employee's treating medical provider on the issue of continued illness or injury and/or fitness to return to work.
  - 3. If a member of the Cambridge Teachers Association Units A through E is absent for thirty (30) or more consecutive days or if a pattern of attendance or pattern of sporadic absences of concern to the Department is evident, the Superintendent has the right to require an examination of the member by the City's chief medical officer or his representative. A member's medical provider shall be afforded full opportunity to consult with the City's chief medical officer or his representative prior to any

determination by such chief medical officer or his representative as to the status of the member's illness or injury and/or the member's fitness to return to work, including any recommended reasonable accommodations that will facilitate the member's return to work. If the member's medical provider and the City's chief medical officer or his representative disagree as to the status of the member's illness or injury and/or the member's fitness to return to work, including the necessity of any reasonable accommodations that will facilitate the member's return to work, the Department will coordinate the selection of a third medical provider who is acceptable to both the City's chief medical officer or his representative and the member's medical provider. The third medical provider, at the expense of the Department, shall examine the member and render a written advisory medical opinion as to the employee's fitness to return to work, including the necessity of any reasonable accommodations that will facilitate the member's return to work. The third medical provider's opinion on the foregoing subjects will prevail, although nothing herein shall require the Department to implement accommodations which it determines to be too burdensome. Copies of such advisory medical opinion shall be transmitted by the examining medical provider to the Executive Director of the Cambridge Public Schools Office of Human Resources, the City's chief medical officer or his representative, the member and the member's medical provider.

If the parties are in agreement regarding the City's chief medical officer's recommendation that that member is not fit to return to work, or, if the third medical provider determines that the member is not fit to return to work, then the member shall be continued on paid or unpaid leave, as appropriate.

If the parties are in agreement regarding the member's fitness to return to work, or if the third medical provider determines that the member is fit to return to work, the member shall no longer be continued on leave and shall therefore be obligated to return to work, so long as the Department implements the accommodations, if any, recommended by the third medical provider unless the Department has determined that the implementation of such accommodations would be too burdensome; otherwise the member will be subject to appropriate discipline.

The opinion of the third medical provider shall be final and binding on the parties and shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration provisions of the applicable collective bargaining agreements between the Cambridge School Committee and Units A through E of the Cambridge Teachers Association.

Nothing in this Agreement shall impair the Department's inherent right to discipline or manage employees in the bargaining units covered herein,

including the right to impose discipline with respect to attendance issues, subject to the terms of this Agreement.

WHEREFORE, the Association and the Committee have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative as of the date set forth above.

CAMBRIDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE

Thomas Fowler Kan

CAMBRIDGE TEACHERS ASSOCATION

_

## APPENDIX F PEER OBSERVATION AGREEMENT

# AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CAMBRIDGE TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION AND THE CAMBRIDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE

This Agreement between the Cambridge Teachers Association (hereinafter the "Association") and the Cambridge School Committee (hereinafter the "Committee") is entered into as a clarification of purpose and usage of non-evaluative observations of a teacher by another teacher, sometimes known as peer observations, currently utilized by some of the public schools of the Cambridge Public Schools.

WHEREAS, the Association is aware that the Committee has, in recent times, encouraged the use of non-evaluative teacher observation as a method of improving student instruction; and

WHEREAS, the Association recognizes the benefits of professional learning communities within schools and, therefore, the power of non-evaluative teacher observations to improve practice and student learning; and

WHEREAS, the Committee and the Association agree that in order to maximize the benefits of said observations, teachers should be provided with appropriate professional development and adequate time for the meetings and observations to occur; and

WHEREAS, the Committee and the Association share an interest in maintaining the integrity and benefits of collegial relationships between teachers;

NOW THEREFORE, the Committee and the Association hereby acknowledge and agree, as follows:

1. The Committee and the Association acknowledge that the nonevaluative teacher observation process can occur in various forms. All tools utilized for non-evaluative teacher observation of a peer shall not be used by the Committee and/or its agents to supplant, modify or otherwise compromise the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Teachers Association Units A&B as then in effect, including without limitation, the standards, procedures and instruments for teacher evaluation recognized and contained within said collective bargaining agreement between the Committee and the Association, as then in effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge and agree that the principal of any school or other supervisory administrator may include as part of a professional improvement plan the requirement that a teacher engage in non-evaluative peer observations. The principal of any school or other supervisory administrator may request

confirmation of the dates and times of non-evaluative peer observations that are conducted as part of a professional improvement plan and the dates and times of such non-evaluative peer observations may be documented as part of a professional improvement plan.

- 2. All tools utilized for non-evaluative teacher observation of a peer shall not be used by the Committee and/or its agents to supplant, modify or otherwise compromise the content of any part of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Teachers Association Units A&B, as then in effect. The Association and the Committee acknowledge that this provision shall not mean or otherwise be interpreted or construed to restrict the provisions of paragraph 1, above.
- 3. The Committee and the Association acknowledge and agree that any written document generated as a result of a non-evaluative teacher observation shall remain the property of the teacher who is conducting the observation. Said non-evaluative teacher observation, whether written or verbal, does not have to be disclosed to anyone other than the teacher being observed and the non-evaluative teacher observation will not become part of any teacher's personnel file and/or evaluation.
- 4. The Association and the Committee acknowledge that if the principal of any school or other supervisory administrator determines to utilize a non-evaluative teacher observation process that the principal of any school or other supervisory administrator will provide for professional development opportunities and training for teachers interested in techniques, strategies, methodologies and/or protocols that relate to the proper implementation of non-evaluative teacher observation during staff meetings.
- 5. The Association and the Committee acknowledge and agree that the principal of any school and/or other administrators and the staff at all of the public schools are always free to discuss teaching practices and methods and ways to improve teaching and student learning and nothing in the foregoing sentence should be read, interpreted, or otherwise construed as impinging upon, restricting or otherwise narrowing the management rights of the Committee.
- 6. The Association and the Committee acknowledge and agree that if there are any concerns arise with respect to the use of non-evaluative peer observation at any school that the parties will, upon request of the other party, meet to discuss such concerns.

WHEREFORE, the Association and the Committee have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative as of the date set forth below.

For the Committee

1) d /4/ c

For the Association

Date

3

### APPENDIX G EXPANDED LEARNING TIME AGREEMENT

#### Agreement between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Educators Association Units A, B, C, D & E for Expanded Learning Time Programs at the King School and Fletcher-Maynard Academy

This Agreement is entered into between the Cambridge Educator Association ("Association") and the Cambridge School Committee ("Committee") as of the of April 2014 and constitutes an agreement by the parties to settle the issues regarding the Expanded Learning Time Programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy with this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement will prevent the parties from negotiating a successor collective bargaining agreement for each unit that may address any subject of bargaining except issues related to Expanded Learning Time Programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy and this Agreement shall be considered an appendix to such applicable collective bargaining agreements.

WHEREAS, the Cambridge Public Schools as part of its mission for meeting the needs of all students began to offer expanded learning time programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy in the 2006-2007 school year;

WHEREAS, the Cambridge Public Schools continues to offer expanded learning time programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy;

WHEREAS, the Association and the Committee have met in an effort to resolve concerns regarding the implementation of expanded learning time programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy;

WHEREAS, the Association and the Committee agree that upon acceptance of the expanded learning time programs by the King School and the Fletcher Maynard Academy that the provisions of this Agreement will only pertain to the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy in the Cambridge Public Schools;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual promises and covenants, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Association and the Committee hereby agree as follows:

- 1. The Association and the Committee agree that:
  - all expanded learning time opportunities for the King School will initially be posted solely within the King School and all expanded learning time teaching opportunities for the Fletcher-Maynard Academy will initially be posted solely within the Fletcher-Maynard Academy without such limited posting being considered a violation of the posting provisions of Article 12, Section III of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee as then in effect. If any expanded learning time opportunities

for the King School are not filled by applicants from within the King School and/or if any expanded learning time teaching opportunities for the Fletcher-Maynard Academy are not filled by applicants from within the Fletcher-Maynard Academy, then the unfilled expanded learning time teaching opportunities will be posted in accordance with the posting provisions of Article 12, Section III of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee as then in effect;

- (ii) all applicants for expanded learning time teaching opportunities shall receive the following information at the time of their application for selection and participation in the expanded learning time program at either the King School and/or Fletcher-Maynard Academy:
  - (a) the length of the school day and school year;
  - (b) the amount of time required for the expanded school day;
  - (c) the amount of additional prep time, if any, provided in connection with the expanded learning time teaching opportunity;
  - (d) any additional time required during the summer and/or other school vacation periods and/or beyond the expanded school day; and
  - (e) any other duties and obligations beyond those set forth in the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee as then in effect;
- any individual hired for expanded learning time teaching opportunities may be required to attend meetings or engage in other duties and obligations beyond the expanded learning time hours and work day in accordance with the provisions of Article 5, Section B, subsections B-1 through B-3 and B-5 and Section C, subsections C-3 and C-4 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect.
- (iv) any teacher selected for expanded learning time teaching opportunity and who works between the minimum of three hundred (300) hours of additional learning time in the expanded learning time program and three hundred fifty-nine (359) hours of additional learning time in the expanded learning time program will be provided with fifteen (15) minutes of daily, duty free preparation time, in addition to the preparation time set forth in Article 5 D-2(a) of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee as then in effect. Any teacher selected for expanded learning

time teaching opportunity and who works between the minimum of three hundred sixty (360) hours of additional learning time in the expanded learning time program and four hundred twenty (420) hours of additional learning time in the expanded learning time program will be provided with twenty (20) minutes of daily, duty free preparation time, in addition to the preparation time set forth in Article 5 D-2(a) of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee as then in effect. It is understood and agreed between the Association and the Committee that this additional daily, duty free preparation time may not be contiguous to the daily, duty free preparation time provided to the teacher in accordance with the provisions of Article 5 D-2(a) of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B. Such additional daily, duty free preparation time shall be arranged at the discretion of the principals of the King School and Fletcher-Maynard Academy.

It is understood and agreed that teachers of the King School and Fletcher-2. Maynard Academy as teachers of the Cambridge Public Schools shall be required to work the full work day/work year as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B, as then in effect. It is further understood and agreed that those teachers of the King School and Fletcher-Maynard Academy who are selected to participate in the expanded learning programs shall be required to work the additional time applicable to their expanded learning time teaching position, which include additional hours beyond the regular workday as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and Cambridge Education Association Units A&B. It is further understood and agreed that an expanded learning time program must include a minimum of three hundred (300) hours of additional learning time during the school year. Teachers who work this additional time of three hundred hours per year in an expanded learning time position providing direct instruction to students in the expanded learning time program shall be compensated the salary set forth below in addition to their current salary set forth in this collective bargaining agreement:

#### Members of Units A&B

	Years of Experience	Annualized Rate for 300 Hours
Level One	0-5	\$11,952.00
Level Two	6-10	\$15,239.00
Level Three	11 or more	\$18,227.00

If a principal chooses to implement an expanded learning time program consisting of more than three hundred (300) hours of additional learning time during the school year, the compensation will be pro-rated accordingly. It is further agreed that compensation for all schedules in the expanded learning time program that are less than three hundred (300) hours shall be pro-rated based accordingly. Additionally, the Association and the Committee acknowledge and agree that if an individual who is serving in an expanded learning time teaching opportunity goes out on leave for twenty (20) or more consecutive days, for any reason including without limitation, for a medical leave, personal leave or otherwise, the payment of the stipend set forth above will end on the twenty-first (21st) day of said leave. The Association and the Committee further acknowledge and agree that the individual will not be paid the stipend for the period of time he or she is not performing such expanded learning time opportunity duties. It is further agreed between the Association and the Committee that if the individual returns from said leave during the same school year and resumes his/her duties under the expanded learning time program, then payment of the stipend will resume as of the date on which the individual reassumes his/her duties in the expanded learning time program.

- The Association and the Committee further acknowledge and agree that the schedules set forth above in paragraph 2 pertain to the additional salary that is 3. paid to either a Unit A member or Unit B member when such member is required to work the additional hours of the expanded learning time program in order to teach students and that such additional salary is paid due to the fact that the member, whether in Unit A or Unit B is engaged in teaching students during the expanded learning time. The Association and the Committee further acknowledge and agree that when a Unit B member is required to work the additional hours of the expanded learning time program and to perform the duties and responsibilities of their Unit B position (i.e., assistant principal) during the additional hours of the expanded learning time program, then a stipend of \$4,000.00 (four thousand dollars) will be paid to an assistant principal who is required to work the additional hours of the expanded learning time program at either the King School or the Fletcher Maynard Academy and is solely performing the work, duties and responsibilities as an assistant principal.
- 4. The Association and the Committee agree that the acceptance and selection of individuals to participate in and be employed for the additional hours of operation at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall be at the discretion of the principal of each school, and shall not be grievable under the applicable collective bargaining agreements between the Cambridge Education Association Units A, B, C, D and E and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect.
- 5. It is understood and agreed that members of the Cambridge Education
  Association Unit D that are employed as substitute teachers for teachers who are
  working an expanded learning time schedule at either the King School and/or
  Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall be required to work the full work day/work year

as prescribed by the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and the Cambridge Education Association, as then in effect, as well as the additional time applicable to the expanded learning time schedule of the position for which they are substituting, which include additional hours beyond the regular workday as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and Cambridge Education Association Units A&B, as then in effect. It is further understood and agreed that such Unit D members shall be compensated in the following manner:

The salary schedule set forth in Article 12 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Unit D and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect, shall be pro-rated for those members of Unit D that are employed as a substitute for a teacher who is working an expanded learning time program schedule at either the King School and/or the Fletcher Maynard Academy.

(a) It is understood and agreed that members of the Cambridge Education
Association Unit E that are asked to serve as a substitute teacher for a
teacher who is working an expanded learning time schedule at either the
King School and/or Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall be required to work
the full work day/work year as prescribed by the terms of the applicable
collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools
and the Cambridge Education Association, as then in effect, as well as the
additional time applicable to the position for which they are serving as a
substitute teacher, which are additional hours beyond the regular workday
as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between
the Cambridge Public Schools and Cambridge Education Association
Units A&B, as then in effect. It is further understood and agreed that such
Unit E members shall be compensated in the following manner:

6.

The additional pay that is paid to a paraprofessional pursuant to the provisions of Article 4(E)(2) of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Unit E and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect, shall be pro-rated for those members of Unit E that are asked to serve as a substitute teacher for a teacher who is working an expanded learning time program schedule at either the King School and/or the Fletcher Maynard Academy.

(b) It is further understood and agreed that members of the Cambridge Education Association Unit E who are selected for an expanded learning time opportunity and work an additional three hundred (300) hours in the expanded learning time program as a paraprofessional shall be compensated at the salary set forth below in addition to their current salary

set forth in the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Unit E and the Cambridge School Committee:

\$6,000.00.

It is also understood and agreed that Unit E members of the King School (c) and Fletcher-Maynard Academy as paraprofessionals of the Cambridge Public Schools shall be required to work the full work day/work year as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and the Cambridge Education Association Unit E, as then in effect. It is further understood and agreed that those Unit E members of the King School and Fletcher-Maynard Academy, who hold appropriate teaching certifications issued by the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, who are selected to participate and serve as teachers in the expanded learning programs for an expanded learning time position for which they are appropriately certified shall be required to work the additional time applicable to their expanded learning time teaching position, which include additional hours beyond the regular workday as prescribed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Public Schools and Cambridge Education Association. It is understood and agreed that no member of Unit E will be assigned to an expanded learning time teaching position until after members of Unit A have been given an opportunity to apply for such expanded learning time teaching position. It is further understood and agreed that an expanded learning time program must include a minimum of three hundred (300) hours of additional learning time during the school year. Unit E members serving as teachers in the expanded learning time program who work this additional time of three hundred hours per year in an expanded learning time position providing direct instruction to students in the expanded learning time program shall be compensated the salary set forth below in addition to their current salary set forth in this collective bargaining agreement:

#### Members of Unit E

	Years of Experience	Annualized Rate for 300 Hours
Level One	0-5	\$11,952.00
Level Two	6-10	\$15,239.00
Level Three	11 or more	\$18,227.00

If a principal chooses to implement an expanded learning time program (d) consisting of more than three hundred (300) hours of additional learning time during the school year, the compensation will be pro-rated accordingly. It is further agreed that compensation for all schedules in the expanded learning time program that are less than three hundred (300) hours shall be pro-rated accordingly.

- (e) Additionally, the Association and the Committee acknowledge and agree that if an individual who is serving in an expanded learning time teaching opportunity goes out on leave for twenty (20) or more consecutive days, for any reason including without limitation, for a medical leave, personal leave or otherwise, the payment of the stipend set forth above will end on the twenty-first (21st) day of said leave. The Association and the Committee further acknowledge and agree that the individual will not be paid the stipend for the period of time he or she is not performing such expanded learning time opportunity duties. It is further agreed between the Association and the Committee that if the individual returns from said leave during the same school year and resumes his/her duties under the expanded learning time program, then payment of the stipend will resume as of the date on which the individual reassumes his/her duties in the expanded learning time program.
- 7. The Committee and the Association acknowledge and agree that under the provisions of this Agreement if a Unit E member works as a paraprofessional in the expanded learning time program at either the King School or the Fletcher-Maynard Academy, then the Unit E member shall be paid a stipend of \$20.00 (twenty dollars) per hour for hours worked as during expanded learning time. This stipend is included in the Unit E member's regular semi-monthly paycheck.
  - 8. If a Unit E member who regularly works as a paraprofessional in the expanded learning time program is asked to substitute for a teacher who is working in the expanded learning time program, then the Unit E member shall be paid a \$10.00 (ten dollars) per hour differential for hours worked as a substitute teacher, including the expanded learning time program hours. The differential payment will be paid on a monthly basis in accordance with existing practices for substitute teacher payments.
  - 9. On occasion a Unit E member who does not regularly work in the expanded learning time program may be asked to substitute for a teacher who is working in the expanded learning time program. If that situation arises, then the Unit E member shall receive a differential payment of \$10.00 (ten dollars) per hour for the regular school day and \$30.00 (thirty dollars) per hour for hours worked as a substitute teacher during expanded learning time program hours. The entire differential payment for substitute teaching in this situation will be paid on a monthly basis in accordance with existing practices for substitute teacher payments. For example, if a Unit E member who does not regularly work in the expanded learning time program substitutes for a teacher who is working in the expanded learning time program for seven (7) hours, then the member shall be sixty dollars (\$60.00) for the regular school day and thirty dollars (\$30.00) for the additional hour of work for a total differential payment of ninety dollars (\$90.00).

- 10. The deadlines set forth in Article 34 of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect, regarding the submission of applications for job sharing, and the deadlines set forth in Article 5M of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect, regarding the submission of applications for flex-time, shall not be applicable in the event that individual teachers at the King School and/or Fletcher-Maynard Academy seek to voluntarily access the provisions of either of these articles, as then in effect, in connection with the expanded learning time programs at each school.
- 11. It is understood and agreed that individual teachers at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy may voluntarily seek to access the flex-time provisions of Article 5M of the collective bargaining agreement between the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect, in connection with the expanded learning time programs at each school.
- 12. It is understood and agreed that the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall each develop an internal resolution process to allow staff members to raise issues, concerns or problems and that this internal resolution process shall be provided to all staff members at each school by the Principal. It is further understood and agreed that the grievance process set forth in the applicable collective bargaining agreements between the Association and the Committee will not be used to raise any issues, concerns or problems with respect to the expanded learning time program at each school. All disputes not resolved at the school level shall be referred to the Superintendent for resolution. The President of the Cambridge Education Association will consult with the Superintendent regarding the dispute. The decision of the Superintendent shall be final.
- 13. It is understood and agreed that teachers and paraprofessionals at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy who are working in the expanded learning time program, either on a flex-time schedule or on expanded hours who fall under the jurisdiction of the Association may not seek modification of the term of the assignment until the expiration of the school year in which the assignment was made unless extenuating circumstances exist.
- 14. It is understood and agreed that community partners also will be selected by each principal of each school to assist in the operation and delivery of services in the expanded learning time program of each school. It is also understood and agreed that the selection and usage of community partners in the expanded learning time programs of the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall not be grievable under the collective bargaining agreements between the Cambridge Education Association Units A, B, C, D & E and the Cambridge School Committee, as then in effect.

- It is understood and agreed that all community partner positions shall not be positions that fall under the jurisdiction of the Association collective bargaining agreements, as then in effect, and individuals employed in these positions will not be members of the Association's bargaining units. It is further understood and agreed that individuals employed in these community partner positions at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy shall not accrue seniority in the school system and that these community partners will be selected by the principal of each school to assist in the operation and delivery of services in the expanded learning time programs at either the King School and/or the Fletcher-Maynard Academy.
- 16. It is understood and agreed that the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy expanded learning time programs and their respective school-based administrators will have greatly increased decision-making authority, including that all Cambridge Education Association Units A, B, C, D & E positions at these two (2) schools that are posted as expanded learning time positions, which include additional hours beyond the regular work day, are exempt from all Union and School Committee work rules as relates to the work hours and work day. No provisions of this Agreement shall prevent the principals of the King School and/or the Fletcher-Maynard Academy and/or the Cambridge Public Schools from making changes to their respective expanded learning time programs and schedules during the course of the school year based on the needs of the student population attending each of the schools.
- 17. The Committee and the Association agree that even though the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy are implementing expanded learning time programs at each of these schools, that the ending time at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy on the day before Thanksgiving will be noon or at a time earlier when required by the school district. The Association agrees that no grievances shall be filed by any member of any unit with respect to the ending time at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy on the day before Thanksgiving.
- 18. It is understood and agreed that this Agreement will be effective through the term of any expanded learning time grant awarded by the Massachusetts Department of Education to the Cambridge Public Schools for expanded learning time programs at either the King School and/or the Fletcher-Maynard Academy and/or through the term of award of other grant funds, whichever is longer. It is further understood and agreed that the continuation of any expanded learning time program at either school is subject to and contingent upon the continuation of grant funding from the Massachusetts Department of Education and/or other grant funds. The Association and the Committee further agree that it is within the sole discretion of the Cambridge Public Schools to withdraw from participation in the expanded learning time program at any time and that if either the King School and/or the Fletcher-Maynard Academy withdraw from participation in the expanded learning time

program, the provisions of this Agreement shall no longer be applicable to said school. It is further understood and agreed that this Agreement may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree to review the agreement every two years that such agreement is in effect. The parties agree that this Agreement is an Appendix to the 2012-2015 collective bargaining agreements between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Education Association Unit C, Unit D and Unit E and the 2012-2013 Interim Agreement and 2012-20116 collective bargaining agreements between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Education Association Units A&B.

- 19. Although both parties agree that programs such as expanded learning time programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy require flexible operating schedules and exemptions from work rules, notwithstanding this provision, the President of the Cambridge Education Association may consult with the Superintendent or designee regarding the expanded learning time programs at the King School and Fletcher-Maynard Academy.
- 20. It is further understood and agreed by the parties that this Agreement only pertains to the expanded learning time programs at the King School and the Fletcher-Maynard Academy. The Association and the Committee agree that the development, operation and implementation of an expanded learning time program at any other school in the Cambridge Public Schools would have to be negotiated between and among the Association and the Committee.

WHEREFORE, the Association and the Committee have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative as of the date set forth above.

CAMBRIDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE

CAMBRIDGE EDUCATION ASSOCATION

Order No. 614-665

Date 4/30/14

Patricia Berry

Secretary to the Cambridge School Committee

### ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made and entered into this 16th day of May in the year 2017, by and between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Education Association.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the said parties hereunto set their hands and seals to this Agreement and three other copies of like content.

CAMBRIDGE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (SIGNED)	CITY OF CAMBRDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE (SIGNED)
President, Contract Chair  Willian Tr. Melonald  Negotiating Committee	Judith T martin Executive Secretary to the School Committee  Voted by the School Committee
Dal Billy	5-/6-/7 C/7-/22  Date Order No.
Negotiating Committee	Date Order No.
Negotiating Committee	38
Negetiating Committee	Kenneth N. Salim, Ed.D. Superintendent of Schools
Canoly Callerson	
Negotiating Committee	Claire Spinner
Negotiating Committee	Claire Spinner Chief Financial Officer
Manzellen Collins	
Negotiating Committee	
Negotiating Committee	
Peller K. M. Laughlin	
Negotiating Committee	
Negotiating Committee	

Negotiating Committee

#### ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made and entered into this 16th day of May in the year 2017, by and between the Cambridge School Committee and the Cambridge Education Association.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the said parties hereunto set their hands and seals to this Agreement and three other copies of like content.

·	
CAMBRIDGE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (SIGNED)	CITY OF CAMBRDGE SCHOOL COMMITTEE (SIGNE
Dww. President, Contract Chair	Judith T martin
William To hellowold	Executive Secretary to the School Committee
Willian the Mewonald  Negotiating Committee	Voted by the School Committee
Dal Belly	5-16-17 C17-122
Negotiating Committee	Date Order No.
Negotiating Committee	0/2
Deby L	
Negotiating Committee	Kenneth Ñ. Salim, Ed.D. Superintendent of Schools
Carolin Callendon	
Negotiating Committee	Claire Springer
Negotiating Committee	Claire Spinner
Marzellen Collins	Chief Financial Officer
Negotiating Committee	
Delograhore)	
Negotiating Committee	
Negotiating Committee	
Lesa Rosenberg	
Negotiating Committee	

Negotiating Committee